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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Fonn 10-K and other written and oral statements the Company makes from time to

time contain certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 You can identify these forward-looking

statements by the fact they use words such as could expect anticipate estimates target may
project guidance intend plan believe will potential opportunity future and other words

and terms of similarmeaning and expression in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial

performance One can also identify forward-looking statements by the fact that thçy do not relate strictly to

MstoHcal or current facts Such forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and involve

inherent risks and uncertainties including factors that could delay divert or change any of them and could cause

actual outcomes to differ materially from current expectations These statements are jikely to relate to among
other things our business strategy our future research and development our product.development efforts our

ability to commercialize our product candidates our sales and marketing activities in Russia our prospects for

initiating partnerships or collaborations the timing of the introduction of our products the effect of new

accounting pronouncements uncertainty regarding our future operating results and our profitability anticipated

sources of funds as well as our plans objectives expectations and intentions The Company has included

important factors in the cautionary statements included in this Annual Report particularly under Item lA Risk

Factors that the Company believes could cause actual results to differ materially from any forward-looking

statement

Although the Company believes it has been prudent in its plans and assumptions no assurance can be given

that any goal or plan set forth in forward-looking statements carl be achieved and readers are cautioned not to

place undue reliance on such statements which speak only as of the date made The Company undertakes no

obligatiob to release publicly any revisions to forward-looking statements as result of new information future

events or otherwise

We have included more detailed descriptions of these risks arid uncertainties and other risks and

uncertainties applicable to our business in Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K We
encourage you to read those descriptions carefully We caution investors not to place significait reliance on

forward-looking statements contained in this document such statements need to be evaluated in light of all the

information contained in this document Furthermore the statements speak only as of the date of this docrlment

and we undertake no obligation to update or revise these statements

Oncophage and Stimulon are registered trademarks of Agenus Inc and its subsidiaries All rights

reserved



PARTI

Item Business

Our Business

Overview

Agenus Inc including its subsidiaries referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-IC as Agenus the

Company we us and our is biotechnology company focused on the development and

commercialization of technologies to treat cancers and infectious diseases primarily based on immunological

approaches As of January 2011 we changed our name from Antigenics Inc to Agenus Inc to More accurately

reflect our existing product pipeline which has expanded over the years beyOnd antigen-based vacbines as well

as to highlight our business strategy as we seek partnering opportunities to grOw and diversify our business In

conjunction with this name change our autologous cancer immatiotherapies have heen named the Prophage

Series of cancer vaccines vitespen HSPPC-96 The name Oncophage vaccine will be retained in the adjuvant

renal cell carcinoma indication as part of the Prophage Series AG-707 was renamed HerpV

Some of our key assets are highlighted below

The Prophage Series of cancer vaccines The Prophage Series of cancer vaccines is based on our core

heat shock protein technology We believe that the collective results from our clinical trials to date

indicate favorable safety çrofilŁ and signals of efficacy in multiple cancer types In registry

following patients froth large tandomized Phase trial in non-metastatic renal cell carcinoma

RCC kidney cancer patients at intermediate risk of recurrence who were in the treatment arm

demonstrated an approximately 46 percent lower risk of death compared with those in the control arm

362 0.05 hazard ratio 0.54 This product is approved for sale in this indication in Russia

Phase trials are underway testing the Prophage Series vaccines 0-100 and 0-200 in newly diagnosed

and recurrent glioma respectively Although promising results have been observed to date there can be

no assuranCes that we will successfully complete all clinical trials or obtain regulatory approvals for

these products Additional trials ar under evaluation in metastatic RCC and metastatic melanoma in

combination ith potentially synergistic therapies as well as in pediatric neurological tumOrs

QS-21 Stimulon adjuvant QS-21 QS-21 is an adjuvant or substance added to vaccine or other

immunotherapy that is intended to enhance immune response The key licensees of QS-21 are

GlaxoSmithKline GSK and JANSSEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy There are 14 vaccines containing

QS-21 in clinical development including four in Phase testing for malaria æielanoma non-small cell

lung cancer and shingles The first products containing QS-21 are expected to be launched in the

2013-2014 timeframe and we are entitled to royalties for at least 10 years post-launch However there

is no guarantee that we will be able to collect royalties in the future The pipeline of product candidates

containing QS-21 is extraordinarily diverse encompassing prophylactic as Well as therapeutic vàcŁiæe

for infectious diseases multiple cancer types and Alzheimers disease We do not incur clinical

development costs for these products and are generally reimbursed for any related expenses by our

licensees

HerpV HerpV is therapeutic vaccine for the treatment of genital herpes Which is based on our HSP

technology It has completed Phase testing where it was shown to elicit both CD4 and CD8ositive

cell responsesa first of its kind finding in genital herpes treatment BeCause the product contalhs

multiple antigens derived from the herpes simplex virus HSV-2 it may be applicable to broader

patient population and may have potential in managing outbreaks and disease transmission We
consider this to be platform technology since with the integration of heat shock proteins with

antigenic peptides we could potentially create therapeutic vaccines for many infectious diseases We
are currently seeking partners to advance HerpV and the platform technology into further development



In addition to our internal development efforts we are actively pursuing multiple partnering opportunities

We are seeking regional and/or global partners for select products in our portfolio including Oncophage the

Prophage 0-Series vaccines G-l00 and 0-200 and HerpV We are also exploring variety of in-licensing

opportunities that would be complementary to our existing business while expanding our product pipeline Our

business activities have included product research and development intellectual property prosecution

manufacturing regulatory and clinical affairs corporate finance and development market development business

development and support of our collaborations Research and development expenses for the years ended

December 31 20102009 and 2008 were $12.9 million $16.9 million and $20.7 million respectively

On March 2011 we were notified by the Listing Qualifications Staff of Nasdaq indicating that we are not

in compliance with the Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5550a2 the Bid Price Requirement because the bid price

for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per
share requirement for 30 consecutive business

days In accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 58 10c3A we have been provided 180 calendar days or

until August 30 2011 to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement

Our Products and Technologies Under Development

Heat Shock Protein Technology

Heat shock proteins also known as HSPs are also called stress proteiis as their expressionis increaied

when cells experience various stresses like extremes of temperature hot or cold and oxygen deprivation HSPs

are present in all cells in all life forms from bacteria to mammals and their structure and function are similar

across these diverse life forms Under normal conditions HSPs play major role in protein folding and transport

of protein fragments called peptides within cell and are thus also known as chaperones Antigenic peptides

those portions of protein that stimulate immune responses when recognized by the immune cells are also

transported by these chaperones Because HSPs interact with and bind many cellular proteins and peptides they

chaperone broad array of antigenic peptides to facilitate their recognition by the immune system Thus HSPs

play integral role in capturing and presenting the antigenic fingerprint of cell to hosts immune system

Although HSPs are normally found inside cells they also proyide important danger signals when found

outside of cells Detection of HSPs outside of cells is indicative that cell death has occurred This may have been

caused by disease mutation or injury whereby cells contents are spilled into body tissue These HSPs send

powerful danger signals to the immune system that initiate cascade of events capable of genethting targeted

immune response against the infection or disease-related cell death

Combined these functions of HSPs fonn the basis of our technology The chaperoning nature of HSPs

allows us to produce vaccines containing the antigenic fingerprintof given disease In the case of cancer the

vaccines are patient-specific consisting of heat shock protein-peptide complexes also known as HSPPCs

purified from patients tumor cells These HSPPCs when injected into the skin are expected to stimulate

powerful cellular immune response potentially capable of targeting and killing the cancer cells from which these

complexes were derived Because cancer is highly variable dise4se from one patient to another due to rapid

mutation of cancer cells we believe that patient-specific vaccination approach is required to generate more

robust and targeted immune response against the disease

For certain diseases such as genital herpes we do not believe that personalized vaccination approach is

required since the pathogen does not vary as greatly from patient to patient as do cancer cells For example in

.11_i our.HerpV product candidate for the treatment of genital herpes we complex or bind several defined antigenic

herpes peptides to an HSP Hsc7O that we genetically engineer creating an HSPPC This HSPPC when injected

into the skin is designed to elicit cellular immune response to the synthetic peptides carried by the HSP

The Prophage Series of Cancer Vaccines

The Prophage Series of cancer vaccines describes our portfolio of patient-specific HSP-based therapeutic

cancer vaccines including the R-Series candidates in RCC M-Series candidates in melanoma 0-Series



candidates in glioma and NP-Serieb candidate in pediatric neurological tumors The first pioduct derived from

the R-Series R-100 registered in Rumia as Oncophage represents the only approved treatment for adjuvant or

non-metastatic kidney cancer patients üt interniediate risk for disease recurrence In 2008 we submitted

marketing authorization application MAA to the European Medicines Agency EMA requesting approval

for Oncophage in earlier-stage localized kidney cancer under the cónditionM authorizatiori proviion After its

review the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use 4CHMP of the EMA adopted negative

opinion on our application and subsequently we withdrew our application In registry following patients from

our large randomized Phase trial in non-metastatic RCC patients at intermediate risk of recurrencb who were in

the treatment arm demonstrated an approximately 46 percent lower risk of death compared with those in the

control arm 362 -c 0.05 hazard ratio 0.54 Phase trials testing the Prophage Series candidates G-100

and G-200 are underway in both newly diagnosed and recurrent glioma respectively where romising data has

been generated to date Additional trials are planned in metastatic RCC R-200 and metastatic melanoma

M-200 in combination with potentially synergistic Therapies as well as in pediatric neurological tuthors

NP-l50

Each Prophage Series vaccine candidate is made from patients tumor tissue After surgebti removes

patieæVs tumor the majority of that Smor tissue is frozen aiid shipped to oUr manufacturing facili Uiiæg

proprietary manufacturing process that takes approximately eight to 10 hours per individual patient lot we isolate

the HSPPCs from the tumOr tissue Through this isolation process the HSPPCsare extracted purified and

sterile-filtered from the tumor tissue then formulated in solution and packaged in standard single-injection vials

After the performance of quality control testing includirig sterility testing we ship the frozen va6cine back to the

hospital or clinic for administration Medical professionals administer the vaccine by injecting the product into

the skin

Although we believe that our technology is applicable to all canÆUr types our initial focus with the Prophae

Series vaccines is on cancers that have limited or no available treatment options and in cancers that typically

yield sufficient quantities of tumor tissue from the surgical procedure allow for manufacture

Since our first patient was enrolled in clinical trial studying Prbphage Series vaccine in 1997 we have

treated more than 850 cancer patients in oUr clinical trials Because our vaccines are derived from the patients

own tuthor they are unlike the majority of approved therapies and as stiôh they may experience long

regulatory review prOcess and high development costs either of which could delay or prevent our

commercializdtion efforts For additional information regarding regulatory risks hnd uncertainties please read the

risks identified under Risk Factors

We believe that the collective results from our clinical trials thuW far show that the vaccine candidites that

have been clinically evaluated have faVorable safety profile We also believe that available results from clinical

trials suggest that treatment with the Prophage Series vaccines can generate immunological and atiti-tumór

responses

Phase Renal Cell Carcinoma Program

Renal cell carcinoma is the most Common type of kidney cancer The American Cancer Society estimated

that there would be 58240 new cases of kidneycancer and 13040 people would die from the diseasein the

United States in 2010 The Kidney Cancer Research BureaU Russian non-prOfit non-govemment research

organization estimated that in 2008 approximately 16000 Russians would be diagnosed with kidney cancer and

approximately 50% of those diagnosed would die of the disease

We initiated Phase multicenter intemational trial fof non-metatatic RCC into which the fnstatient

was randomized in February 2001 As announced On March 242006 the trialdid not reach staiisticdi

significance in its primary endpoint of recUrrence-free survival in the total patient populaiion though positive

trend was observed During the protocol design process
iiV 1999 and 2000 key opinion leaders were consulted



and the non-metastatic RCC patient .popultion designated for enrplhnent in the trial was thought to be

relatively uniform group In 2006 the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group ECOG initiated trial in

adjuvantRCC with sprafepib and sunitinib that stratified their patient population into intermediate-risk

high-risk ad very high-risk recurrence categories Using these ECOG defined criteria analysis of the

intennechate risk patients 362 of the 604 pligible patients in the trial in the trial showed statistically significant

differencein recurrence-free survival in favor of the Oncophage arm In part because the interniediate-risk

category was not prospectively delineated prior to the trial initiation 1the Food Drug Administration FDA
has indicated that by itself partj of our Phase clinical trial in renal cell carcinoma is not sufficient to support

biologics license application BLAfjling.

We opened subsequent protocoLthat continued to follow patients fromthis trial in the format of registry

in order to collect overall survival information as well as investigator reports of diseasç recurrence The registry

which is axpected to provide additional ata the effectivpness of Oncophage followed patients until March

2010 an additional three years from closure of the initial trial providing more than five years of data collection

following the enrollment of the last patient in the trial Final analysis of this data is in process At the 2009

American Society of Clinical Oncology ASçO annual meeting we announced results of an interim analysis

from
thç ongoing global patient sprviyl registry which showed that patients with kidney cancer at intermediatc

rik of disease recurrence demonstrated an aproxiiiateJy 46 percent lower risk of death when treate4 with

Oncophage caicer vaccjne after surgery compared with no treatment 362 .c 0.05 hazard ratio 0.54

In addition to the patient registry patient enrollment ha cqmmenced intp small study in non-metastatic

RCC to assess immune response in the intermediate-risk patient population The results of this study continued

data collection through the survival registry and ongoing analysis are uncertain and may not positively affect the

acceptability of the overall results of the trial and even if clinically meaningful may not meet the requirements

of the FDA or other regulatory authorities for subipission and approval of marketing application or similar

applicationq
for product approval outsiae the United States

In April 2008 the Russian Ministry of Public Health issued registration certificate for the use of

Oncophage f9r he treatment of kidney cancer.patiepts at intermediate risk fqr disease recurrence Because

among other things we have limited resources and mjpimal sales and marketing experience commercialization

of Oncophage has been slow and only mqdest sales of Oncophage in Russia have occurred during the year ended

December 31 2010 The Russian
registratioj was ou first product approval from regulatory authority and the

first approval of patient-specific therapeutic cancer yaccine ip major market Since this approval we have

been focusing our efforts in Russia on securing one or more distribution and/or partnering arrangements and

related commercialization activities The amount of any future revenue generated from the sale of Oncophage in

Russia will depend on our ability to successfully execute on these efforts and identify and obtaip adequate

reimbursenent as well as decisiops of physicians and patients among other factors Furthermore we may

experiencç significant delays in the receipt of paymen for Oncophage or an inability to collect payments at all

In October 2008 we announced the submission of MAA to the EMA requesting conditional authorization

of Oncophage in earlier-stage localized kidney cancer On November 20 2009 we announced that the CHMP of

the EMA formally adopted negative opinion on this MAA Subsequetitly we withdrew ourapplication and have

been evaluating variety of options to potentially bring Oncophage to patients and physicians globay Although

we are no longer in active discussions with potential partner for the European market we continue to actively

seek partnership discussions for multiple productsgenerated from our portfolio of Prophage Series vaccines

Glioma

Glioma is cancer affecting the central nervous system that begins in glial cells connective tissue cells that

surround and support nerve cells Malignant glioma is currently fatal diseae The American Cancer Society

estimated that 22620 new cases of the btain and other nervous system cancers would be diagnosed during 2010

in the U.S and that about 13140 peopie would die from these tumors



Phase clinical trial with Prophage Series G-200 in recurrent high-grade glioma is currently ongoing

This study is being led by the Brain Tumor Research Center at the University of California San Francisco

UCSF with grants from the American Brain Tumor Association and the National Cancer Institute Special

Programs of Research Excellence Phase results presented at the Society for Neuro-Oncology Annual Meeting

Conference in November 2008 showed that vaccination followingbrain cancer surgery increased overall median

survival to approximately 10.5 months with four patients surviving beyond 12 months and one patient surviving

almost 2.5 years The study also showed that all 12 treatedpatients demonstrated significant immune response

after vaccination with 0-200 Pc 0.001 and that patients with minimal residual disease at time of first

vaccination were more likely to survive beyond nine months compared with patients with significant

residual disease

The study which is designed to enroll approximately 50 patients has expanded to include New York-

Presbyterian Hospital/Columbia University Medical Center and University Hospitals/Case Western Reserve

Interim data was presented at the Society for Neuro-Oncology meeting in October 2009 which showed median

survival of 10 months in the first 20 patients treated with 200 and that to date six patients 30 percent had

survived at or beyond 12 monthi This early data shows an improvement in overall survival over the previous

long-standing historical median survival of 65 months and is also slightly favorable to the recently reported

median survival of 9.2 months with Avastin bevacizuniâb in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma In

May 2010 data presented at the IntemationalConferenŁe on Brain Tumor Research and Therapy suggested that

vaccination with this candidate may improve overall survival in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma An

overall median survival of 44 weeks after tumor resection was observed Approximately 70% of the evaluable

patients survived beyond 36 weeks and 41% survived up to or longer than one year Additional data from this

trial will be reported by mid-2011 UCSF alo initiated an additional Phase clinical trial in newly diagnosed

glioma testing Prophage Series G-100 in combination with Temodar temozOlomidO This trial is currently

enrolling with target of 50 patients Based on promising trends to date this trial is being epanded to include

up to 10 clinical sites

Other Clinical Trials

Initial clinical trials of Prophage Series vaccins were aimed at assessing feasibility safety and preliminary

efficacy select studies mºasuied immune response series of small single-arm trials were performed in

various solid tumor types including RCC melanoma colorectal cancer gastric cancer pancreatic cancer and

non-small cell lung cancer single Phase trial was conducted in non-Hodgkins lymphoma and

non-registrational Phase trial was conducted in metastatic melanoma

Collectively results across all trials provided evidence of manufactunng and logistical feasibility as well as

an initial demonstratipn of safety an4 siguals of efficacy which included patients who had complete

disappearance complete response substantial shrinkage partial response minor shrinkage minor response

or no change in the size disease stabilizatioii of tumor lesi9ns Median overall survival results exceeded

historical controls that were relevant at the Ume when the studies were performed Additionally tumor-spçcific

T-cell responses were noted in studies where they were measured melanoma and colorectal cancer In the Phase

metastatic melanoma trial earlier-stage patients who received at least 10 doses of the vaccine showed

survival benefit over patients in the control arm

Manufacturing

Commercial and clinical supplies of Oncophage and other vaccine candidates deriving from the Prophage

Series are manufactured in our LexingtonMassachusetts facility We estimate that the facilitys current capacity

for these products is approximately 10000 patient courses per year expandable to approximately Q00000 patient

courses per year by buildingout currently available space adding second and third shifts and automating

various functions On averag it takes eight to 10 hours of direct processing time to manufacture patient batch

of vaccine



After manufacturing Prophage Series vaccines are tested and released byour quality systems staff The

quality controlorganization performs series of.release assays designedto ensure that the prOduct meets.all

applicable specifications Our quality assurance staff also reviews manufacturing and quality control records

prior to batch release in an effort to assureconformance with current Good Manufacturing Ptactices also known

as.cGMP as mandated by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies

Qur manufacturing staff is rigorously trained and routiney evaluated for conformance to manufacturing

procedures and quality standards This oversight is intended to ensure compliiice with FDA and forçign

regulations and to provide consistent vaccine output Our quality control and quality assurance staff is similarly

trained

and evaluated as part of our effort to ensure consistency in the testing and release of the product as well

as consistency in materials equipment and facilities

Preclinical Activities

We coninu with product charaetefization efforts to better define the complex structure of iht Wohage
Series vaccines These efforts ar made ihore challenging by the ailtologous nature of the products In addition

we are dveloping methods tf iat will 5ässess the intensity of immunological respones following raccination with

these vaccines We expect to continue these efforts during 2011 In addition we are currently planmng to study

the Prophage Series vaccmn candidates in combination with potentialy synergistic therapies
in later-stage

cancers

QS-21

QS-21 Stimqlon adjuaæt is adjuant or substance added io vaccine or other immunotherapy that is

inteided to enhance immune response The key licensees of QS-21 are GSK and JANSSEN AlzheimŁr

ImMunotherapy There are 14 vadcinS containing QS21 in clinical development including four in Pjiase

testing for malaria melanoma non-small cell lung cancer and shingles The first products containing QS-21 are

expected to be launched in the 2013-2014 timeframe and we are entitled to royalties for at least 10 years post-

launch The pipeline of product candidates containing QS-21 is diverse encompassing prophylactic as well as

therapeutic vaccines for infectious diseases multiple cancer types and Alzheimers disease The Company does

not incur clinical developmept costs for these products and is genrally reimbursed for any related çxpenses by
its licensees

QS-21 is best known for-its ability to stimulate antibody or humoral inuiiune response and has also bØeti

shown to activate cellular immunity natural product QS-21 is triterjeiie gicoside or saponin natural

compound purified from the bark of South American tree called Quillaja saponaria It is sufficiently

characterized with known molecular structure thus distinguishing it from other adjuvant candidates which are

typically emulsions polymers orbiologicals QS-21 has been tested in approximately 185 clinICal tiials

involving in the aggregate nearly i4000 subjects ma vaiCty of cancer mndicationsiiifØctious diseases and

other disorders These studies have been carried out academic institutions and pharmaceutical companies in

the UnitS States and internationally number of these studies have thown Q5-21 to be significantly mOre

effectivein stimulating antibody responses than alunInum hydroxide or aluminum phosphate the adjuvantsmost

commonly used in approved vaccines in the United States today

Partnered QS-21 Programs

number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have licensed QS-21 from us for use in vÆcines

to treat wide variety ofhuman diseases Companies with QS-21 programs incluçle GSK and JANSSEN
Alzheirner Immunotherapy In retum for rights to use QS-2l thesecompanies have generally agreed to pay us

license fees manufacturing 1payments milestone payments and royalties on product sales for minimum of 10

years
after commercial launch In additionto our corporate licensing arrangements wehave developed number

of academic collaborations to test new vaccine concepts and products containing QS2 There are- 14 vaccines

currently in clinical development that contain QS-21



GSK In July 2006 we entered into license agreement and supply agreement with 05K for the use of

QS-21 On January 16 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated Manufacturing Technology Transfer and

Supply Agreement the Amended GSK supply agreement under which GSK has the right to manufacture all

of its requirements of commercial grade QS-21 05K is obligated to supply us or our affiliates licensees or

customers certain quantities of commercial grade QS-21 for statedperiod of time To date we have received

$10.5 million Of potential $15.3 million in upfront and milestone payments related to these agreements We are

entitled to receiVe low single-digit royalties on net sales for period of at least 10 years after the first commercial

sale of resulting GSK product The agreements may be terminated by either party upon material breach if the

breach is not cured within the time specified in the agreement The termination or expiration of the 05K license

agreement does not relieve either
party

from any obligation which accrued prior to the termination or expiration

Among other provisions the milestone payment obligations survive termination or expiration for any reason and

the license rights granted to OSK survive expiration of the 05K license agreement The license rights and

payment obligations of GSK under the Amended OSK supply agreement survive termination or expiration

except that OSKs licpnse rights and future royalty obligations do not survive if we terminatedue to GSKs

material breach unles we elect otherwise

We understandthat QS21 is key component included in several of OSKs proprietary adjuvant systems

and that number of QSKs vaccine candidates currently under development are formulated using adjuvant

systems containing QS-2l 05K has initiated Phase studies evaluating its investigational MAGE-A3 Antigen-

Specific Cancer Immunotherapeutic containing QS-21 in non-small cell lung cancer and melanoma 05K has

also initiated Phase clinical trials in malaria and shingles

ElanIJANSSENAlzheimers Immunotherapy Elan Pharmaceuticals Inc and/or its affiliates Elan had

commercial license for the use of QS-21 in the research and commercialization of Elans Alzheimer disease

vaccine candidate that contains QS-21 Licensed Product Effective September 14 2009 we entered into an

Amended and Restated License Agreement Amended License Agreement with Elan and on September 17

2009 the Amended License Agreement was assigned to JANS SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy subsidiary of

Johnson Johnson Under the terms of the Amended License Agreement JAN$ SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy

has the right to develop malçe have made use sell offer for sale import and have sold the Licensed Product

In addition JANS SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy has the right tomanufacture all of its requirements of QS-21

for usein the Licensed Product and we have no further supply obligations Assuming all benchmarks are met

under tlis agreement we could receive upto $11.5 million in future milestope payments l.5 million has been

received as of December 31 2010 Furthermore under the terms of the Amended License Agreement we are

entitled to receive middle single-digit royalties on net sales of the Licensed Product for period of at least 10

years after the first commercial sale of suph product if any Epiration or termination of the Amended License

Agreement is without prejudice to any rights that accrued to the benefit of the parties prior to the date of such

expiration or termination Upon expiration of the Amended License Agreement JANS SEN Alzheimer

Immunotherapy will have royalty-free ljcense Upon early termination of the Amended License Agreement

JANS SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapys license rights terminate and future payment obligations do not accrue

Manufacturing

Except in the case of 05K and JANSSEN Aizheirner Immunotherapy we haye retained worldwide

manufacturing rights for QS-21 We have the right to subcontract manufacturing for QS-21 and we have supply

agreement with contract manufacturer for the production of QS-21 through September 2012 In addition under

the terms of our agreement with 05K GSK is contractually committed to supply certain quantities of

commercial grade QS-21 to us and our licensees in the future

HerpV

HerpV is an investigational therapeutic vaccine candidate directed at the virus that causes genital herpes

herpes simplex virus-2 or HSV-2 and is the first potential off-the-shelf application ofour HSP technology



HerpV is multivalent vaccine containing multiple synthetic HSV-2 peptides which meSs that it may be

applicable to broader patientpopulation and may have potential in managing outbreaks and disease

transmission

2005-2008 study of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimates 16.2% of people 14 to 49

years of age in the U.S have HSV-2 infection The World Health Organization estimated in 2003 that

approximately 23.6 million people aged 15 to 49 worldwide are infected each year with HSV-2 Genital herpes is

currently treated with palliative topical drugs or antiviral agents that reduce further replicatitin of the virus during

I.-Y the period of treatment

Based on the results of completed toxicology studies and other predlinical activities we submitted to the

FDA an investigational new drug application IND for HerpV during the second quarter of 2005 In October

2005 we initiated multicenter Phase clinical trial of HerpV in genital herpes In this four-ann phase study

35 HSV-2 seropositive patients received HerpV with QS-2F HerpV alone QS-21 aloneor placebo The vaccine

was well tolerated with injection site pain as the most common reported adverse event All patients who were

evaluable for immune response and received HerpV with QS-21 showed statistically significant CD4 cell

response 100% .7/7 to HSV-2 antigens as detected by IFNy Elispot and the majoiSity of those patients

demonstrated CD8 cell response 63% 5/8 This study is the first to demonstrate that liSPs complexed to

viral antigens induce an antigen-specific cell response in humans

We believe this is first of its kind finding in genital herpes treatment We consider HerpV to be part of

platform technology since with the integration of heat shock proteins with antigenic peptides we could

potentially create therapeutic vaccines for many infectious diseases We hope Ui advance HerpV and the platform

technology in development through partnership and we are actively pursuing licensing discussions

Intellectual Property Portfolio

We seek to protect our technologies through combinatiOli of patents trade ecrets and know-how and

currently have eiclusive rights through outright Ownership or through eclusive licenses to 73 issued United

States patents and 117 issued foreign patents We also have exclusive rights to pending United States patent

applications and 29 pending foreign patent applications While we have patent coverage in Russia for

Oncophage we may not have rights in other territories where we may pUrsue regulatory approval for Prophage

Series vaccine candidates

Our issued patents include those that cover our core technologies including HSPs for the treatment of

cancers and infectious disease and saponin adjuvants

The issued patents that cover the Prophage Series vaccines expire at various dates between 2015 and 2024

The issued patents to HerpV expire at various dates between 2014 and 2017 Our patent to purified QS-2l

expired in most territories in 2008 Additional protection for QS-21 in combination with other agents is provided

by our other issued patents which expire between 2016 and 2019

Various patents and patent applications have been exclusively licensed to usby the following entities

Mount Sinai School ofMedicine

In November 1994 we entered into patent license agreement wIth the Mount Sinai School of Medicine

the Mount Sinai Agreement Through the Mount Sinai Agreement we obtained an exclusive worldwide

license to patent rights relating to the heat shock protein technology that resulted from the research and

development performed by Dr Pramod Srivastava our founding scientist and former member of our Board of

Directors We agreed to pay Mount Sinai royalty on the net sales of products covered by the licensed patent

rights and also provided Mount Sinai with 0.45% equity interest in the Company approximately 62000 shares
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valued at approximately $90000 at the time of issuance The termbf the Mount Sinai Agreement ends when the

last of the licensed painnts expires 2018 or becomes no lbngr valid If we fail to pay royalties that are due

under the agreement Mount Sinai may issue written notice to us If we continue to fail to paj royalties after 60

days from receipt of the written notice Mount Sinai can terminate the agreement The Mount Sinai Agreement

requires us to use due diligence to make the products covered by the liceilsed patent rights domiæercially

available including requirement for us to use best efforts to reach number of developtherital miletonºs

which have been achieved If we fail to Øomply with the due diligence provisions of the agreement Mount Sinai

could take actions to convert our exclusive license to non exclusive license after six months written notice The

Mount Sinai Agreement does not contain any milestone pathent provisions

Fordham University

During 199S Dr Srivastava moved his research tO Fordham Uhiversity Fordhamh We enteiŁd ihto

sponsored
research and technology license agreement with Fordham in March 1995 the Fordham Agreement

relating to the continued development of the heat shock protein technology and agreed to make payments to

Fordham to sponsor Dr Srivastavas research Through the Fordham Agreement we obtaine4 anexclusive

perpetual
wbrldwide license to all of the intellectual property including

all the patent rights whiph xesulted from

the research and development peormed Srivastaa at Fordham We also agreed to pay Fordham royalty

on the net sales of products covered by the Fordham Agreement through the last expiration date on the patents

under the agreement 2018 or when the patents become no longer valid Th agreement does not cOntain any

milestone payment provisions or any diligence prpvisions Dr Srivastava mcved his resparch to the University of

Connecticut Health Center UConn duting 1997 wId accordingly the parts of the agreethent related to

payments for sponsored research at Fordharn terminated in mid1997 During the term of this agreement we paid

Fordham approximately $2.4 million

University of Connecticut

In May 2001 we entered into license agreement with UCoun which ws amended in March 2003 and June

2009 Through the license agreement we obtained an exclusive worldwide license to patent rights resulting from

inventions discovered under research agreement that was effective from February 1998 until December 2006

The term of the license agreement ends when the last of the licensed patents expires 2022 or becomes no longer

valid UConn may terminate the agreement if after 30 days written notice for breach we continue to fail to

make any payments due under the license agreement or we cease to carry on our business related to the

patent rights or if we initiate or conduct actions in order to declare bankruptcy We may terminate the agreement

upon 90 days written notice The license agreement contains aggregate milestone payments of approximately

$1.2 million for each product we develop covered by the licensed patent rights These milestone payments are

contingent upon regulatory filings regulatory approvals and commercial sales of products We have also agreed

to pay UConn royalty on the net sales of products covered by the license agreement as well as annual license

maintenance fees beginning in May 2006 Royalties otherwise due on the net sales of products covered by the

license agreement may be credited against the annual license maintenance fSe obligations Under the March 2003

amendment we agreed to pay UConn an upfront payment and to make future payments for each patent or patent

application with respect to which we exercised our option under the research agreement As of December 31

2010 we have paid approximately $340000 to UConn under the license agreement The license agreement gives

us complete discretion over the commercialization of products covered by the licensed patent rights but also

requires us to use commercially reasonable diligent efforts to introduce commercial products within and outside

the United States If we fail to meet these diligence requirements UConn maybe able to termihate the license

agreement

Regulatory compliance

Govemmental authorities in the United States and other countries extensively regulate the preclinical and

clinical testing manufacturing labeling stOrage record keeping advertising promotion export marketing and
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distriIution among other things of our investigaonal product candidates In the United States the FDA under

the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act the Public Health Service Act and other federal statutes and

regulations subject pharmaceutical products to rigorous reyiew

In order to obtaii
approval of new product from the FDA we must among other requirements submit

proof of safety and fficacy as well as detailed
inforipation

on the manufacture qnd composition of the product

In most cases this proof entails extensive preclinical clinical and laboratory tests Before approving new drug

or marketing applIcation the FDA may also conduct we-licensing inspections of the cqmpany its contract

research organizatibns and/or its clinical trial sites to ensure that clinical safety quality control and other

regulated activities are compliant with Good Clinical Practices or GCP or Good Laboratory Practices or GLP
for specific non-clinical toxicology studies The FDA may also require confirmatory trials post-marketing

testing and extra surveillance to monitor the effects of approved products or place conditions on anj approvals

that could restrict the commercial applications of these products Once approved the labeling advertising

promotion marketing and distribqtion of drug or biologic product must be in compliance with FDA regulatory

requirernents

In Phase clinical tfrials the sjohsor tests the product in small number of patients or healthy volunteers

primariforafety at one Or more doses Phase tiials in cancer are often Øonducted with patienui who have

end-stage or metStatic cancer In Phase inadditionto safety the sponsor evaluates the efficacy of the prOduct

in patient populatioh someWhat Iatget than Phase trials Phase3 trials typically involve additional testing for

safety and clinical
efficacy in an exparcded population at geographically dispersed test sites The FDA may order

the temporary or permanent discontinuation of clinical trial at any time

The sponsor must submit to the FDA the results of preclinical and clinical testing together with among
other things detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product in the form of new drug

application or in the case of biologics like the Prophage Series vaccines BLA In process that can take

year or more the FDA reviews this application and when and if it decides that adequate data is available to show

that the new compound is both safe and effective for particular indication and that other applicable

requirements have been met approves the drug or biologic for marketing

Whether or not we have obtained FDA approval we must generally obtain approval of product by

comparable regulatory authorities of international jurisdictions prior to the commencement of marketing the

product in those jurisdictions We are also subject to cGMP GCP and GLP compliance obligations and are

subject to inspection by intemational regulatory authorities Intemational requirements may in some

circumstances be more rigorous than U.S requirements and may require additional investment in manufacturing

process development non-clinical studies clinical studies and record keeping that are not required for U.S

regulatory compliance or approval The time required to obtain this approval may be longer or shorter than that

required for FDA approval and can also require significant resources in time money and labor

Under the laws of the United States the countries of the European Union and other nations we and the

institutions where we sponsor research are subject to obligations to ensure the protection of personal information

of human subjects participating in our clinical trials We have instituted procedures that we believe will enable us

to comply with these requirements and the cpntractual requirements of our data sources The laws and

regulations in this area are evolving and further regulation if adoptedcould affect the timing and the cost of

future clinical development activities

We are also subject to regulation under the Occupational Safety and Health Act the Toxic Substances Control

Act the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other current and potential future federal state or local

regulations Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials chemicals

biological materials various radioactive compounds and for some experiments we use recombinant DNA We

believe that our procedures comply with the standards prescribed by local state and federal regulations however

the risk of injury or accidental contamination cannot be completely eliminated We conduct our activities in

compliance with the Natioqal Institutes of Health Guidelines for Recombinant DNA Research
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Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries is intense Many pharmaceutical or

biotechnology companies have products on the market and are actively engaged in the research and development

of products for the treatment of cancer and infectious diseases In addition many competitors focus on

immunotherapy as treatment for cncer and infectious diseases In particular some of these companies are

developing cancer vaccines produced from patients own cells or tissue Others are focusing on developing heat

shock protein products Prior to regulatory approval we may compete for access to patients with other products

in clinical development with products approved for use in the indications we are studying or with off-label use

of products in the indications we are studying In addition we compete for funding access to licenses personnel

and third-party collaborations Many competitors have substantially greater financial manufacturing marketing

sales distribution and technical resources and more experience in research and development clinical trials and

regulatory matters than we do Competing companies developing or acquiring rights to more efficacious

therapel4tic products for the same diseases we are targeting or which offer significantly lower costs of treatment

could render our products noncompetitive or obsolete

Academic institutions governmental agencies and other public and private research institutions conduct

significant amounts of research in biotechnology medicinal chemistry and pharmacology These entities have

become increasingly active in seeking patent protection and licensing revenues for their research results They

also compete with us in recruiting and retaining skilled scientific talent

We are aware of certain programs and products under development by other companies that may compete

with our programs and products Several of these companies have products that utilize similar technologies

and/or patient-specific medicine techniques such as Dendreon and Accentia as well as Immuncell-LC ICT-107

DC-Vax and CDX-l 10 being aeveloped by Innocell Corp ImmunoCellular Thçrapeutics Northwest

Biothemapeutics and Celldex respectively for treatment of patients with newly diagnosed glioma

We are aware of at least one saponin adjuvant which claims to be identical to QS-21 OPT-82l was

developed by Optimer Pharmaceuticals and is being used In ongoing cancer vaccine trials Several other vaccine

adjuvants are in development and could compete with QS-2l for inclusion in vaccines in development These

adjuvants include but are not limited to oligonucleotides under development by Pfizer Idera Juvaris and

DynavØx MF59 under development by Novartis 1C3 under development by Intercell and MPL under

development by GSK In addition at least one company CSL Limited as well as academic institutions are

developing saponin adjuvants including derivatives and synthetic formulations

The existence of products developed by these and other competitors or other products of which we are not

aware or which other companies may develop in the future may adversely affect the marketability of products

we develop

Employees

As of February 25 2011 we had approximately 56 employees of whom were Ph.D.s and were MD5
None of our çmployees are subject to collective bargaining agreement We believe that we have good relations

with our employees

1-
Corporate History

Antigenics L.L.C was formed as Delaware limited liability company in 1994 and was converted to

Antigenics Inc Delaware corporation in February 2000 in conjunction with our initial public offering of

common stock As of January 2011 we changed our name from Antigenics Inc to Agenus Inc to more

accurately reflect our existing product pipelinp which has expanded over the years beyond antigen-based

vaccines as well as to highlight our business strategy as we seek partnering opportunities to grow and diversify

our business
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Availability of Periodic SEC Reports

Our Internet website address is www.agenusbio.com We make available free of charge through oui website

our annual reports an Forth 10-K quarterly reports on Fbrm 10-Q curient reports on Form 8-K and amendmrs

to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Ekchange Act of 1934

Securities Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or

furnish such material to the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC The contents of our wdbsite are

not part df or incorporated into this document

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our future operating results could differ materially from the results described in this Annual Report on Form

10-K due to the risks and uncertainties described below We cannotassure investors that our assumptions and

expectations will prove to be correct Important factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from

those indicated or implied by forward-looking statements See Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

on page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include

those factors discussed below

Risks Related to our BØsiness

If we incur operating losses for longer than we expect or we are not able to raise additional capital we may
be unable to continue our operations or we may become insolvent

From iur inception through December 31 2010 we have incutred net losses totaling $584.4 million Our

net losses for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and2008 were $21.9 million $30.3 million and $30.8

million respŁctively We expect to incui signifidant kisses over the next several years as we continue research

and clinical development of dur technologies apjMy for regulatory approvals and pursue partnering

opportunities commercialization and related activities Furthermore our ability to generate cash from operations

is dependent on the success of our licensees and collaborative partners ai well as the likelihood and timing of

new strategic licensing and partnering relationships and/or successful cOmmercialization of Ohcophage and our

various product candidates If we incui operating losses for longer than we expect and/or we are unable to raise

additioiial capital we may become insolvent and be unable to continue our operations

On December 31 2010 we had $19.8 million in cash and cash equivalents We believe that based on our

current plans and activities our working capital resourbes at December 31 2010 comSitied with anticipated

revenues and the estimated proceeds from our license supply and collaborative agreements will be sufficient to

satisfy

our liquidity requirements through 2011 We expect to attempt to raise additional funds in advance of

depleting Odr current funds For the
year

ended December 31 2010 our average monthly cash used in operating

activities was $1.2 million We do not anticipate significant capital expenditures during 2011

We are required to maintain effective registration statements in connection with certain private placement

agreements If we are unable to keep the registration statements continuously effective in accordance with the

terms of the private placement agreements bi do not maintain our listing on Nasdaq or any electronic bulletin

board are subject to liquidated damages penalties of up to maxinium of 10% of the aggregate iUrchase

price paid by the original investors or up to $3.8 million

Since our inception we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity and convçrtible

notes interest income earned on cash cash equivalents and short-term investment balances and debt provided

through secured lines of cfedit In order to fihance future operations we will be required to raise additional funds

in the capital markets through arrangements ivith collaborative partners or from other sources During Febrnar

2010 we entered into an At the Market Sales Agreement with McNicoll Lewis Vlak LLC and Win Smith

Co the Sales Agents under which we may sell au aggregate of up to 20 million shares of dur common stock

from time to time through the Sales Agents To date we have sold approximately 7.0 million shares of our

common stock under this agreement for net proceeds after expenses of $8.8 million
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Additional financing may not be availableon favorable terms or at all Tf we are unable to raise additional

funds when we need them we will be required to delay reduce or eliminate some or all of our development

conimercialization and clinical trial programs We also may be forced tolicense or sell technologies to others

under agreements that allocate to third parties substantial portions of the potential value of these technologies

We may also be unable to continue our operations or we may become insolvent

The weakness of the United States economy and the global economy may have material adverse effect on

our liquidity and financial condition particularly if our ability to raise additional funds is impaired The ability of

potential patients and/or health care payers to pay for our products could also be adversely impacted thereby

limitingour potential revenue In addition any negative impacts from any further deterioration in the credit

markets and related financial crisisoh our collaborative partners could limit potential revenue from our product

candidates

We have significant debt and we may not be able to make interest or principal payments when due

At the option of the holders our 8% senior secured convertible notes due August 2014 the 2006 Notes

can be converted into an interest in one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries that holds the rights or patents to

QS-21 and HerpV If converted into an interest of this subsidiary the ownership interest in the subsidiary will be

determined by multiplying the quotient of the conversion amount diiided by $25.0 million by 30% Ifthe

holders elect not to convert into the subsidiary then at the maturity of the 2006 NotS we may elect to repay the

then outstanding balance $34.7 million at December 31 2010 in cash or in common stock subject to certain

limitations In no event will any of the note holders be obligated to accept equity that would result in them

owning in excess of 9.99% of our outstanding common stock at any given time in connection with any

conversion redemption or repayment of these notes The 2006 Notes are secured by the equity of the subsidiary

that holds the rights or patents to QS-21 and HerpV

Our ability to satisfy our obligations will depend upon our future performance which is subject to many

factors including the factors identified in this Risk Factors section and other factors beyond our control If we

are not able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service our indebtedness we may be

required among other things to

seek additional financing in the debt or equity markets

refinance Or restructure all or portion of our indebtedness

sell out-license or otherwise dispose of assets and/or

reduce or delay planned expenditures on research and development and/or commercializationactivities

Such measures might not be sufficient to enable us to make principal and interest payments In addition any

such financing refinancing or sale of assetsmight not be available on economically favorable terms if at all

-To date we have had negative cash flows from operation For the years ended December 312OlQ 2009

and 2008 net cash used in operating activities was $14.8 million $24.2 million and $28.9 million respectively

Several factors could prevent the successful commercialization of Ozcophagc in Russia In addition we do

nol expect to generate significant revenue from sales of Oncophage in Russia in the near term

In April 2008 the Russian Ministry ofPublic Health issued registration certificate for the use of

Oncophage for the treatment of kidney cancer patients at intermediate risk for disease recurrence and in

September 2008 the FDA granted thenecesSary permission to allow for the export of Oncophage from the

United States to Russia The Russian registration was our first product approval from regulatory authority
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Since approval modest sales have occurred in Russia Complexities unique to the logistics of this product

may delay shipments and limit our ability to move commercial product in an efficient manner without incident

We currently do not have business presence outside of the United States and rely on third parties to conduct our

Oncophage operations in Russia The reimbursement system in Russia is changing rapidly and has experienced

serious funding and administrative problems in its national and regional reimbursement programs If we are

unable to obtain local distribution arrangements including favorable pricing and payment terms and/or develop

appropriate logistical processes for distribution of Oncophage our commercialization efforts would be adversely

affected

To date we have not been able to secure government reimbursement and there appears to be limitçd

private-pay market in Russia If we are unsuccessful in obtaining substantial reimbursement for Oncophage from

national or regional funds we will have to rely on private-pay for the foreseeable future which may limit or

prevent our sales efforts because the ability and willingness of patients to pay is unclear and many patients will

not be capable of paying for Oncophage by themselves Because we have limited resources and minimal sales

and marketing experience successful commercialization of Oncophage may not materialize Furthermore we

may experience significant delays in the receipt of payment for Oncophage or an inability to collect payments at

all

If we fall to obtain açleqiçate levels of reimbursement for our product candidates there may be no

commercially viable market for these products or the commercial potential of these products may .be

significantly limited

Public nd private insurance programs may determine that they will not cover our or our collaborative

partners produØt candidates In Russia Europe and other countries outside the United States government-

sponsored health care systems typically pay substantial share of health care costs and they may regulate

reimbursement levels of products to control costs If we or our collaborative partners are unsuccessful in

obtaining substantial reimbursement for our product candidates from national or regional funds we will have to

rely on private-pay which may delay or prevent our launch efforts because the ability and willingness of

patients to pay for our products is unclear

It is possible that there will be substantial delays in obtaining coverage of our product candidates or the

product candidates of our licensees or collaborative partners
if at all and that if coverage is obtained there may

be significant restrictions on the circumstances in which there would be reiibursement Wearº unable to predict

what impact any future regulation or third-party payer initiatives relating to reimbursement will have on our

sales

If we fall to comply with regulatory requirements in the countries in which we conduct our business jf these

regulatory requirements change or if we experience unanticipated regulatory problems our commercial

launch of our Prophage Series product candidates could be prevented or delayed or our product candidates

could be subjected to restrictions or be withdrawn from the market or some other action may be taken that

may be adverse to our business

Regulatory authorities gnerally approve products for particular indications If an approval is fora limited

indicatitin this limitation reduces the size ofthe potential market for that product Product approvals once

granted are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by regulatory authorities Later discovery of

previously unknown problems or safety issues and/or failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements

can resultin aniongother things warnifig letters fines injunctions civil penalties recall or seizure of products

total or partial sæspension of production felusal of the government to renew marketing applications complete

withdrawal of marketing application and/or criminal prosecution Such regulatory enforcement could have

direct and negative impact on the product for which approval is granted but .also could have negative impact on

the approval of any pending applications for marketing approval of new drugs or supplements to approved

applications
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In addition our operations and marketing practices are subject to regulation and scrutiny by the United

States governmentas well as governments of any other countries in which we do business or conduct activities

Because we are company operating in highly regulated industry regulatory authorities could take

enforcement action against us in connection with our business and marketing activities for various reasons

For example our marketing and sales lalieling and proniotional activities in Russia are subject to local

regulations If we fail to comply with regulations prohibiting the promotion of products for non-approved

indications or products for which marketing approval has not been granted regulatory authorities could bring

enforcement actions against us that could inhibit oUrmarketing capabilities as well as result in penaltiek In

addition the United States Foreign Corrupt PraºticeE Act prohibits U.S companies and their representatives from

offering promising authorizing or making payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining

business abroad Failure to comply with domestic or foreign laws knowingly or unknowingly could result in

various adverse donsequenee including possible delay in approval or refusal to approve productrØóalls

seizures withdtawal of an approved product from the market exclusion from government health care programs

impOsitioi of significant fines injunctions and/or the imposition of civil or criminal sanctions against us and/or

our officers oF employees

From time to time new legislation is passed into law that could significantly change the statutory provisions

governing the approval manufaÆturing and markethig of products regulated by the FDA and other globalhealth

authorities Additionally regulations and guidauice are often evised or reinterpreted by health agencies in ways

that may signifidantly affect our business and our products It is impossible to jwedict whether further legislative

changes will be enacted or whether regulations guidance or interpretations will change and what the impact of

such changes if any may be

We may notke qble to make the Prophage Series of cancer vaccines available in countries other than

Russi orinincations other than renal cell carcinoma

The Propage Series R-100 is currently only approved for marketing in Russia as Oncophagç for the

adjuvant treatment of kjdney cancer patients at intermediate risk for disease recurrence The probability and

timing of subniissions and/or approval in any jurisdiction or indication for this product is uncertain

In 2008 we submitted marketing authorization application MAA to the European Medicines Agency

EMA requesting conditional authorization of Oncophage in earlier-stage localized kidney cancer After Its

review the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Ue CHMP of the EMA adopted negative

opinion on our MAA and subsequently we withcfrew our application If we continue to pursue marketing

authonzation application for Oncophage with the EMA there is high level of uncertainty regarding the

probability and timing of favorable outcome In addition eyen if we continue this pursuit Oncophagç may not

achieve approval in Europe becausewe may not suçcessfuily address issues associated with post-hoc analysis

subgroup analysis lack of immunological data product characterization or other issues that may be of concern

totheEMA

The FDA has indicated that our Phase cliniºal trials of ProphagØ Series R-100 Oncophage and M-200

cannot by themselyes support biologics license application BLA filings in jhe studies indications renal cell

carcinoma and metastatic melanoma Thesignals and trends observed in the Phase renal cell carcinoma and

melanQma trialsare based rn data analysis of subgroups of patients some of which were not pre-specified While

thesubgroupdata might be suggestiye of treatment effect under current regulatory guidelinçs the.results cannot

be expected alone to support registration or approval in the United States and our existing data may not support

registratioor approval in other territories outside of Russia including in europe Due to our lack of resources

our ability to perform additional studies may be limited Furthermore studies may.take years to coiqplete and

may fail to support regulatory filings for many reasons In addition our Prophage Series vaccines are novel

class of patient-specific derived from the patients own tumor oncology therapies and the FDA and foreign

regulatory agencies including the EMA which is responsible for product approvals in Europe and Health
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Canada which is responsible for product approvals in Canada have relativelylittle experience in reviewing these

types of therapies Therefore Prophage Series product candidates may experience long regulatory review

process and high development costs either of whichcould delay or prevent our commercialization efforts

Risks associated with doing business internationally could negatively affect our business

The Prophage Series vacciie R-l00 is cuntly nly approvd for-sale in Russia asOncophage Russia is an

evolving market and regulatoiy legal and commercial structures ace 4ess pJeictabjethan in nrorematule

markets This unpredictability as well as potential geopolitical instability the Russin region could negatively

impact the regulatory and/o coi-pjnercial environment there which turn- could have an adverse effect on our

business

In addition various other risks associated with foreign operations may impact our success Possible risks

include fluctuations in the yalue foreign and domestjc cun9mçiç disrtiptions in the import eport and

transportation of patient tumors aud our product 4he product and sçvice weds pf foreign customers diffiqulties

in building and managing foreign relationships the performance of our licensees or collaboratçrs and

unexpected regulatory economic or political changes in foreign markets

Our financial position results of operations and cash flows can bç affected by fluctuations fpreign

cuçency exchange rates primarily for the euro and tjie rubleJMovmentin fqreigp currency exchngertes
could cause revenue or clinical trial costs to vary ignificantly in the futUre aud.may affect period-to-pqriod

comparisons of our operatihg results thstoricay we have nqt hedged our exposure to these fluctuations in

exchange rates

Our commercial and international operations experience and resources tire limited and need tobe

developed oracquirØd If we fail to do so our revenues my beiisited or nonexistent IA 4ddinwemay
be required to incur significant costs and devote signzfieant effärts to augment our exisiin czbabilities

As we have limited axperiencwith commercial and international Operations it may be difficUlt lo

accurately estimate our costs We cunentl do Ma haVdethloyees mthmifÆcttiring orbusiness opetàtions

facilities outside of the United S1ate and we will rely signifiØantlr on consultants artæerstUæd other third

parties to conduct our sales marketing and 1distribution operations If these third parties are unable to fulfill theft

obligations this could have material adverse effect on our commercialization efforts If in the future we elect to

perform sales marketing and distribution functions ourselva we wilt faŁe hunibei bf additional risks

including the need to recruit experienced marketing Mid sÆlespeisonæel orincur significant epcnditures In

addition we may need to compete with other compames that have more experienced and heifer funded

operations Where we have licensed our products to third party collaboratdrsor licensees we will be dependent

on theft commercial operations sales and mafketing wçpertise nd resources Und any reventiçs\ve rººeivØ from

those products will depend primarily on the sales and marketing efforts of others

Our competitors in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries may have superior products

manufacturing capability selling an4marketing expertise and/or financial and othçr resources

Our prOductuand the products in development by1Our collaborative partriers-niay fail because of intense

competition froth major pharmaceUtical companies and specialized biotechnology companies engaged in the

deselopment of product candidates directed at cancer ihfectiotis diseases and deØnerative disorders Several of

these compthiies have products that utilize teehnokgies similar to Our Prophage Series and/or patient-specific or

other vaccine based techniques such as DeUdreon and Accentia aswell as Immtincell-LC ICT-107 DC-Vax-

and CDX-l 10 being developed by lUnOcell Corp ImmUnoCellutat Therapeutics Noikhwest BiOtherapeUtics and

Celldex respectively for treatment of patients-with newly diagnSed glibma --

There is no guarantee that we will be able to compete with potential future products beirig4eveloped by out-

competitors For example Oncophage may compete with therapies currently in dØveloment for nonmetastatic
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renal cell carcinoma such as Wilex AGs Rencare WX-G250 which is in Phase clinical trials Additionally

sorafenib and surlitinib which are approved for advanced renal cell carcinoma are being studied in

non-metastatic renal cell carcinoma and other products that have been developed for metastatic renal cell

carcinoma such as temsirolimus bevacizumab and pazopanib may also be developed for non-metastatic renal

cell carcinoma As our Prophage Series vaccines are potentially developed in other indications they will face

additional competition in those indications In addition forour Prophage Series vaccines and all of our product

candidates prior to regulatory approval we may compete for access to patients with other products in clinical

development with products approved for use in the indications we are studying or with off-label use of products

in the indicationswe are studying We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new

companies enter markets we seek to address and scientific developments surrounding immunotherapy and other

traditional cancer therapies continue to accelerate

Our patent to purified QS-21 expired in most territories in 2008 Additional protection for our QS-21

proprietary adjuvant in combination with other agents is proVided by our other patents Our liceuse and

manufacturing agreements for QS-21 typically provide toyalties for at least 10 years after commercial launch

independent of patent expiry However there is no guarantee that we will be able to collect royalties in the

future

We are aware of compounds that clalm to be identical to QS-21 that are being used in clinical trials Several

other vaccine adjuvants are in development and could compete with QS-21 for inclusion in vaccines in

development These adjuvants include but are not limited to oligonucleotides underdevelopment by Pfizer

Idera Juvaris and Dynavax MF59 undet devetopment by Noartis 1C31 under development by Intercell and

MPL under developfnent by GSK Inaddition at least one company CSL Limited as well as academic

institutions are developing saponin adjuvants including derivatives and synthetic formulations

Many of our competitors including large pharmaceutical companies have greater financial and human

resources and more experience than we do Our competitors may

commercialize theft product candidates sooner than we commercialize our own

develop safer or more effective therapeutic drugs or preventive vaccines and other therapeutic

products

implement more effective approaches to sales and marketing and capture some of our potential market

share

establish superior intellectual property positions

--- discover technologies that may result in medical insights or breakthroughs which render pur drugs or

vaccines obsolete possibly before they generate any revenue or

adversely affect our ability to recruit patients for our clinical trials

Manufacturing problems may cause product launch delays unanticipated costs or loss of revenue streams

If the demand for our Prophage Series vaccines is substantially greater than we anticipate our capacity may
not be able to meet product demand In addition higher manufacturing loads may result in higher manufacturing

failure rates as the operation becomes more complex We currently manufacture our Prophage Series vaccines in

our Lexington Müssachusetts facility and we intend to continue using this facility to satisfy all demands for

product While we believe we will be able to cover all demands in the near term there is no guarantee that we

will be able to meet all future or unanticipated increases in demand and failure to do so could adversely affect

our business Such demand may alsO limit 6ur ability to manufacture product in support of clinical trials and this

could cause delay or failure in our Prophage Series programs Manufacturing of Prophage Series vaccines is

complex and various factors could cause delays or an inability to supply vaccine Deviations in the processes

controlling manufacture could result in production failures
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We can also manufacture other clinical products in our own manufacturing facility Our manufacturing

facility has support areas that it shares with the Prophage Series manufacturing areas As we seek to make

Prophage Series vaccines available in other territories the applicable regulatory bodies may require us to make

our manufacturing facility single product facility In such an instance we would no longer have the ability to

manufacture products such as HerpV in our current facility In order to prepare additional HerpY to support

future clinical trials we would then have to manufacture or have manufactured this product in an appropriate

alternative facility

Currently we do not manufacture QS-21 in our own manufacturing facility and we have given two QS-2l

licensees who have.the mostadvanced QS-21 programs the right to manufacture QS-2l themselves or through

third-party manufacturers If these licensees are unable to successfully manufacture or have manufactured QS-21

the commercialization of the product candidates being developed by such licensees could be delayed or

prevented and we could lose important potential future revenue streams We currently outsource the manufacture

of QS-2l under an agreement that expires in 2012 If we are not able to renew this agreement we may have to

identify cm
alternative manufacturing source or the iflvestment of substantial fun4s would be required to develop

our own manufacturing facility We or our currently contracted suppliers may never have the ability to

manufacture commercial grade QS-21

We currently rely upon and expect to continue to rely upon third parties potentially including our

collaborators or licensees to produce materials required to support our product candidates precinical studies

clinical trials and commercial effprts number of factors could cause production interruptions at our

manufacturing facility or at our contract manufacturers or suppJier including equipment malfunctions labor or

employment retention problems natural disasters power outages terrorist activities or disruptions in the

operations of our suppliers Alternatively there is the possibility we may have excess manufacturing capacity if

product candidates do not progress as planned

There are limited number of contract manufacturers or suppliers that are capable of manufacturing our

product candidates or the materials used in their manufacture If we are unable to do so ourselves or to arrange

for third-party manufacturing or supply of these product dandidates or niaterials or to do so on commerciall

reasonable terms we may not.be able to complete development of these product candidates or commercialize

them ourselves or through our collaborative partners or licensees Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails

risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured products ourselves including reliance on the third

party for rŁulafor comæiance the possibility of breaØh of the manufactuiing agreement by the third party

because of factors beyond our control and the possibility of termination or non-renewal of the agreement by the

third party
hased on its own business priorities at time that is costly or inconvenient for us

Manufacniriug is alo nibject to extensive government regulation Regulatory authorities thust approve
the

facilities in which human health care prdducts are produced In addilion facilities are subject to ongoing

inspections and minor changes in manufactudng processes may require additional regulatory approvals either of

which could cause us to incur significant additional costs and lose revenue

The drug development and approval process
is uncertain time-consuming and expensive

Clinical development including preclinical testing and the
process

of obtaining and maintaining regulatory

.-
approvals for new- therapeutic products is lengthy expensive and uncertain It also can vary substantially based

on the typecomplexity and novelty of the product We must provide regulatory authorities with manufacturing

product characterization and precinical and clinical data demonstrating that our product candidates are safe and

effective before they can he approved for commercial sale It may take us many years to complete our testing

ardfailure can occur at any stage of testing Interim results of preclinical studies or clinical trials do not

necessarily predict their fmal results and ftcceptable results in early studies might not be seen in later studies

Any preclinjcal orclinical test may fail to produce results satisfactory to regulatory authorities for many reasons

including but not limited to insufficient product characterization poor studystructure conduct or statistical
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analysis planning failure to enroll sufficient number of patients or failure to prospectively identify the most

appropriate patient eligibility criteria and collectability of data Precinical and clinical data can be interpreted in

different ways which could delay limit or prevent regulatory approval Negative or inconclusive results from

preclinical study or clinical trial atherse medical events during clinical thal or safety issues resulting from

products of the same class of drug could require preclinical study or clinical trial to be repeated or cause

program to be terminated even if othºt studies or trials relating to the program are successful As of

December31 2010 we have spent approximately 16 years
and $281.9 million on our research and development

program in heat shock proteins for cancer

The timing and sUccess of clinical trial dependent on enrolling sufficient patients in timely manner

avoiding serious or SignificantadversØ patientreactions and demonstrating efficacy of the product candidate in

order to support favorable risk versus benefit profile among other considerations The timing and success of

our clinical thals in particular are also dependent on clinical sites and regulatory authorities accepting each

trials protocol statistical analysis plan product characterization tests and clinical data In addition regulatory

authorities thay request
additional information or data that is not readily available Delays in our ability to

respond to such requests would delayand failure to adequately address concems would prevent our

commercialization efforts

Our existing Oncophage data may not support registration or approval in territories outside of Russia

including in the U.5 or Europe Any additional studies may take
years to complete and may fail to support

regulatory filings for many reasons In October 2008 we submitted MAA to the EMA requesting conditional

authorization of Oncophage in earlierstage localized kidney cancer After its review the CHMP of the EMA
adopted negative opinion on this MAA and subsequently we withdrew our application We are currently

evaluating our options to determine whether and how to proceed with Oncophage in renal cell carcinoma If we

continuQ to pursue MAA for Oncophage with the EMA there is high level of uncertainty regarding the

probability and timing of favorable outcome In addition even if we continue this pursuit Oncophage may not

achieve approval in Europe Additionally the FDA has indicated that our Phase clinical trials of Prophage

Series R-100 Oncophage and M-200 cannot by themselves support BLA ilings in the studies indications

renal cell carcinoma and metastatic melanoma The signals and trends observed in these Phase renal cell

carcinoma and melanoma trials are based on data analysis of subgroups of patients home of which were not

pre-specified While the subgroup data might be suggestive of treatment effect under current regulatory

guidelines the results qannot be expected alone to support registration or approval in the United States

Furthermore regulatory authorities including the FDA and the EMA may have varying opinions of our product

char4cterizatjon precliical and clinical trial data for our other product candidates which could delay limit or

preven regulatory approval or clearance Delays or difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals or clearances

for our product candidates may

adversely affect the marketing of any products we or our licensees or collaborators develop

impose significant additional costs on us or our licensees or collaborators

diminish any competitive advantages that we or our licensees or collaborators may attain

limit our ability to receive royalties and generate revenue and profits and

adversely affect our business prospects and ability to obtain financing

Delays or failures in our receiving regulatory approval for our product candidates in timely manner may
result in us having to incur additional development expense

and subject us to having to secure additional

financing As result we will not be able to commercialize them in the timeframe anticipated and our business

will suffer
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New

data from our research and development activities and/or resource consuderatiohE could modjfy our

strategy andresult in the need to adjust our projections of tiinelines and colts of programs

Because we are focused on novel technologies our research and development activities including our

nondinical studies and clinical trials involv the ongoing discovery of new facts and the generation of new data

based on which we determine next steps for relevant program These developments can occur with varying

frequency and constitute the basis on which our busIness is conducted We neççl to make determinations on an

ongoing basis as to which of these facts or data will influence timelines and cpsth of programs We may nçt

always be able to make such judgments accurately which may increase the costs we incur attempting to

commercialize our product candidates We nnitor the likelihood of success of our initiatives and we may need

to discontinue funding of such activities if they do not prove to be commercially feasible due our limited

resources

We may need to successfully address number of technological challenges in oidØr to complete

developritnt of our product candidates Moreover these proçluct candidates may not be effective in treating any

disease or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects toxicities or other characteristics that may

preclude our dbtaining regulatory approvals or prevent or limit commercial use

Failure to enter into sign 4ficant licensing distribution and/or collaboration agreements may hinder our

efforts to develop and commercialize our product candidates and will increase our need to rely on other

financing mechanisms such as sales of debt or equity securities to fund our operations.

We have been engaged in efforts to enter into licensing distribution and/or collaborative agreements with

one ox niôre pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies to assist us with development and/or commercialization

of our product candidates If we are successful in entering into such agreements we may not be able to negotiate

agreemŁtits with economic terms similar to those negotiated by other companies We may not for example

obtain significant upfront payments or substantial royalty rates If we fail to enterinto any such agreements out

efforts to develop and/or coththercialize our products or product candidates may be undermined In addition if

we do not raise fundsthrough any such agreØmets wewill need to rely on other financing mechanisms such as

sales of debt or equity securities to fund our operations

While we have been pursuing these business development efforts for several years we have not entered into

substantial agreement relating to the potential development or cornmercializaiion of Ohcopliae or any of the

other Prophage Series vacCines Due tO the announcements in March 2006 that part of our Phaie trial in renal

cell caicfnotha did not achieve its piiniary endpoint in the intent to treat population and ih November 2009 that

the CFIMP adopted negatiVe opinion on our MAA and because companies may be skeptical tegarding the

potential success of patient-specific product candidate many companies may be unwilling tocommit to an

agreement prior to recejpt of additional clinical data if at all

In addition we would consider license and/or Co-development opportunities to advance HerpV This

product is at an early stage and collaborative partners or licensees may defer discussions until results from early

clinical trials become available or they may not engage in such discussions at all Further clinical development

of HerpV will require partner to support its advancement

Because we rely on collaborators and licensees for the development and commercialization of some of our

product candidate programs these programs may not prove successful and/or we may not receive

sign ificant payments from such parties

Part of our strategy is to develop and commercialize some of our product candidates by continuing our

existing arrangements with academic and corporate collaborators and licensees and by entering into new

collaborations Our success depends on our ability to negotiate such agreements and on the success of the other

parties in performing research preclinical and clinical testing completing regulatory applications and

commercializing product candidates For example the development of Prophage Series is currently dependent
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in large part on the efforts of our institutional collaborators such as the
Brain

Tumor Research Center atthe

University of California San Francisco which is conducting Phase clinical trials of Prophage Series 0-100 and

G-200 for the treatment of glioma In addition substantially all product candidates containing QS-21 depend on

the success of our collaborative partners or licensees and the Companys relationships with these third parties

Such product candidates depend on the successful and adequate manufacture and/or supply of QS-21 and our

collaborators and licensees successfully enrolling patients and completing clinical trials being committed to

dedicating the resources to advance these product candidates obtaining regulatory approvals andsuccessfuily

commercializing product candidates

These development activities may fail to produce marketable products due to unsuccessful results or

abandonment of these programs failure to enter into future collaborations or license agreements or the inability

to manufacture product supply tequirements for our collaborators and licensees For example an undisclosed

infectious disease Phase program has been discontinued by one of our collaborators and in August 2006

Pharmexa AJS announced decision to cease dosing patients in their Phase clinical trial of their HER-2 Protein

AutoVacTM breast cancer vaccine containing our QS-2l adjuvant after it was determined that the trial was

unlikely to meet its primary endpoint Several of our agreements also require us to transfer important rights and

regulatory compliance responsibilities to our collaboraiors and licensees As result of collaborative agreements

we will not control the natUre timing or cost of bringing these product candidates to market Our collaboratcirs

and licensees could choose not to devote resources to these arrangements Or under certain circumstances may
terminate these arrangementh early They may cease pursuing product candidates otelºct to collaborate with

different companies In addition these collaborators and licensees outside of their arrangements with us may

develop technologies or products that are competitive with those that we are developing From time to time we

may also become involved in disputes with our collaborators or licensees Such disputes could reäult in the

incurrence of significant expense or the termination of collaborations We may be unable to fuffill all ofour

obligations to our collaborators which may result in the termination of collaborations As result of these

factors our strategicdollaborations may not yield revenue Furthermore we may be unable to entet intb new

collaborations or enter into newollaborations on faQorable terms Failure to generate significant revenue from

collaborations would increase but need to fund our operations through sales of debt or equity securities and

would negatively affect our business piospects

If we are unable to purify heat shock proteins we may have difficulty successfully initiating or completing

our clinical trials and even if we do successfully complete our clinical trials generating sizable market

potentiaL

Depending on the type and stage of cancer and the patient population our ability to successfully develop and

commercialize the Prophage Series vaccines for particularcancer depends in part on our ability to purify heat

shock proteins from that type of cancer If we experience difficulties in purifying heat shock proteins for

sufficiently large number of patients in our Ølinical trials we maI face delays in enrolling sufficient patients and

subsequently utilize more internal resources to satisfy enrolment requirements Manufacturing failures may also

lower the probability of successful analysis of the data from clinical trials and ultimately the ability to obtain

regulatory approvals We have successfully manufactured product across many different cancer types however the

success rate per
indication has varied We hae evolved our manufacturing processes to better accommodate wider

range
of tumor types Our current manufacturing technologies have been successful in manufacturing product from

approximately 92% of the RCC tumors teceived and apçiroxitnately 90% of the tumors received for patients

enrolled in oar ohgoing clinical trials in glioma We expect to continue to devote itsources to allow for better

evaluation of tumor characteristid
and sdreening methods in an attempt to increase manufactUring sUcCein rates

We may encounter problems with other types of cancer or patients such as pediatric patients as we expaiid

our research If we cannot overcome these problems the number of cancer types that our heat shock protein

product candidates could treat would be limited In addition if we commercialize our heat shock protein pioduct

candidates we may not be able to replicate past manufacturing success rates and we may face claims from

patients fof whom we are unable to produ1ce vaccine
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If we fail to sustain and furtherbuild our intellectual property rights competitors will be able to take

advantage of our research and development efforts to develop competing products.

If we are not able to protect our proprietary technology trade secrets and know-how our competitors may
use our inventions to develop competing products We currently have exclusive rights to 73 issued United States

patents and 117 issued foreign patents We also have exclusive rights to pending United States patent

applications and 29 pending foreign patent applications However our patents may not protect us against our

competitors Our patent positions and those of other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are generally

uncertain and involve complex legal scientific and factual questions The standards which the United States

Patent and Trademark Office uses to grant patents and the standards which courts use to interpret patents are not

always applied predictably or uniformly and can change particularly as .new technologies develop

Consequently the level of protection if any that will be provided by our patents if we attempt to enforce them

and they arechallenged is uncertain In addition the typeand extent of patent claims that will be issued to us in

the future is uncertain Any patents that are issued may not contain claims that permit us to stOp competitors from

using similar technology

Fuflhermore the product development timeline for biotechnology products is lengthy and it is possible that

our issued patents covering our product candidates in the United States and other jurisdictions may expire prior

to comnlercial launch In addition because our patent on QS-21 composition of matter has already expired in

vually

all tethtories we ae limited to protecting certain combinations of QS-21 with other adjuvants or

formulations of QS-21 with other agents e.g excipients that improve performance the compound However

there is no guarantee that third party would necessarily choose to use QS-21 in combination with such

adjuvants or formulate it with the excipients covered by our patents We are aware of at least one other party that

makes synthetic -version of QS-21 claimed by such party to be equivalent in activity to natural QS-21 and has

also developed derivatives of QS-21 which have shown biological activity

In addition to our patented technology we alsorely on unpatented technology trade secrets and

confidential information We may not be able to effectivelyprqtect our rights to .this technology or information

Other parties may independently develop substantially equivaleflt information and techniques or otherwise gain

access to or disclose our technology We generally require each of our employees consultants collaborators and

certain contractors to execute confidentiality agreement at the commencement of an employment consulting

collaborative or contractual relationship with us However these agreements may not provide effective

protection of our technology or information or in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure they may not

provide adequate remedies

We may incur substantial costs as result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and other

intellectual property rights and wemay be unable to protect our rights in or to use our technology

There has been substantial litigation and other proceedings regarding patent and other intellectual pçoperty

rights in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries We may become party to patent litigation or other

proceedings regarding intellectual property rights

If we choose to go to court to stop someone else from using the inventions ciaimed in our patents that

individual or company has the iight to ask court to rule that our paçents are invalid and should not be enforced

against that third party These lawsuits are expensive and would consume time and other resources eves if we

were successful in stopping the infringement of our patents In addition there is risk that the court will decide

that our patents are not valid and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the claimed

inveitions There is also the risk that even if the validity of our patents is upheld the court will refuse to stop the

other party on the grounds that such other partys activities do not infringe our patents

We may not have rights under some patents or patent applications related to some of our existing and

prdposed products or processes Third parties may own or control these patents and patent applications in the

United States and abroad Therefore in some cases such as thbse described below in order to develoj use
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manufacture sell or import someof our existing or proposed products ordevelop or use some of our existing or

proposed processes we or our collaborators may choose to seek or be required to seek licenses under third-party

patents issued in the United States and ftbroad or those that might issue from United States and foreign patent

applications In such an event we likely would be required to pay license fees or royalties or both to the licensor

If licenses are not available to us on acceptable terms we or our collaborators may not be able to exploit these

products or processes

Furthermore third party may claim that we are using inventions covered by such third-partys patents or

other intellectual property nghts and may go to court to stop us from
engaging in our normal operations and

activities These lawsuits are expensive Some of Our cdmpetitors may be able tb sustain the cost of such

litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources

There is risk that a-court would decide that we are infringing the third-partys patents and would order tito

stop the activities covered by the
patents In addition there is risk that court will order us to pay the other

party substantial damages for having violated the other partys patents The biotechnology indæstr has produced

proliferation of patents and it is not always clear to industry participants including us which patents cover

various types of products The
coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the cotirts and the interprºtatibn

is

not always uniform Moreover patent holders sometimes send communications to number of cOmpanies iii

related fields suggesting possible infringement and we like number of biotechnology companies have

received such communications in the past
and may receive others in the future if we are sued for patent

infringement we would need to demonstrate that our products either do noj infringe the patent claims of the

relevant patent and/or that the patent claims are invalid which we may not be able to do Proving invalidity in

particular is difficult since it requires showjng of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption

of validity enjoyed by issued patents

if patent litigation or other proceeding is resolved against us we or our licensees pr collabQrators may be

enjoined from using manufactiring selling or importipg our prodicts or processes without license from the

other party and we may be held liable for significant damages We may not be able to obtain any required

licenses on commercially acceptable terms or at all

Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litjgation or other proceedings could

have material adverse effect on our ability to enter into collaborations with other entities obtain finanŁing or

compete in the marketplace Patent litigation and other proceedings may also absorb significant management

time and other resources

.-

If we fail to comply with ourobligätions in our intellectual property licenies with third parties we could

lose license rights that are important to our business

We are party to various license agreements
under which we receive the right to practice and use important

third-party patent rights and we-may enter into additional licenses irtthefuture Our existing licenses impose and

we expect future licenses will impose various diligence milestone payment royalty insurance and other

obligations on us If we fail to comply with these obligations the licensor may have the right to terminate the

license in which event we might not be able to market any product that is covered by the licensed patents

If we fail to retain the services of and/or maintain positive relations with key individuals and our

employees we may not be able to achieve our strategic and operational objectives

--

Garo Arthen Ph.D the Chairman of our Board of Directors and our Chief Executive Officer co-founded

the Company in 1994 with Pramod Srivastava Ph.D and has been and ontiæues to be integral to building

our company and developing our technology If Dr Armen severed his relationship with Agenus our business

may be adversely impacted

Effective December 2005 we entered into an employment agreement with Dr Armen ubject to the

earlier termination as provided in the agreement the agreement had an original term of one year and is

25



automatically extended thereafter for subcessivŁ terms of one year each unlesseither party provides notice to the

other at least ninety days prior to the expiration of the original or any extension tenn Dr Armen plays an

important role in our day-to-day activities We do not carry key employee insurance policies for Dr Armen or

any other employee

Dr Srivastava currently has consulting agreement with us pursuant to which he is retained to provide

advice and services to Agenus from time to time This agreement has an initial tenn ending March 31 2011

also rely greatly on enging and retaining other highly trained and experienced senior managenent and

scientific and operations personnel and consultants The competition for thesç and other qualified personnel in

the biotechnology field is intense in order to reduce our expenses we have eliminated certain employee benefits

restructuredour business and reduced staffmg levels This restructuriIg has eliminated any redundancy in skills

and capabilities in key areas If we are not able to attract and retain qualified personnel we may not be able to

acMey our strategic and operatiofl4lobjctives

We may face litigation that could result in substantial damaga and may divert managements time and

attention from our business

Agenus ourChairman and Chief Executive Officer Garo Arinen Ph.D and two investment banking

firms that served as underwriters in our initial public offering were named as defendants in federal civil class

action lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Southem District of New York Substantially similar

actions were filed concerning the initial public offerings for more than 300 different issuers and the cases were

coordinated for pre-trial purposes as In re Initial Public Offering SeCurities Litigation 21 MC 92 The suit alleges

that the brokerage arms of the investment banking firms charged secret excessive commission to certain of their

customers in return for allocations of our stock in the offering The suit also alleges that shares of our stock were

allocated to certain of the investnient banking firms custoniers baedupon agreements by iuCh customersto

purchase additional shares of our stock in the secondary market The parties have reached global settlement of

the litigation Under the settlement the insurers wilt pay the full athountof settlement share allocated to the

defendants and the defendants will bear no financial liability Agehus and the other defendants will receive

complete dismissals from the case In October 2009 the Court entered an order granting final approval of the

settlement and subsequently judgment wasentered Various objectors have filed appeals If for any reason the

settlement does not become effective We believewe have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to

defend the action vigoromaily We are unabletb predict the likelihood of an unfivorable outcomor estimate our

potential liability if any

In addition we may cugetly be pr may ecoipe iqvolved in additional litigation Any uch litigation could

be expensive in terms of out-of-pocket costs and managemçnt time and the outcome of any such litigation is

uncertain

Our directorsand officers insurancpolicies provide $30.0 million of coverage This insurance coverage

may not be sufficient tocover us for future claims

Product liability and other claims against -as may reduce demand for our products and/or resOlt in

substantial damages

We face an inherent risk of product liabilit bposiire related to testing bur prodCct candidates in human

clinical trials and commercial mies of OnCOphage in Russia and may face even greater risks if we sell

Oncophage in other territories and/or selj our other product candidates conmercially An individual may bring

product liability claim against us if Oncopge or one of our product candidates causes or merely appears to

have caused an injury Proçluct liability claims may result in

decreased demand for Oncophage or our product candidates

regulatory investigations

injury to our reputation
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withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers

costs of related litigation and

substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs

We manufacture the Prophage Series vaccines from patients cancer cells and medical professionals must

inject the vaccines into the same patient from which they were manufactured patient may sue us if hospital

shipping company or we fail to deliver the removed cancer tissue or that patients Prophage Series vaccine We

anticipate that the logistics of shipping will become more complex if the number of patients we treat increases

and that shipments of tumor and/or Prophage Series vaccines may be lost delayed or damaged Additionally

complexities unique to the logistics of commercial products may delay shipments and limit our ability to move

commercial product in an efficient manner without incident To date we have obtained transportation insurance

coverage for commercial Oncophage being shipped to Russia We do not have any other insurance that covers

loss of or damage to the Prophage Series vaccines or tumor material and we do not know whether such insurance

will be available to us at reasonable price or at all We have limited product liability coverage for use of our

product candidates Our product liability policy provides $10.0 million aggregate coveragó and $10.0 million per

occurrence coverage This limited insurance coverage may be insufficient to fully cover us for future claims

If we do not comply with environmental laws and regulations we may incur significant costs and potential

disreption to our business

We use hazardous infectious and radioactive materials and.recombinant DNA in our eperations which

have the potential of being harmful to human health and safety or the environment We store these hazardous

flammable corrosive toxic infectious and radioactive materials and various wastes resulting from their use

at our facilities pending use and ultimate disposal We are subject to variety of federal state and local laws and

regulations governing use generation storage handling and disposal of these materials We may incur

significant co$s complying with both current and future environmental health and safety laws and regulations In

particular we are subject to regulation by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration the Enviromnental

Protection Agency the Drug Enforcement Agency the Department of Transportation the Centers for Disease

Control and Prevention the National Institutes of Health the Intemational Air Transportation Association and

various state and local agencies At any time one or more of the aforementioned agencies could adopt

regulations that may affect our operations We are also subject to regulation under the Toxic Substances Control

Act and the Resource Conservation Development programs

Although we believe that our current procedures and programs for handling storage and disposal of these

materials comply with federal state and local laws and regulations we cannot eliminate the risk of accidents

involving contamination from these materials Althoughwe have limited poilutionliability coverage $2.0

million and workers compensation liability policy we could be held liable for resulting damages in the eyent

of an accident or accidental release and such damages could be substanally in excess of any available insurance

coverage and could substantially disrupt our business

Risks Related to our Common Stock

The unaffiliated holders of certain convertible securities have the right fo convçrt such securities into

substantial percentage of our outstanding common stock

According to publicly filed documents Mr Brad Kelley beneficially owns 5546240 shares of our

outstanding common stock and 31620 shares of our series convertible preferred stock The shares of preferred

stock are currently convertible at any time into 2000000 shares of common stock at an initial conversion price

of $15.81 are non-voting and
carry 2.5% annual dividend yield If Mr Kelley had converted all of the shares

of preferred stock on December 31 2010 he would have held approximately 7% of our outstanding common

stock We currently have right of first refusal agreement with Mr Kelley that provides us with limited rights to

purchase certain of Mr Kelley shares if he
proposes to sell them to third party
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Mr Kelleys substantial ownership position provides him with the ability to substantially influence the

outcome of mailers submitted to our stockholders for approval Furthennore collectively Mr Kelley and Garo

Armen our CEO control approximately 11% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31 2O 10

providing ability if they vote in the same manner to determine the outcome of matters submitted to

stockholder vote If Mr Kelley were to convert all of his preferred stock into common stock the combined total

would increase to 12% Additional purchases of our common stock by Mr Kelley- also would increase both his

percentage of outstanding voting rights and the percentage combined with our CEO While Mr Kelleys shares

of preferred stock do not carry voting rights the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion carry the

same voting rights as other shares of common stock

Our stock may be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market which could affect its market price and

liquidity

Our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol AGEN In the event

that we fail to satisfy any of the listing requirements our common stock may be put under review or removed

from the listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market

On March 2011 we were notified by the Listing Qualifications Staff of Nasdaq the Staff indicating

-H that we ar.e not in compliance with the Nasdaq Marketpkace Rule 5550a2 the Bid Price Requirement
because the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for 30

consecutive business days In accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 58 10c3A we have been provided

180 calendar days dr-until August 30 2011 to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement

If compliance is not demonstrated within the applicable compliance period the Staff will notify us that our

securities will be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market However we may appeal the Staffs determination to

delist our securities to Hearings Panel During any appeal process shares of our common stock would continue

to trade on the Nasdaq Capital MarkS There can be no assurance that we will meet the requirements for

continued listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market or whether any appeal would be granted by the Hearings Panel

Provisions in our organizational documents could prevent or frustrate attempts by stockholders to replace

our current management

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could make it more difficult for third

party to acquire us without the consent of our Board of Directors Our certificate of incorporation provides for

staggered board and removal of directots only for dause Accordingly stockholders may eleÆt only minority of

our Board at any annual meeting whiŁh ma hae the effect of delaing or preventing chàhges in management

In addition under our certificate incorporation oUr Board of Directors may issue additional shares of preferred

stock

and determine the terms of those shares of-stock without any further action by our stockholders Our

issuancU of additional preferred stoCk could make it more difficult for third party to acqUire majority of our

outstanding voting stock and thereby effect change in the composition of our Board of Directors Our certificate

of incorporation also provides that our stockholders may not take action by written consent Our bylaws require

advance notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations and permit only our President or majority -of

the Board pf Directors to call special stockholder meeipg These provisions may have the effect of preventing

or hindering attempts by our stkholders -to replace our Øurrent management In addition Delawate law

11 prohibits corporation from engaging in business combination with any holder of 15% or thojebf itscapital

stock until the holder has held the stock for three years unless among other possibilities the board of directors

approves the transaction Our Board of Directors may use this provision to preventchanges in our management

Also under applicable Delaware law our Board of Directors may adopt -additional anti-takeover measures in the

future
--
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Our stock has historically had low trading volume and its public trading price has been volatile

Between our initial public offerthg on February 2000 and December 31 2010 and for the year ended

December 31 2010 the closing price of our common stock has fluctuated between $0.30 and $52.63 per share

and $0.60 and $1.38 per share respectively The average daily trading volume for the year ended December 31

2010 was approximately 1103000 shares The market may experience significant price and volume fluctuations

that are often unrelated to the operating performance of individual cpmpanies In addition to general market

volatility many factors may have significant adverse effeqt on the market price of our stock including

continUing operating losses hich we expect over the next several years as we continüŁ our

develojmentªctivities

announcements of decisions made by public1offipials

results df our prediiical studies and cliniii tijals

announcements of new collaboration agreements with strategic partners or developments by our

existing collaborative partners

announcements of technological innovations new commercial pfoducts failUrdi of products or

progress toward commercialization by our competitors or peers

developments concerning proprietary rights including patent and litigation mailers

publicity regarding actual or potential results with respect to product candidates under development

and

quarterly fluctuations in our financial results

The sale of significant number of shares could cause the market price of our stock to decline

The sale by us or the resale by stockholders of significant number of shares of our common stock could

cause the market price of our common stock to decline As of December31 2010 we had approximately

111625000 shares of common stock outstanding All of these shares are eligible for sale on the Nasdaq Capital

Market although certain of the shares are subject to sales volume and other limitations We have filed

registration statements to petmit the sale of approximately 25437000 shares of common stock under our equity

incentive plan and certain equity plans that we assumed in our acquisitions of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals Inc

and Aronex Pharmaceuticals Inc We have also filed registration statements to permit the sale of 1000000

shares of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan to permit the sale of 450000 shares of

common stock utider our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan to permit the sale of 49643966 shares of

commoti sto pursuant to various private placement agreements As of December 31 2010 an aggregate of

39.3 million shares remain available for sale under these registration statements The market price of our

common stock may decrease based on the expectation of such sales

As of December 31 2010 options to purchase 7272850 shares of our comm.on stock with weighted

average exercise price per share of $2i24 were outstanding Many of these options are subject to vesting that

generally occurs over period of up to four years following the date of grant As of December 31 2010 we have

513449 nonvested shares outstanding

Because

we are small public comp4ny we believe we have been disproposWQnately negatively impacted by

the Sarbanes-Oxley AcE of 2002 and related regulations which have increased our costŁ in the past and have

required additional managemenŁ resources

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules adopted by the SEC and the Nasdaq have resulted in significant

costs to us In particular our efforts to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related

regulations regarding the required assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and our
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independent registered public accounting firms audit of internal control overfinancial reporting have required

commitments of significant management time We expect these commitments to continue Additionally these

laws and regulations could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members for our Board of

Directors particularly independent directors or qualified executive officers

Our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules l3a45of the Securities Exchange Act is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles Because of its inherent limitations internal control over Iinanciql reporting may
not prevent or detect all deficiencies or weaknesses in our financial reporting While our management has

concluded that there were ijo material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 our procedures are subject to the risk that our controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or as result of deterioration in compliance with such procedures No assurance is gjven

that our procedures and processes for detecting weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will be

effective

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

We have received no written comments from the staff of the SEC regarding our periodic or current reports

that we believe are material were issued not less than 180 days before the end of our 2010 fiscal year and

remain unresolved

Item Properties

We maintain our corporate offices in Lexington Massachusetts in 162000 square foot facility under

lease agreement that terminates in August 2013 We have an option to renew this lease for two additional

ten-year periods We have sublet portion of this facility

In addition we leased approximately 40000 square feet of laboratory office and manufacturing space in

Framingham Massachusetts under lease agreement that terminated in September 2010 We had sublet this

entire facility

We also lease approximately 5400 square feet in an office building in New York New York Our New

York lease terminates in April 2012

We believe substantially all of our property and equipment is in good condition and that we have suffiØient

capacity to meet our current operational needs We do not anticipate experiencing significant difficulty in

retaining occupancy of any of our manUfacturing or office facilities and will do so through lease renewals prior to

expiration or through replacing them with equivalent facilities

Item Legal Proceedings

Agenus our Chairman and CEO Garo Armen Ph.D and two investment banking firms that served as

underwriters in our initial public offering were named as defendants in federal civil class action lawsuit in the

United States District Court for the Southern District of New York Substantially similar actions were filed

concerning the initial public offerings for more than 300 different issuers and the cases were coordinated for

.-
pre-trial purposes as In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 92 The suit alleges that the

brokerage arms of the investment banking firms charged secret excessive commissions to certain of their

customers in return for allocations of our stock in the offering.The suit also allegus that shares of our stock were

allocated to certain of the investment banking firms cuitomers based upon agreements by such customers to

purchase additional shares of our stock in the secondary market The parties have reached global settlement of

the litigation Under the settlement the insurers will pay the full amount of settlement share allocated to the

defendants and the defendants will bear no financial liability Agenus and the other defendants will receive

complete dismissals from the case lii October 2009 the Court entered an order granting final approval of the
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settlement and subsequently judgment was entered Various objectors have filed appeals If- for any reason the

settlement does not become effective we believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to

defend the action vigorously We are unable to predict the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome or estimate our

potential liability if any

We may currently be party or may become party to other legal proceedings claims and investigations

that arise in the ordinary course of business such as but not limited to patent employment commeriial and

environmental matters as well While we currently believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these proceedings

will not have material adverse effect on our financial position results of operations or liquidity litigation is

subject to inherent uncertainty Furthermore litigation consumes both cash and management attention

Item Removed and Reserved

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Set forth below is certain information regarding our current and certain former executive officers including

their

age as of March 12011

Name Age Title

Garo Armen Ph.D 58 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Shalini Sharp 36 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Christine Klaskin 45 Vice President Finance and Principal Accounting Officer

Karen Valentine 39 Vice President and General Counsel

Kerry Wentworth 38 Vice President Clinical Regulatory Quality

Garo Armen PhDDr Armen is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Agenus Inc the

biotechnology company he co-founded with Pramod Srivastava in 1994 From mid-2002 through 2004 he was

Chairman of the Board of Directors for the biopharmaceutical company Elan Corporation plc Dr Armen is also

the founder and President of the Children of Armenia Fund charitable organization established in 2000 that is

dedicated to the positive development of the children and youth of Armenia

Shalini SharpMs Sharp is Chief Financial Officer of Agenus Inc Prior to joining Agenus Inc in 2003

Ms Sharp was director of strategic planning at Elan Corporation plc where she served as chief of staff to the

chairman of the board during the restructuring process
and drove to completion number of strategic corporate

and financial transactions Ms Sharp was previously management consultant at McKinsey Company

specializing in pharmaceuticals and medical devices Ms Sharp received her BA and MBA from Harvard

University

Christine KlaskinChristine Kiaskin is Vice President Finance and Principal Accounting Officer

Since joining Agenus Inc in 1996 as finance manager Ms Kiaskin has held various positions within the finance

department and has been involved in all equity and debt offerings of the Company including its IPO Prior to

joining Agenus Ms Klaskin was employed by Arthur Andersen as an audit manager Ms Klaskin received her

Bachelor of Accountancy from The George Washington University

Karen ValentineKaren Higgins Valentine is Vice President and General Counsel and also serves as

Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer of the Company Prior to joining Agenus Inc in 2004 Ms Valentine

was an associate in the biotechnology practice of Palmer Dodge LLP now Edwards Angell Palmer Dodge

LLP While at the law firm she provided corporate law services to broad range of both public and private

corporations and developed an expertise in the areas of licensing and strategic collaborations Ms Valentine

graduated cum laude with bachelors degree in neuroscience from Colgate University and received her law

degree magna cum laude from Boston University School of Law
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Kerry WentworthKerry Wentworth is Vice President Clinical Regulatory Quality Before joining

Agenus Inc in 2005 Ms Wentworth served as senior director of regulatory affairs at Genelabs Technologies

where she was responsible for the business regulatory and quality funOtions There she focused on the late-stage

clinical development and subsequent US and European commercial
application filings for the companys lead

product PrestaraTM Prior to Genelabs Ms Wentworth held various positions in regulatory affairs at Shaman

Pharmaqeuticals and at Genzyme Corporation Ms Wentworth received BS in pre-veterinary medicine from the

University of New Hampshire

32



PART II

Item Market for Registrailts Commän Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol AGEN

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices per share of our

common stock

High Low

2009

First Quarter $0.60 $0.19

Second Quarter 3.34 0.43

Third Quarter 3.11 1.46

Fourth Quarter 2.24 0.63

2010

First Quarter 1.20 0.60

Second Quarter 1.72 0.70

Third Quarter 1.12 0.73

Fourth Quarter 1.12 0.87

As of March 2011 there were approximately 1900 holders of record and approximately 25000 beneficial

holders of our common stock

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash

dividends in the foreseeable future We currently intend to retain future earnings if any for the future operation

and expansion of our businesd Any future payment of dividends On our common stock will be at the discretion of

our Board of Directors and will depend upon among other things our earnings financial condition capital

requirements level of indebtedness and other.factors that our Board of Directors deems relevant

Stock Performance

The following graph shows the cumulative total stockholder retum on our common stock over the period

from December 31 2005 to December 31 2010 as compared with that of the Nasdaq Stock Market U.S

Companies Index and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index based on an initial investment of $100 in each on

December 31 2005 Total stockholder retum is measured by dividing share price change plus diMidends if any
for each period by the share price at the beginning of the respective period and assumes reinvestment of

dividends

This stock performance graph shall not be deemed filed with the SEC or subject to Section 18 Of the

Securities Exchange Act nor shall it be deemed indorporated by reference in any Of our filings under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATiVE TOTAL RETURN OF AGENUS INC
NASDAQ STOCK MARKET U.S COMPANIES INDEX

AND NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY INDEX

12/3112005 12/31/2006 12/31120Q7 12/31/2008 12/3112009 12/3112010

Agenus Inc 100.00 38.45 42.86 10.08 13.45 21.22

NASDAQ Stock Market U.S Companies Index ... 100.00 109.52 120.27 71.51 102.89 120.29

NASDAQ Biotechnology Index 100.00 101.02 105.65 92.31 106.74 122.76

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The below listed payments in 2008 relate to compensation to third-party consultant Raifarm Limited or its

affiliates collectively Raifarm for services rendered in relation to the registration and Commercialization

activities in Russiafor Oncophage pursuant to Master Services Agreement between us and Raifarm as amended

from time to time The below listed payments in 2010 relate to compensation to third-party consultant Hamilton

Communications Hamilton for services rendered in connection with our rebranding effort pursuant to

Services Agreement betweenus and Hamilton as amended.The offer issuance and delivery of thebelow listed

shares of common stock in the nanner contemplated by the applicable agreements did not require registration

under Section of the Securities Act because the transactions were exempted transactions under Section 42 of the

Securities Act This determination was based upon and assuming the
accuracy

of representations and warranties we
obtained from Raifarm and Hamilton and compliance by Raifarm and Hamilton with the offering and transfer

procedures and restrictions described in the applicable agreements and related documents

Title of Each Class of

Date Issued Security
________ ______

Various dates February July 2008 Common Stock par value $0.01

September 16 2010 Common Stock par value $0.01

November 30 2010 Common Stock par value $0.01

Agenus Inc

160.00

140.00

120.00

100.00

80.00

60.00

40.00

20.00

0.00

12/31/2005 12/31/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010

Amount of

Securities

Amount
Issued

346509

111111

54945

Nature of Transaction

Nature of Transaction

Shares issued for services rendered

Shares issued for services rendered

Shares issued for services rendered
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Information concerning our equity compensation plans is set forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement with

respçct to our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no

later than 120 daysafter the end of the fiscal
year

under the heading Equity Plans which is incorporated herein

by reference

Item Selected Financial Data

We have derived the consolidated balance sheet data set forth below as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and

the consolidated statement of operations data for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31

2010 from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K

You should read the selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations our consolidated financial statements and the notes

tooür consolidated financial statements includedelsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Given our history of incurring operating losses management believes that it is more likely than not that any

deferred tax assets will not be realized through future earnings Therefore no income tax benefit h4s been

recognized in the consolidated statements of operations because of the loss before income taxes and the need to

recognize valuation allowance on the portion of our deferred tax assets which will not be offset by the reversal

of deferred tax liabilities see Note lbelow

Changes in cash cash equivalents and short-term investments total current assets total assets and

stockholders deficit in the periods presented below include the effects of the receipt of net proceeds from our

debt offerings equity offerings the exercise of stock options and warrants and employee stock purchases that

totaled approximately $11.6 million $18.7 million $46.9 million $4.6 million and $25.4 million inthe years

ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively
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For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands except per share data

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

Revenue 3360 3334 2651 5552 692

Operating expenses

Cost of goods sold 123
Research and development 12878 16903 20663
General and administrative 12112 14110 19832
Restructuring costs

Loss from operations

Non-operating income

Interest expense net

Net loss

Dividends on series convertible preferred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per

common share basic and diluted

Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic

and diluted

December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalents and short-term

investments 19782 30065 34463 18679

Total current assets 20854 31533 35486 20782

Total assets 30907 45874 56822 44351

Total current liabilities 5416 5355 6997 8383

Long-term debt less current portion 34050 49494 64126 71524

Stockholders deficit 14707 16975 20330 41370

Given our history of incurring operating losses no income tax benefit has been recognized in our

consolidated statements of operations because of the loss before income taxes and the need to recognize

valuation allowance on the portion of our deferred tax assets which will not be offset by the reversal of

deferred tax liabilities

21789

17041

28643

21288

21753 27679

4680 2568

4834 5207

21907 30318
790 790

$22697 $3 1108

37844
12356

5313

30801

790

$31591

1374

33278 50613
141

4658 2287

37935 52759
79O 790

$38725 $53S49

0.23 0.39 0.5O 0.83 1.17

96650 79017 63249 46512 45809

40095

42298

72726

9078

68276

10563
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Item Managements Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and ResUlts of Operations

Overview

Our current research and/or development activities are focused on developing technologies and product

candidates to treat cancers and infectious diseases Since our inception in March 1994 our activities have

primarily been associated with the development of our heat shock protein technology primarily our lead

autologous cancer immutiotherapies formerly referred to as Oncophage the Prophage Series of cancer vaccines

vitespen HSPPC-96 The first product denved from the Prophage Senes of vaccines 100 still referred to in

Russia

andEurope as Oncophage represents the only approved treatment for adjuvant or non-metastatic renal

cell carcinoma RCC kidney cancer patients at intermediate risk for disease recurrence In registry follOwing

patients from large randomized Phase trial in non-metastatic RCC patients at intermediate risk of recurrence

who were in the treatment arm demonstrated an approximately 46 percent lower risk of death compared with

those in the dontrol arm 362 0.05 hazard ratio 0.54 Phase trials testing the Prophage Series

candidates G-lOO and G-200 are underway in both newly diagnosed and recurrent glioma respectively where

promising data has been generated to date Additional trials are planned in metastatic RCC R-200 and

metastatic melanoma M-200 in combination with potentially synergistic therapies as well as in pediatric

neurological tumors NP-iSO Our business activities have included product research and development

intellectual property prosecution manufacturing regulatory and clinical affairs corporate finance ançl

development market development and support of our collaborations

We have incurred significant losses since our inception As of December 31 2010 we had an accumulated

deficit of $584.4 iiiillion Since our inception we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of

equity and convertible notes interest income earned on cash cash equivalents and short-term investment

balances and debt provided through secured lines of credit We believe that based oil our current plans aid

activities our working capital resources at Debember 31 2010 anticipated revenues and the estimated
proceeds

from our license supply and collaborative agreements will be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity requiØthents

through 2011 We expect to attempt to raise additional funds in advance of depl.eting our current funds We may

attempt to raise additional funds by licensing technologies or products to
one or mbre cpllàbdrativ partners

renegotiating third party agreements completing an outright sale of assets securing additional debt

financing and/or selling additional equity secUrities Satisfying long-term liquidity needs may require the

successful commercializatidn of our product Oncophage and/or one or morepartnering arrangements for

Oncophage vaccines containing QS-21 under development our licensees and/or
potentially

other

produºt candidates each of which will require additional capital

In April 2008 the Russian Ministry of Public Health issued registration certificate for the use of

Oncophage

fOr the adjuvant treatmUnt of kidney cancer patients at intermediate risk for disease recurrence and in

SUptembef 2008 the Food Drug Administration FDA granted the necssaiy permissibn to allow for the

export of Oncophage from the United States for patient administration in Russia The Russian registration was

our first prodæct approval from regulatory authority and the first approval of patint-specific therapeutic

cancer accine in major market

In October 2008 we announced the submission of marketing authorization application MAA to the

European Medicines Agency EMA requesting conditional authorization of Oncophage in earlier-stage

localized kidney cancer On November 20 2009 we announced that the Comniittee for Medicinal PioduCts for

Human Use CHIMP of the EMA formally adopted negative opinion on this MAA Subsequently we

withdrew our application and we have been evaluating variety of options to potentially bring Oncophage to

patients and physicians globally Although we are no longer in active discussions with potential partner for the

European market we continue to actively seek partnership discusions for multiple products generated from our

Prophage Series
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Guidance rceived from past interaction with the FDA indicated that an additional Phase clinical study

must be conducted to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of Oncophage Because the primary evidence of

efficacy comes from subgroup analysis of the pre-specified primary and secondary endpoints and was not

demonstrated in the intent-to-treat population our Phase renal cell carcinoma trial is likely not sufficient as

sole support for product approval base on existing standards in the United States and potentially in other

territories

On March 2011 we were notified by the Listing Qualifications Staff of Nasdaq the Staff indicating

tlat we are not in compliance with the Bid Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5550a2 the Bid Price Requirement

because the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for 30

consecutive business days In accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5810c3A we have been provided

180 calendar daysor until August 30 2011 to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement If compliance

is not deAnonstrated within the applicable compliance period the-Staff will notify us that our securities will be

delisted from therNasdaq Capit1al Market However we may appeal the Staffs determination to delist our

securities to Hearings P4uel During any appeal process shares of our common stock would continue to trade

on the Nasdaq Capital Market There can be no assurance that we will meet the requirements for continued listing

on the Nasdaq Capital Market or whether any appeal would be granted.by the Harings Panel

Historical ResuIt of Operations

Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2009

Reieizue We generated revenue of $3.4 million and $3.3 million during the years ended ecember 31 2010

and 2009 respectively Revenue includes reyenue
earned on shipments of QS-21 to our QS-21 licensees license

fees royalties earned and in 2010 grants earned and Onpophage sales In the
years

ended December 31 2010

and 2009 we recothed$1.5 million eaCh period from the amortization of deferred revenue related to pur QS-21

partnered programs

Research and Development Research and development expenses include the costs associated with our

internal rØsearph and development activities including compensation and benefits occupancy costs cinicl

manufacturing costs costs of consultants and administrative costs Research and development expense

decreased 24o to $12.9 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010 from $16.9 niqion for the year ended

December 31 2009 The decrease included declines of $1.7 million fqr personnel related expenses and $367000

for facility related costs primarily due to cost containment efforts and $1.8 million for various
oqtside

services

primarily related to the status of our efforts in Russia and other tefritories

General and Administrative General and administrative expense consist primarily of peisonnel costs

facility expenses and professional fees General and administrative expenses decreased 14% to $12.1 million for

the year ended December 31 2010 from $14.1 million for the year ended December 31 2009 This decrease is

largely attributable to declines of $1.5 miffion for various outside services primarily relating to the status of our

efforts in Russia and other territories and $145000 in employee and director noncash sbare-based compensation

expense

Non-opeçating Income Non-operating income pf $4.7 milliop for the year ended December 31 2010

consists ofa net gain of $2.5 million on the extinguishment of portion of our 2005 Notes and the change in the

fair value of our derivative liability sjnce December 31 2009 of $1.9 million

Inte rest Expense Interest .expense decreased to $4.9 million for the
ypar ended December 31 2010 from

$5.3 millionfor the
year ended December 31 2009 This decrease is related to the repurchase of portion of out

2005 Notes Interest on our 2006 Notes is payable semi-annually on December 30 and June 30 in cash or at our

option in additional notes or combination thereof During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

interest expense included $2.6 million and $2.4 million respectively paid in the form of additional 2006 Notes
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Interest Income Interest income decreased 73% to $38000 for the
year ended December 31 2010 from

$137000 for the year ended December 31 2009 This decrease is primarily attributable to decrease in our

average Æash cash e4uivalents and short-term investmehts balance coupled with declining interest rates earned

on our cash cah equivalertis and shoh-terth investments Our average interest rate darned decreased from

0.49% for the year eiided December 31 2O09 to 0.15% foi the year ended December 31 2010

Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2008

Revenue We generated revenue of $3 million and $27 milhon dunng the
years ended December 31 2009

and 2008 respectively Revenue includes revenue earned on shipments of QS-21 to ou QS-21 licensees license

fees and royalties earned
I.p

the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we recorded $1.5 million each period

froththe athoitization of deferred
revenuç

related to our QS-21 partnered programs

Research and Deielopmenttteseardh and development expenses incltide the costs associated With our

intemal research and development activities including compensation add benefits occupancy costs clinical

manufacturint costs costi-of cotiti1tants and administrative costs Research- and development expense

decreased 18% to $16.9 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 from $20.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 -The decrease included declines of $1.5 million for personnel related
expenses and $241000

for facility related costs primarily due to cost containment efforts and $1.5 million for various outside -services

primarily related to the status of our efforts in Russia and other territories

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs

facility expenses and professional fees General and administrative expense.s decreased 29% to $14.1 million for

the year ended December 312009 -from $19.8 million for the year ended December 31- 2008 This decrease is

largely ttribijtble to dedlires Of $2.3 million for various outside services primarily relating to the status of our

efforts in Russia and other territories -$1.5 million in personnel related expenses due to cost contajnment efforts

$1.0 million in employeeand director noncash share-based cojnpensation expense and $332000 decrease in

our foreign currency exchange loss

Non-operating Income Nonoperating income of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009

consists primarily of gain on the extinguishment of1a portion of our 2005 Notes

Interest Expense Interest expense decreased to $5.3 million fpr the year ended December 31 2009 from

$6.3- million for the year -ended December 31 2008 This decrease is related to the repurchase of portion of our

2005 Notes during the fourth quarter of 2008 and the second quarter of 2009 Interest on our 2006 Notes is

payable semi-annually on December 30 and June 30 in cash or at our option in additional notes or

combination thereof During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 interest expense included $2.4

million and $2.2 million respectively paid in the form of additional 2006 Notes

Interest Income Interest income decreased 86% to $1 37000 for the year ended December 31 2009 from

$966009 fdf the year ended December31 2008 This decrease is primthlattributable tb decrease in our

average cash cash equivalents and short-term investments balance coupled with declining interest rates earned

on our cash cash equivalents and shdi-t-term investmddts Our average interest Fate eained decreased from 2.4%

for the year ended December 31 2008 td 0.499i for the year ended December 31 2009
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Research and Development Programs

Prior to 2002 we did not track costs on aper prpject basis and therefore have estimated the allocation of

our total research and development costs
to our largest research and development programs for that time period

During 2010 these research and develojment programs consisted largely of our Prophage Series vaccines and

QS-21 as indicated in the following table in thousands

Research and
Year Ended December 31

Prior to

Development Program Product 2010 2009 2008 2008 Total

Heat shock proteins for cancer Prophage

Series

Vaccines $10960 $15309 $17156 $23426 $281$51

Heat shock proteins for infectious diseases HerpV 644 262 1377 16071 18354

Vaccine adjuvant QS-21 1185 1071 648 9500 12404

Other reseach and development programs 89 261 1482 31695 33527

Total research and development expenses $12878 $16$03 $20663 $295692 $346136

Prior to 2000 costs were incurred by Aquila BiOpharmÆceuticals Inc company we acquired in

November 2000

Research and development program costs include compensation and other direct costs plus an allocation of

indirect costs-based on certain assumptions and our review of the status of-each program Our Piophage Series

Vaccines are in various stages of development as described below Significant additional expenditureswill be

required if we start new trials encounter delays in our programs apply for regulatory approvals continue

development of our technologies expand our operations and/or bring our product candidates to inaiket The

eventual total cost of each clinical trial is dependent on number of factors suth as trial design length of the

trial number of clinical sites and number of patients The process of obtaining and maintaining regulatory-

approvals for new therapeutic products is lengthy expensive and uncertain Because the further development of

our Prophage Series vaccines is subject to evaluation and uncertainty and because HerpV is an early-stage

clinical development candidate and generally on hold due to cost-containment efforts we are unable to reliably

estimate the cost of completing our research and development programs the liming of bringing Such programs to

various markets and therefore when if ever material cash inflows are likely to commence Programs involving

QS-2-1 depend on our collaborative partners or licensees successfully completing clinical trials successfully

manufacturing QS-21 to meet demand obtaining regulatory approvals and successfully commercializing product

candidates containing QSL21

Product Development Portfälio

Prophage Series of Cancer Vaccines

We started enroling patients in our first clinical trial tudying Propliage Series vaccine at Memorial Sloan-

Kettering Cancer çØnter inNew York New York in November 1997 To date ye have treated nearly 850 cancer

patients in our clinical tfials Because Prophage Series vaccines are novel therapeutic vaccines that are patient-

specific meaning derived from the patients own tumor they are experiencing long development process and

high development costs either of which could delay or prevent our commercialization efforts For additional

inJormation regarding regulatory risks and uncertainties please read the risks identified under Part I-Item lA

Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We believe that the collective results from our clinical trials thus far show that the Prophage Series vaccines

have favorable safety profile We also believe that available results from clinical trials suggest that treatment

with Prophage Series vaccines can generate immunological and anti-tumor responses
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We initiated Phase multicenter international trial for non-metastatic RCC into which the first patient

was randomized in February 2001 As announced on March 24 2006 the trial did not reaOh statistical

significance in its primary endpoint of recurrence-free survival in the total patient population though positive

trend was observed During the protocol design process in 1999 and 2000 key opinion leaders were consulted

and the non-metastatic RCC patient population designated for enrollment in the trial was thought to be

relatively uniform group In 2006 the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group ECOG initiated trial in

adjuvant RCC with sorafenib and sunitinib that stratified their patient population into intermediate-risk high-

risk and very high-risk recurrence categories Using these ECOG defined criteria analysis of the intermediate

risk patients 362 of the 604 eligible patients in the trial showed statistically significant difference in

recurrence-free survival in favor of the Oncophage arm In part because the intermediate-risk category was not

prospectively delineated prior to the trials initiation the FDA has indicated that by itself part of our Phase

clinical trial in renal cell carcinoma is not sufficient to support biologics license application BLA filing

We opened subsequent protocol that continued to follow patients from this trial in the format of registry

in order to collect overall survival information as well as investigator reports of diseae recurrence The registry

which is expected to provide additional data on the effectiveness of the vaccine followed patients until March

2010 an additional three years from closure of the initial trial providing more than five years of data collection

following the enrollment of the last patient in the trial Final analysis of this data is in process At the 2009

American Society of Clinical Oncology ASCO annual meeting we announced results of an interim analysis

from the ongoing global patient survival registry which showed that patients with kidney cancer at intermediate

risk of disease recurrence demonstrated an approximately 4percent lower risk of death in the treatmentam

compared with the control arm 362 0.05 hazard ratio 0.54

In addition to the patient registry patient enrollment has commenced into small study in non-metastatic

RCC to assess inmiune response in the intermediate-risk patient population The results of this study continued

data collection through the survival registry and ongoing analysis are uncertain and may not positively affect the

acceptability of the overall results of the trial and even if clinically meaningful may not meet the requirements

of the FDA or other regulatory authorities for submission and approval of marketing application or similar

applications for product approval outside the United States

In April 2008 the Russian Ministry of Public Health issued registration certificate for the use of

Oncophage for the treatment of kidney cancer patients at intermediate risk for disease recurrence Because

among other things we have limited resources and minimal sales and marketing experience commercialization

of Oncophage has been slow and only modest sales of Oncophage in Russia have occurred during the year ended

December 31 2010 The Russian registration was our first product approval from regulatory authority and the

first approval of patient-specific therapeutic cancer vaccine in major market Since this approval we have

been focusing our efforts in Russia on securing one or more distribution and/or partnering arrangements and

related commercialization activities The amount of any future revenue generated from the sale of Oncophage in

Russia will depend on our ability to successfully execute on these efforts and identify and obtain adequate

reimbursement as well as on decisions of physicians and patients among other factors Furthermore we may

experience significant delays in the receipt of payment for Oncophage or an inability to collect payments at all

In October 2008 we announced the submission of MAA to the EMA requesting conditional authorization

of Oncophage in earlier-stage localized kidney cancer On November 20 2009 we announced that the CHMP of

the EMA formally adopted negative opinion on this MAA Subsequently we withdrew our application and have

been evaluating variety of options to potentially bring Oncophage to patients and physicians globally Although

we are no longer in active discussions with potential partner for the European market we continue to actively

seek partnership discussions for multiple products generated from our portfolio of Prophage Series vaccines

Phase clinical trial with Prophage Series G-200 vaccine in recurrent high-grade glioma is currently

ongoing This study is being led by the Brain Tumor Research Center at the University of California San

Francisco UCSF with grants from the American Brain Tumor Association and the National Cancer Institute
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Special Programs of Research Excellence Phase results presented at the Society for Neuro-Oncology Annual

Meeting Conference in November 2008 showed that vaccination following brain cancer surgery
increased

overall median survival to approximately 10.5 months with four patients surviving beyond 12 months and one

patient surviving almost 2.5 years. The study also showed that all 12 treated patients demonstrated significant

immune response after vaccination with G-200 .0.001 and that patients with minimal residual disease at

time of first vaccination were more likely to survive beyond nine months compared with patients with

significant residual disease

The study which is designed to enroll approximately 50 patients has expanded to include New York-

Presbyterian Hospital/Columbia University Medical Center and University Hospitals/Case Westem Reserve

Interim data was presented at the Society for Neuro-Oncology meeting in October 2009 which showed median

survival of 10.1 months in the first 20 patients treated with G-200 and that to date six patients 30 percent had

survived at or beyond 12 months This early data shows an improvement in overall survival over the previous

long-standing historical median survival of 6.5 months and is also slightly favorable to the recently reported

median survival of.9.2 months with Avastin bevacizumab in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma In

May 2010 data presented at the International Conference on Brain Tumor Research and Therapy suggested that

vaccination with this candidate may improve overall survival in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma An

overall median survival of 44 weeks after tumor resection was observed Approximately 70% of the evaluable

patients survived beyond 36 weeks and 41% survived .up to or longer than one year Additional data frQm this

trial will be reported by mid-2011 UCSF also initiated .an additional Phase clinical trial in newly diagnosed

glioma testing Prophage Series G-l00 vaccine in combination with Temodar temozolomide This thal is

currently enrolling with target of 50 patients Based on promising trends to date this trial.is being expanded to

include up to 10 clinical sites

QS-21

QS-21 Stimulon adjuvant is an adjuvant or substance added to vaccine or other immunotherapy that is

intended to enhance immune response The key licensees of QS-21 are GSK and JANS SEN Alzheimer

Immunotherapy There are 14 vaccines containing QS-21 in clinical development including four in Phase

testing for malaria melanoma non-small cell lung cancer and shingles The first products containing QS-21 are

expected to be launched in the 2013-2014 timeframe The pipeline of product candidates containing QS-21 is

extraordinarily diverse encompassing prophylactic as well as therapeutic vaccines for infectious diseases

multiple cancer types and Alzheimers disease The Company does not incur clinical development costs for

these products and is generally reimbursed for any related expenses by its licensees

In return for rights to use QS-21 our licensees have generally agreed to pay us license fees manufacturing

payments milestone payments and royalties on product sales for minimum of 10 years after commercial

launch In addition to our corporate licensing arrangements we have developed number of academic

collaborations to test new yaccine concepts and products containing QS-2 From time to time our collaborators

or licensees initiate and/or cease programs containing QS-21 For example an undisclosed infectious disease

Phase program was recently discontinued by one of our collaborators

On January 16 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated Manufacturing Technology Transfer and

Supply Agreement under which GSK has the right to manufacture all of jts requirements of commercial grade

QS-21 GSK is obligated to supply us or our affiliates licensees or customers certain quantities of commercial

grade QS-21 for stated period of time We understand that QS-21 is key component included in several of

GSKs proprietary adjuvant systems and that number of USKs vaccine candidates currently under

development are formulated using adjuvant systems containing QS-21 GSK has initiated Phase studies

evaluating its investigational MAGE-A3 Antigen-Specific Cancer Immunotherapeutic containing QS-21 in

non-small cell lung cancer and melanoma GSK has also initiated Phase clinical trial in malaria and Phase

clinical thai in shingles Revenues recognized with respect to this agreement were $1.3 million for each of the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009
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Elan Phannaceuticals Inc and/or its affiliates Elan had acommercial license for the use of QS-21 in the

research and commercialization of products Effective September 14 2009 we entere4 into an Amended agd

Restated License Agreement Amended Licçnse Agreement with Elqn On September 17 2009 the Amended

License Agreemçnwas assigned to JANSSEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy Under the terms of the Amended

License Agreement assigned to JANS SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy they will have the iight to develop make

have made use sell offer for sale import andhave sold the Alzheirners disease vaccine that contains QS-21

Licensed Product In addition pursuant to the terms of the Amended License Agreement JANSSEN

Alzheimer Immunotherapy has the right to manufacturç all of its requirements of.QSr2I for use in the Licensed

Product and we have no further supply obligatiQns Under the terms of the Amended License Agreement we are

entitled to receive future milestone payments and product royalties in the event ofthQ successful development of

the Licensed Product In 2007 Elan initiated Phase study of their vaccine Revenues recognized with respect

to this agreement were $160000 in the year ended December 31 2010

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred annualoperatingIosses since inception and se had an accumulated deficit of $584.4

million as of December 31 2010 We expect to incur significant losses over the next several years as we contthue

our clinical trials apply for regulatory approvals prepare
for commercialization and continue development of

our technologies Since ourS inception we have financq our operations primarily through the sale of equity and

convertible notes interest income earned on cash cash equivalents and short-term investment balances and debt

provided through secured lines of credit From ourinception thrpugh December3 010 wehave raised

aggregate net proceeds
of $506.3 million through the sale of commOn and preferred stocjc the ekercise of stock

options and warrants proceeds from ouremployee stock purchase plan and the issuance of cOnvertible notes

and borrowed $20.5 million under two Credit facilities During February 2010 we entered into an At We Market

Sales Agreement with McNIcoll Lewis Vlak LLC and Wm Smith the Sales Agents under which we

may sell an aggregate of up to 20 million shares of our common stppk fçom time to time through the Sales

Agents To date we have issued approximately 7.0 million shares Of our cprnmon stock in at the market offerings

throughihe Sales Agents aid raised net pro5eeds of approximately $8.S million after deducting pffering coss of

approximately $331000 As of December 31 2010 ve had dejfl ptstanding of $34.9 million in principal

including $34.7 million in principal of our 2006 Notes maturing August 31 201 and $100000 in principal of

our 2005 Notes maturing February 202025 The 2005 Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the

holders or us beginning February 2012

Our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31 2010 were $198 million

decrease of $10.3 million froth December 31 2009 Based on our current plans and activities we anticipate that

our net cash bum defined cash thed in operating activities plus capital expenditures and 4ividend payments

will be in the $16$18 million range for The yCar ending DCcember 31 2011 In addition we hoC to genetete

royalties from our QS-21 product ib the 2013-2014 timeframe

We believe that based on our current plans and activities our wOrking cpital resources at December 31

2010 anticipated revenues and thC estimated proceeds from our license suplyànd cOllaborativd agreethents

will be sufficient to satisfy otir liquidity requirements into 2012 We closely monitor our cash needs We
continue to monitor the likelihood of success of our key initiatives and are preparedto discontinue funding of

such activities if they do not prove to be commercially feasible In addition we will continue to adjust other

spending as needed in order to preserve liquidity We expect to attempt to raise additional funds in advance of

depleting our current funds In .order to fund our operations through 2011 and beyond we will need to contain

costs and raise additional funds We may attempt to raise additional funds by licensing technologies or

products to one or more collaborative partners renegotiating third party agreements completing an

outright sale of selected assets securing additional debt flnancing and/or selling additional equity

securities Our ability to successfully enter into any such arrangements is uncertain and if funds are not

available or not available on terms acceptable to us we may be required to revise our planned clinical trials

other development activities capital expenditures and/or the scale of our operations As noted above we expect

to attempt to raise additional funds in advance of depleting our current funds however we may not be able to
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raise funds or raise amounts sufficient to meet the long-term needs of the business Satisfying long-term liquidity

needs may require the successful commercialization of Oæcophage and/or one or more partnering arrangements

for our other Prophage Series vaccines successful commercialization of vaccines containing QS-21 under

development by our license and potentially successful commercialization of other product candidates each of

which will require additional capital as discussed above Please see the Forward-Looking Statements section

and the risks highlighted under Part I-Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Our future cash requirements include but are not limited to efforts to make Oncophage available in Russia

and other jurisdictions we are ctirrently exploring as well as supporting our clinical trial and regulatory efforts

and continuing our other research and development programs Since inception we have entered into various

agreements with institution and clinical research organizations to conduct and monitor our clinical studies

Under these agreements subject to the enrollment of patients and performance by the applicable institution of

certain services we have estimated our payments to be $47.2 million over the term of the studies Through

December 31 2010 we have expensed $46.5 million as research and development expenses and $46.3 million

has been paid related to these clinical studies The timing of expense recognition and future payments related to

these agreements is subject to the enrollment of patients and performance by the applic4ble institution of certain

services

We have also entered into sponsored research agreements related to our product candidates that required

payments of $6.5 million all of which has been paid as of December 31 2010 We plan to enter into additional

sponsored eearch agreements and we anticipate significant additional expenditures.will be required to advance

our clinical trials apply for regulatory approvals continue development of our technologies and bring our

product candidates to market Part of our strategy to develop and commercialize some of our product

candidates by continuing our existing collaborative arrangements with academic and collaborative partners and

licensees and by entering into new collaborations As result of our collaborative agreements we will not

completely control the efforts to attempt to bring those product candidates to market We have varioCs

agreements for example with collaborative partneS and/or licensees which allow the use of our QS-2l adjuvant

in numeroug vaccines These agreements grant exclusive worldwide rights in some fields of use and co-exclusive

or non-exclusive rights in others These agreements generally provide us with iLights manufacture and supply

QS-21 to the collaborative partner or licensee and also call for royalties to be paid to us on future sales of

licensed vaccines that include QS-21 which may or may not be achieved Significant inyestment in

manufacturing capacity could be required if we were to retain our manufacturing and supjily rights

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December31 2010 and 2009 skas $14.8 million and

$24.2 million respectively We continue to support and develop our QS-2l partnering collÆbotations with the

goal of generating royalties from this product in the 2013-2014 timeframe Our future ability to generate cash

from Operation will depend on achieving regulatory approval of our product candidates and market acceptance

of Oncophage and our product candidates achieving benchmarks as defined in existing collaborative agreements

and our ability t9 enter into new collaborations Please see the Forward-Looking Statements section and the

risks highlighted under Part I-Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The table below sunmiarizes our contractual obligatioæs as of December 31 2010 in thousand

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total Year -3 Years 35 Years Years

Long-term debt1 $46542 207 103 $46232

Operating leases 5771 2224 3547

Total $52313 $2431 $3650 $46232

Assumes the 2006 Notes ar not converted and are paid in 2014 In certain circumstances the 2006 Notes

could be converted before then Also includes fixed interest payments some of which may be paid in kind

and assumes that the 2005 Notes are not converted and are paid on February 2012 In certain
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circumstances the 2005 Notes could be converted before then In addition the holders of the 2005 Notes

can require us to purchase debt from them at certain dates between 2012 and 2020 If the 2005 Notes are not

converted and we are not required to purchase the debt the 2005 Notes mature on February 2025 Ifthe

2005 Notes were outstanding until maturity there would be additional interest payments of $68000 for the

period 2012 through 2025

Effective July 19 2002 we sublet part
of our Framingham facility to GTC Biotherapeutics Inc GTC

-- and we leased related leasehold improvements and equipment under agreements that were to.expire on

December 31 2006 GTC exercised its option to extend this lease until September 2010 the date our original

lease expired Under the terms of our original lease we were obligated to pay our landlord approximately 7% of

our rental income Effective March 17 2004 we sublet an additional part of our Framingham facility to PP

Manufacturing whose lease also expired in September 2010 Since September 30 2010 we are no longer party

to any lease or subleasing arrangements for this facility Effective July 30 2010 we sublet part of our Lexington

facility to Cubist Pharmaceuticals Inc whose lease expires in July 2012 Our Lexington facility and New York

office leases expire August 2013 and April 2012 respectively

We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings as detailed in Item above and Note 16 of the notes

to our consolidated financial statements While we curiintly believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these

proceedings will not have material adverse effect on our financial position results of operations or liquidity

litigation is subject to inherent uncertainty Furthermore litigation consumei both cash and management

attention

Inflation

We believe that inflation has not had material adverse effect on our business results of operations or

financial condition to date

Related Parties

In March 1995 we entered into consulting agreement with Dr Pramod Srivastava our scientific founder

and aformet member of our Board of Directors and upon its expiration in March 2006 we entered into new

consulting agreementeffective Marôh 28 2006 with Dr Srivastava The agreement has an initial term ending

March 31 2011 In exchange for the timely performance of services as defined in the agreement Dr Srivastava

is entitled to receive compensation to be established by the Compensation Committee of the Agenus Board of

Directors For the twelve-month period ending March 31 2011 Dr Srivastava will receive $50000

Dr Srivastava is also eligible to receive an annual bonus and stock options at the discretion of the Compensation

Committee of our Board of Directors During the year ended December 31 2009 we paid Dr Srivastava an

additional $50000 for his work related to our MAA submitted to the EMEA

On January 2008 we entered into private placement agreement the January 2008 private placement
that included 8708717 shares of common stock ii warrants to acquire up to 8708717 shares of common

stock at $3.00 per share and iiiunit warrants which if exercisable due to triggering event as that term is

defined in the applicable warrant permit holder to acquire up to 8708717 shares of common stock at $3.00 per

share and warrants to acquire up to an additional 8708717 shares of common stock at $3.00 per share In

conjunction with this private placement we sold 542050 shares of common stock to Garo Armen Ph.D our

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 1166667 shares of common stock to Armen Partners LP Garo

Armen is the general partner of Armen Partners LP and owns controlling interest therein In addition to the

common stock acquired by Garo Armen and Armen Partners LP each acquired an equal number of both

warrants and unit warrants The unit warrants expiied January 2010

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as those that require the application of managements most

difficult subjective or complex judgments often as result of the need to make estimates about the effect of

matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods
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The preparation of consolidated financial statinentsin conformity witliU.S generally acpepte4 accounting

principles rçquires us to make estjmates and assumptions that affect the reportçd amounts of assets and liabilities

and disclosures of contngent assets and liabilities at the date of the financialstatemeuts and the reported amounts

of revenues andexpenses during the reporting period We base those estimates on historiqal experience and on

various assumptions that aie believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results could differ from

those estimates

The following listing is not intended to be comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies Our

significant accounting pohcies are descnbed in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements In

many cases the accounting treatment of particulài transaction is dictated by U.S generally accepted accounting

principles with no need forem judgMent in its application There are also areas in which out judgment in

selecting an available alternative would not produce materially different result We have identified the

following as our critical accounting policies

Share-Based Compensation

In accordance with the fair value recogmtion provisions
of ASC 718 CompensationStock Compensation

we recognize thare-baied coMpensatiOn expense it of an estimated forfeithie tatCadd only recognize

compensatioii expensefor those sharebüØdawards eipected tovest.Compensation expense is recognized on

straight-line basis over the requisite sbrvice period of the awatd

Stock options granted to certain non-employees have been accounted for based on the fair value method of

accounting in accordance with ASC 505-50 Equity- Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees As resClt the

noncash charge to operations for non-employee options with vesting or other performance criteria is affected

each reporting period until the non-employee options vest by changes in the fair value of our cOMmon stoCk

Under the provisions of ASC 505-50 the change in fair value of vested options issued to non-employees is

reflected in the statement of operations each reporting period until the options are exercised or eitpire

Deterqænjng the
approptiate fair value model an4 calculating the fair value of share-based awards requires

the use of highly sqbjective assumptions including the expected life of the share-based awards and stock price

volatility The assumptions used in4calçujating thp fair value rf sharebased awards represeflt managements best

estimates but%these estimatesAnvqJye ipherent uncertainties and the applicatiyn of managemeqtjudgment As

result if factors change and we use different assumptions our share-based compepsation expense could be

materially different in the futurç Ip addition if ouctual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate

the share-based compensat4on exwnse could be significantly different from what we have recordeçl in the current

period See Note 10 of the notes to our çpnspidated financi$ statements for further discussion on share-based

compensation

Fair Value AecountinkDenvative Liability

As result of the adoption of certain guidance within ASC 815-40 Derivatives and Hedging- Contracts In

Entitys Own Equity al of January 2009 the conversioh feature embedded in our 2006 Notes is treated as

derivative and recOrded at itS fair value withperiod toperiodichaligesirt the fair value recorded as gain or loss

in oUr consolidated statementof operations-i

We measure fair value based on hierarcify for inputsused in measuring fair value that maximizes the use

of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that observable inputs be used

when available Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability

based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company Unobservable inputs are inputs thdt

reflectthe Companys assumptions about the iiputthatmarket participants would use in pricing theasset or

liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances Our denvatiye liability

is valued based on significant unobsenable inpl1its
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue for services under research and development contracts are recognized as the services are

performed or as clinical trial materials are provided Non-refundable milestone payments that represent the

completion of separate earnings process are recognized as revenue when earned License fees and royalties are

recognized as they are earned Revenuexecogthzed from collaborative agreements is based upon the provisions

of Accounting Standards Codification ASC 605-25 Revenue RecognitionMultiple Element Arrangements

Recent Accounting Pronountements

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB revised authoritative guidance on

multiple-deliverable revee arrapgçinents proyiding greater ability to separate and allocate .rrangement

consideration in multiple element revenue arrangement by requiring the pse of estimated selling prices to

allocate arrangement consideration if neither vendor-pecific objective evidence nor third party evidence of

selling price is available thereby eliminating th use of the residualmethod of allocation The revise4 guiçlance

also requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosures surrounding multiple deliverable revenue

arrangernents This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15 2010 and may be applied

retrospectively or prospectively for hew or materially modified arrangements Early adoption is permitted We
will evaluate the impact of this standard on future revenue arrangements that we may enter into

In April 2010 the FA codified the consensus reached in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No 08-09

Milestpne Method of Revenue Recogniljon issuing Accounting Standard Update ASU No 2010-17

Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition to limit the scope of this ASU to research or developrnent

arrangements and require that guidaiiice in this ASU be met for an entity to apply the milestone method which

allows entiçies
to record the milestone payment in its entirety in the period achieved However the FASBJ

clarified that even if the requirements in this ASU are met entities would not be precluded from making an

accounting policy election to apply another appropriate accountirjg policy that results in the deferral of some

portion of the arrangement consideration The ASU was effectiye for perioçls beginning on or after June 15

2010 Early1 applicationwas permitted Entities can apply this guidance prospectively to milestoies achieved

after adoption However retrospective tpplication to all prior periods was also permitted We will evaluate the

impact pf this standard on future revenue arrangements that we may enter into

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-06 Fair Vaue Measurements and Disclosures Topic

820Imp roving Disclosures obout Fair Value Measurements ASU 2010-06 ASU 2010-06 requires new

disclosures regarding significant transfers in and out of Levels and fair value measurements as well as

information about activity in Level fair value measurements including presenting information about purchases

sales issuances and settlements on gross xersus
net basis in the Level activity roll forward In addition ASU

2010-06 also clarifies existing disclosures regaring input and valuation techniques as well as the level of

disaggregation for each class of assets and liabilities ASU No 2010-06 was effective for interim and annual periods

beginning after December 15 2009 except for the disclosures pertaining to purchases sales issuances and

settlements in the roll forward of Level activity those disclpsures are effective for interim and annual periods

beginning after December 15 2Q0 The adoption of ASU 2010-06 had no current impact and is expected to have

no subsequent impact on our cqnsolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows Required

disclosure requirçments of AU 2010-06 have been included inNote 15 to our consolidated financial statements

In December 2010 the FASB Issued additional guidance on when to perform Step of the goodwill

impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts The criteria for evaluting Step of

the goodwill impairment test and proceeding to Step was amended for reporting units with zero or negative

carrying amounts and requires performing Step if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that

goodwill impainnent exists This guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years

beginning after December 15 2010 Upon adoption of the amended guidance any impairment will be recorded

as an adjustment to beginning retained earnings We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our

consolidated financial statements
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the normal course of business we are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as we seek debt financing

and invest excess cash We are also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation rik related to our

transactions denominated in foreign currencies We do not currently employ specific strategies such as the use of

derivative instruments orhedging to manage these exposures Our currency exposures vary but are primarily

concentrated in the ELfrO During the year ended December 312010 there has been no material change with

respect to our interest rate and foreign currency exposures or our approach toward those exposures However we

are exploring possible commercialization of Oncophage outside of the U.S which could result in increased

foreign currency exposure

The information below summarizS our market risks associated with debt obligations as of December 31

2010 Fair value included herein has been estimated taking into consideration the nature and terms of each

instrument andthe ptevailing economic and market conditions at December31 2010 The table presents

prinoipal payments by year of maturity basedon the terms of the debt in thOusands

Outstanding
Estimated Principal Amount ear atunty

Fair Value December 312010 2011 2012 2014

Long-term debt $30829 $34916 $146 $100 $34670

Fixed interest rates range from 5.25% to 8% The above table is based on the assumptions that future

interest on the 2006 Notes is paid iii daih and that these notes are not converted at maturity August 31 2014

In certain cicumstanŁes the 2006 Notes could be converted before then In addition the table is based on

the assumption that the 2005 Notes are redeemed on February 2012 In certain circumstances the 2005

Notes could be converted on or before February 2012 The note holders of our 2005 Notes can require us

to redeem debt at bertain dates between 2012 and 2020 If the 2005 Notes are not converted and we are nOt

required to purchise tIle notes they mature on February 2025

The estimated fair value of our long-term debt wai derived by evaluating the nature and terms of each note

and considering the prevailing economic and market conditions at the balance sheet date In addition the

fair value df our 2005 Notes was estimated based on the most recent market transactions

We had cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2010 of $19.8 million which are exposed to the impact

of interest and foreign currency exchange rate changes and our interest income fluctuates as interest rates

changd.4Due to the short-term nature of our investments in money market funds our carrying value approximates

the fair value of these investments at December 31 2010 however we are subject to investment risk

We invest ur cah cash equivalents and short-term investments in accordance with our In1estment Policy

The primary objectives of our Invetment PoliŁy are to preserve principal maintain proper liquidity to iiieet

opeŁatin needs and maximize yields We review our Investment Policy annually and amend it as deemed

necessary Currently the Investment Policy prohibits investing in any structured investment vehicles and asset-

backed commercial paper Although our investments are subject to Øredit risk our Investment Policy specifies

creditquality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure frOm any single issue

issuer or type of investment Our investments are also subject t6 inierest rate risk and will decrease in value if

market interest rates increase However due to the cdnservativd nature of our investments and relatively short

duration interest rate risk is mitigated We do not invest in derivative financial instruments Accordingly we do

not believe that there is currently any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial

-- instruments that would require disclosure under this item
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Agenus Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Agenus Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity

deficit and comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31 2010 ThSe consolidated financial statements are the responsibilit of the COmpanys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Øonsolidated finaiVciâl statement based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanS Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of Agenus Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Agenus Inc and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010

based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated March 16 2011 expressed an

unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in 2009 the Company retrospectively

changed its method of accounting for certain convertible debt instmments that may be settled in cash upon

conversion due to the adoption of new accounting requirements issued by the FASB In addition as discussed in

Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of evaluating when

adjustment features within contracts are considered to be equityindexed due to the adoption of new accounting

requirements issued by the FASB as of January 2009

/s/ KPMG LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 162011
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AGENUS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOIADATEDBALANCESHEETS

Demb 312010 December 312009

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Inventories

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses

Other current assets
_____________ _____________

Total current assets

Plant and equipment net of accumulated amortization and depreciation of

$24993225 and $28612631 at December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

Goodwill

Core and thveloped technology net of acdumulated amortization of

$10443247 and $9753106 at December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

Debt issuance costs net of accumulated amortization of $1270492 and

$1139807 atDecember 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 29841

Other long-term assets 1255990
____________

Total assets 30906659
____________

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT

Current portion long4erm debt 146061

Current portion deferred revenue 1540385

Accounts payable 698554
Accrued liabilities 2684609
Other

urrent
liabilities 346314

_____________

Total current liabilities S4l5923
Convertible notes 34050033
Deferred revenue 3612156
Derivative liability 755000
Other long-term liabilities 1780759
Commitments and contingencies Notes 13 and 16

STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT

Preferred stock par value $0.01 per share 25000000 shares authorized

Series convertible preferred stock 31620 shares designated issued

and outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2009 liquidation value

of $31817625 at December 31 2010 316

Series B2 convertible preferred stock 3105 shares designated issued

and outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2009 31

Common stock par value $0.01 per share 250000000 shares authorized

111885759 and 90015425 shares issued at December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively 1118858
Additional paid-in capital 568916796

Treasury stock at cost 260944 shares of common stock at December 31
2010 and 2009 324792

Accumulated deficit 584418421
_____________

Total stockholders deficit 14707212
____________

Total liabilities and stockholders deficit 30906659
____________

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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19781976 20066817
9998294
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7Q474-4 751960
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20854160 31532829
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2572203 2572203

1319523

293575

1264833

45874087

146061

1501902
895338

2597056

214591

5354948

49494119

2976538

2665156
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AGENUS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 312010 2009 and 2008

52500

424720

2882391

3359611

122946

12877695

12111507

21752537

4680120

4871446
37

21906303

790500

$22696803

3334444 2651081

3334444 2651081

16902537 2062987
14110514 19831g58

27678607 A37843764

2568545 12355677

5344713 6278492
137482 965843

30317293 30800736

790500 790500

$31107793 $31591236

79017143 63249458

2010 2009 2008

Revenue

Product revenue

Grant revenue

Research and development revenue

Total revenues

Operating expenses

Cost of goods sold

Research and development

General and administrative

Operating loss

Other income expense

Non-operating income

Interest expense

Interest income

Net loss

Dividends on series convertible preferred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Per common share data basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic

and diluted

0.23 0.39 0.50

96650120
__________ __________

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AGENUS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $21906303 $30317293 $30800736

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 3437767 4108538 4634186

Share-based compensation 3151537 3130804 5581731

Noncash interest expense 4053272 4014840 3474115

Loss on monetization of receivable 317512

Gain on extinguishnient of debt 2761426 2653387 7734042
Asset impairment 629382

Gain on sale of patent applications 4619325
Change in fair value of derivative liability 1910156 47707
Loss on disposal of assets 161188 51584 17053

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 35000 318707

Inventories 297603 97659 284496

Prepaid

expenses 47216 141498 226613

Accounts payable 198116 296094 133944
Deferred revenue 674101 440404 467309

Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 246879 2120876 690733
Other operating assets and liabilities 152221 293559 63395

Net cash used in operating activities 14758035 24193011 28911175

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 40000000 30000000 24117910

Purchases of available-for-sale securities 29989763 29986794 29911527
Proceeds from sale of equipment 50299 53550

Purchases of plant and equipment 130437 243868 206010
Sale of patent applications 2000000

Collection of receivable from sale of patent applications 2337475

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 9930099 2160363 3999627

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from sales of equity 11525236 18572655 46545177

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 719 141312 46562

Proceeds from employee stock purchases 48603 16933 286930

Treasury stock received to satisfy minimum tax withholding

requirements 54943 257681
Payments of series convertible preferred stock dividends 790500 790500 790500
Payments of long-term debt 6240963 255000 2930000

Net cash provided by financing activities 4543095 17630457 42900488

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 284841 4402191 9989686

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 20066817 24469008 14479322

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 19781976 20066817 24469008

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 1122473 1573906 2802858

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Issuance of senior secured convertible notes as payment in-kind for

interest 2615667 2418332 2235883

Issuance of note receivable for assignment of certain patent

applications 2619325

Issuance of common stock $0.01 par value as payment of long-term

debt including accrued and unpaid interest 10361920 14134189

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AGENUS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Description of Business

Agenus Iic formerly Antigenics Inc including its subsidiaries also referred to as Agenus the

Company we us and our is biotechnology company dvloping and commercializing tehnologies

to treat cancers and infectious diseases primarily based on immunological approaches Our most advanced

product Oncophage vitespen is patient-specific tberapeutic cancer vaccine registered for use in Russia As

resources allow we explore potential opportunities to seek product approval in other jirisdictions Our Prophage

Series of cancer vaccines has been tested in Phase clinical trials for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma the

most common type of kidney Cancer as Oncophage and for metastatic melanoma and it has also been tested in

Phase and Phase clinical trials in range of indications It is currently in Phase clinical trials in glioma

type of brain cancer and adjuvant renal cell carcinoma validating immune response Our product candidate

portfolio includes QS-21 Stimulon adjuvant or QS-21 which is used in nUmerous vaccines undef

development in trials some as advanced as Phase for variety of diseases including human

immunodeficfency virus cancer Alzheimer disease malaria and tuberculosis and HerpV therapeutic

vaccine program tested ma Phase clinical trial for the treatment of genital herpes Further clinical development

of HØrpY will be pursued if development partnership can be successfully established Our business activities

have included product research and development intellectual property prosecution manufacturing regulâtdry

and clinical affairs corporate finance and development activities market development and support of our

collaborations

Our.product candidates require clinical trials and approvals from regulatory agencies as well as acceptance

iii the marketplace Part of our strategy is to develop and commercialize some of our product candidates by

continuing our existing arrangements with academic and corporate collaborators and licensees and by entering

into new collaborations

We have incurred significant losses since our inception As of December 31 2010 we had an accumulated

deficit of $584.4 million Since our inception we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of

equity and convertible notes interest income earned on cash cash equivalents and short-term investment

balances and debt provided through secured lines of credit We believe that based on our current plans and

activities our wOrking capital resources as of December 31 2010 anticipated revenues and the estimated

proceeds from our license supply and collaborative agreements will be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity

requirements into 2012 We continue to monitor the likelihood of success of our key iniiiatives and are prepared

to discontinue funding of such activities if they do not prove to be feasible

Research and development program costs include compensation and other direct costs plus an allocation of

indirect costs based on certain assumptions and our review of the status of each program Our product

candidates are in various stages of development and significant additional expenditures will be required if we

start new trials encounter delays in our programs apply for regulatory approvals continue development of our

technologies expand our operations and/or bring our product candidates to market The eventual total cost of

each clinical trial is dependent on number of lactors such as trial design length of the trial number of cinipal

sites and number of patients The
process

of obtaining and maintaining regulatory approvals for new therapeutic

products is lengthy expensive and uncertain Because the development of our Prophage Series vaccines is

--1
subject to further evaluation and uncertainty and because HerpV is in early-stage clinical development and

requires partner for further development we are unable to reliably estimate the cost of completing research and

development programs the timing of bringing such programs to various markets and therefore are unable to

determine when if ever material cash inflows from operating activities are likely to commence We will

continue to adjust other spending as needed in order to preserve liquidity

As Df December 31 2010 we had debt outstanding of $34.9 million in principal including $34.7 million in

principal of our 8% senior secured convertible notes due August 2014 the 2006 Notes and$l00000 in
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principal of our 5.25% convertible senior notes due February 2025the 2005 Notes The 2005 Notes are

subject to redemption at the option of the holders or us beginning February 2012 We expect to attempt to raise

additional funds in advance of depleting our current funds We may attempt to raise funds by licensing

technologies or products to one or more collaborative partners renegotiating third party agreements

completing an outright sale of assets securing addition1 debt financing and/or selling additional

equity securities Satisfying long-ten liquidity needs may require the successful commercialization and/or

partndning arrangements for our products and rodudt candidates including Oncophage Herpv and vaccines

containing QS-21 under developinentby dun lidensees and will require dditional capital If we incur operating

losses for longerthan we expeci and/or we are unable to raise additional capital we may become insolvent and

be unable to continue our perations

Summary of SignificaiIt Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated fjnancia1 statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principled id include the accounts of Agenus and our wholly-owned subsidiaries All significant

intercompany transactions and accounts have been elurunated in consohdation Certam prior period amounts

have been retrospectively adjusted in order to conform to the current beriod presentation

Segment Information

We are managed and operated as One business The entire business is managed by single executive-

operating committee that reports to the chief executive officer We donot operate separate lines of business with

respect to any of our product candidates Accordingly we do not prepare discrete financial information with

respect to separate product areas or by location and do not have separately reportable segments as defined by

ASC 280 Segment Reporting

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the ieported amounts of assts and liabilities

and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consoidated financial statements and th

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period We base those estimates on historical

experience and on various assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results

could differ from those estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities at acquisition of three months or lesS to

be cash equivalents As of December 31 2010 and 2009 caih equivalents consist primarily money market

funds

Investments

We classify investments in marketable securitics at the time of purchase At ecember 31 2009 all

marketable securities are classified as avai1able1or-sale and as such the investments are recorded at fair value

Gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities are recognized in operations based on the specific

identification method At December 31 2010 our investments consisted of institutional money market funds and

at December 31 2009 U.S treasury bills
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potntially subject us to conŁentration of credit risk are primarily cash

equivalents investments and accounts receivable We invest our cash cash equivalents and investmetæs in

accordance with our Investment Policy which specifies high credit quality standards and limits the amount of

credit exposure from any single issue isÆuer or type of investment We carry balances in excess of fedprally

insured levels however we have not experienced any losses to date from thu practice Credit risk on accounts

receivable is minimized by the financial position of the entities with which we do business Credit losses from

our customers have been immaterial

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market Cost has been determined using standard costs that

approximate the first-in first-out method

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment including software developed for intemal use are carried at cost Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method over the estimated usefullives ofthe assets Amortization of leasehold

improvements is computed over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset Additions and

improvements are capitalized while repairs and maintenance are charged to cxpense as incurred Amortization

and depreciation of plant and equipment was $2.6 million $2.8 million and $3.3 million for the years ended

Lecember-3 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of all of our financial instruments excluding debt approximate theft carrying

amounts in the consolidated balance sheets As of December 31 2010 the fair value of our 2005 Notes was

estimated based on the most recent market transactions The fair value of our 2006 Notes exclusive of the

conversion option is based on present value methodology The outstanding principal amount of debt including

the current portion is $34.9 million and $52.2 million at 1iecember 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Revenue Recognition

Revenue for services under research and development contracts are recognized as the services are

performed or as clinical trial materials are provided Non-refundable milestone payments that represent the

completion of separate earnings process are recognized as revenue when earned License fees and royalties are

recognized as they are earned Revenue recognized from collaborative agreements is based upon the provisions

of ASC 605-25 Revenue Recognition Multiple-Element.Arrangements Product revenue is recognized as

product is shipped For the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 39% 51% and 68% respectively

of our revenue was earned from one research partner In addition 31% 32% and 27% of our revenue for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was earned from one of our licensees

Foreign Currency Transactions

Gains and losses from our euro based currency accounts and foreign currency transactions such as those

resulting from the translation and settlement of receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are

included in the consolidated statements of operations We do not currently use derivative financial instruments to

manage the risks associated with foreign cjirrency fluctuations We recorded foreign currency losses of $45000

$32000 and $378000 for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Such losses are

included as component of operating expenses

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include the costs associated with our intemal research and development

activities including salaries andbºnefits share-based compensation occupancy costs clinical manufacturing
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costs related administrative costs and research and development conducted for us by outside advisors such as

sponsored university-based research partners and clinical study partners We account for our clinical study costs

by estimating the totaj cost to reat patient in each clinical trial and recognizing this cot based on estimates of

when the atient receIvs treatment beginning when the patient enrolls in the trial Researh and development

expelises also ihelude the cost of clinical trial rnaterialg shipped to our research partners Research and

developMent costI are expdnsd as incurred

Share-Based Compensation

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 CompensationStock

Compensation and ASC 505-50 Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees Share-based compensation expense is

recognized based on the estimated grant date fair value and is recognized net of an estimated forfeiture rate such that

we recognize compensation cost for those shares expected to vest Compensation cost is rçcognized on straight-line

basis over the requisite service period of the award See Note 10 for further discussion on share-based compensation

Income Taxes

-IncoMe taxes are accounted for under the assetand liability niethod with deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differenes between the financial statement carrying

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and net operating loss and tax credit

carryforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to

taxable income in the years in which such items are expected to be reversed or settled The effect on deferred tax

assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the

period that includes the enactment date Deferred tax assets are recorded when they more likely than not are

expectedto be realized

Net Loss Per Share

Basic iticome and loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common

stockholders by the weighted average number of commOn shares outstanding including common shares issuable

under our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan Diluted income per common share is calculated by dividing

net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding

including common shares issuable under our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan plus the dilutive effect of

outstanding instruments such as warrants stock optiOns- nonvested shares convertible preferred stock and

convertible notes Because we have reported net loss attributable to common stockholders for all annual periods

presented diluted loss per common share is the samO as basic loss per common share as the effect of utilizing

the fully diluted share count would have reduced the netloss per conunon share Therefore shares underlying the

warrants ovtstanding or issuable to acquire 19856302 thàres the outstanding stock options to acquire 7272850

shares the 513449 nonvested shares the 2000000 common shares underlying the 31620 outstanding shares of

series convertible preferred stock and the impact of conversion of our 2005 Notes and our- 2006 Notes are not

included in the calculation of diluted net loss per common share

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill rŁresŁnts the exºes of cost over the fair value of net assets Of busineses acquired Goodwill is

not amortized but Instead tested for impairment at least annually Intangible assets with estimable useful lives

are amortized oVer their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values and reviewed for

impairment as deemed necessary

Annually we assess whether there is an indication that goodwill is impaired or more frequently if events

and circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired during the year We perform our ahnual impairment

test as of October 31 of each year We consider urselves single reporting unit for purposes of the.impairment

test We determine our fair value using the quoted market price of our common stock adjusted for certain
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factors and compare it to our net book value at the date of our evaluation To the extent our net book value

exceeds the fair value there is an indication that the reporting unit goodwill may be impaired and second step

of the impairment test is performed to determine the amount of the impairment to be recognized if any

The costs of core and developed technology are presented at their estimated fair value as of their acquisition

date These costs were being amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retirement obligation as liability in the period in which we incur

legal obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition

construction development and/or normal use of the assets legal obligation is liability that party is required

to settleas result of an existing or enacted law statute ordinance or contract We are also required to record

corresponding asset that is depreciated over the life of the asset Subsequent to the initial measurement of the

asset retirement obligation the obligation will be adjusted at the end of each period to refleCt the passage of time

accretion and changes in the estimated futue cash flows underlying theobligation Changes in the liability due

to accretion are charged to the consolidated statement of operations whereas changes due to the timing or

amount of cash flows are an adjustnient to the carrying amount of the related asset Our asset retirement

.- obligations primarily relate to the expiration of our facility leases and anticipated costs to be incurred based on

our lease terms

Long-lived Assets

Recoverability of assets to be held and used other than goodwill and intangible assets not being amortized

is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows

expected to be generated by the asset If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future

undiscounted cash flows an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of

the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset Authoritative guidance requires companies to separately report

discontinued operations and extends that reporting to component of an entity that either has been disposed of

by sale abandonment or in distribution to owners or is classified as held for sale Assets to be disposed of are

reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the FASB revised authoritative guidance on multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements

providing greater ability to separate and allocate arrangement consideration in multiple-deliverable revenue

arrangement by requiring the use of estimated selling prices to allocate arrangement consideration if neither

vendor-specific objective evidence nor third party evidence of selling price is available thereby eliminating the

use of the residual method of allocation The revised guidance also requires expanded qualitative and quantitative

disclosures surrounding multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements This guidance is effective for fiscal years

beginning after June 15 2010 and may be applied retrospectively or prospectively fornew or materially modified

arrangements Early adoption is permitted We will evaluate the impact of this standard on future revenue

arrangements that we may enter into

In April 2010 the FASB codified the consensus reached in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No 08-09

Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition by issuing Accounting Standard Update ASU No 2010-17

Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition to limit the
scope

of this ASU to research or development

arrangements and require that guidance in this ASU be met for an entity to apply the milestone method which

allows entities to record the milestone payment in its entirety in the period achieved However the FASB

clarified that even if the requirements in this ASU are met entities would not be precluded from making an

accounting policy election to apply another appropriate accounting policy that results in the deferral of some

portion of the arrangement consideration The ASU was effective for .periods beginning on or after June 15

2010 Early application was permitted Entities can apply this guidance prospectively to milestones achieved
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after adoption However retrospeÆtive application to all prior periods was also permitted We will evaluate the

impact of this standard on future revenue arrangements that we may enter into

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 20 10-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic

820Improving Dtcclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 20 10-06 ASU 20 10-06 requires new

disclosures regarding significant transfers in and out of Levels and fair value measurements as well as

information about activity in Level fair value measurements including presenting information about purchases

sales issuances and settlements on ross versus net basis in the Level activity roll forward In addition

ASU 20 10-06 also clarifies existing disclosures regarding input and valuation techniques as well as the level of

disaggregation for each class of assts and liabilities ASU No 2010-06 was effective for interim and annual

periods beginning after December 15 2009 except for the disclosures pertaining to purchases sales issuances

and settlements in the roll forward of Level activity those disclosures are effective for interim and annual

periods beginning after December 15 2010 The adoption of ASU 2010-06 had no current impact and is expected

to have no subsequent impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

Required disclosure requirements of ASU 2010-06 have been included in Note 15

In December 2010 theFASB issued additional guidance on when to perform Step of the goodwill

impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts The criteria for evaluating Step of

the goodwill impairment test and proceeding to Step was amended for reporting units with zero or negative

carrying amounts and requires performing Step if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that

goodwill impairment exists This guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years

beginning after December 15 2010 Upon adoption of the amended guidance any impainnent will be recorded

as an adjustment to beginning retained earnings We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our

consolidated financial statements

Inventories

The components of inventories are as follows as of December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

2010 2009

Work in process $242

Finished goods 26 82

$26 $324

Investments

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

Cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following as of December 31 2010 and 2009

in thousands

2010 2009

Estimated Estimated

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Institutional money market funds $19782 $19782 $19468 $19468

U.S treasury bills 9998 9998

$19782 $19782 $29466 $29466

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities amounted to 40.0 million $30.0 million and

$24.1 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively No available-for-sale
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securities were sold before their maturity in 2010 2009 or 2008 Gross realized gains and gross realized losses

included in net loss as result of those maturities were immaterial for each of the years in the three-year period

ended December 31 2010 As result of the short-term nature of our investments there were no unrealized

holding gains or losses as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Of the investments listed above $19.8 million and $19.5 million have been classified as cash equivalents on

our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Approximately $10.0 million

were classified as short-term investments as of December 31 2009

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment as Qf December 31 2010 and 2009 consists of the following in thousands

Estimated

Depreciable

2010 2009 Lives

Fumiture fixtures and Other 1649 1648 to 10 years

Laboratory and manufacturing equipment 5546 6817 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements 18218 22778 to 12 years

Software and computer equipment 5774 6070 years

Construction in progress 191

31187 37504
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 24993 28613

6194 8891

During the year ended December 31 2010 plant and equipment with net book value of approximately

$155000 was retired from service and disposed

Other Intangible Assets

The following table presents certain information on our intangible assets as of December 31 2010 and 2009

in thousands

Weighted
As ofDecember 312010 As of December 312009

Average Gross Net Gross Net
Amortization Carrying Impairment Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Period Amount Charge Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Amortizing intangible

assets

Core and developed

technology 10 years $11073 $630 $10443 $11073 $9753 $1320

Our intangible assets were being amortized over theft estimated useful lives of 10 years with nO estimated

residual values Amortization expense related to core and developed technology was $690000 $1.1 million and

$1.1 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively As further develcipment of Aroplatin liposomal

chemotherapeutic tested in Phase clinical trial for the treatment of solid malignancies and B-cell lymphomas
was discontinued we determined that an impairment had occurred and accordingly recorded loss of

approximately $630000 during the
year

ended December 31 2010 representing the net carrying value of the

intangible asset related to liposomal technology at the time development was discontinued This impairment

charge is included in research and development expenses
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Income Taxes

We axe subject to taxation in the U.S and various state local and foreign jurisdictions We remain subject

to examination by U.S Federal stateIocal and foreign tax authorities for tax years 2007 through 2010 With

few exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S Federal state local and foreign examinations by tax authorities

for the tax year 2006 and prior However net operating losses from the tax year 2006 and prior would be subject

to examination if and when used in future tax return to offset taxable income Our policy is to recognize income

tax related penalties and interest if any in our provision for income taxes and to the extent applicabte in the

corresponding income tax assets and liabilities including any amounts for uncertain tax positions

As of December 31 2010 we have available net operating loss cariyforwards of $481.8 million and $120.7

million for Federal and state income tax purposes respectively which are available to offset future Federal and

state taxable income if any and expire between 2011 and 2030 Our ability to use these net operating losses is

limited by change of control próvisidns under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and may expire unused In

addition we have $7.9 million and $6.4 million of Federal and state research and development credits

respectively available to offset future taxable income These Federal and state research and development credits

expire betweeb 2012 and 2030 and 2015 and 2025 respectively The potential impacts of such provisions are

among the items considered and reflected in managements assessment of our valuation allowance requirements

The tax effect of temporary differences and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.that give rise to

significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of December 31 2010 and 2009 are

presented below in thousands

2010 2009

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards 170171 167263

Research and development tax credits 12122 12929

Other 13042 13618

Total deferred tax assets 195335 193810

Less valuation allowance 195052 192292

Net deferred tax assets 283 1518

Deferred tax liabilities 283 11518

Netdeferred.tax

In assessing the realizablility of deferred tax assets we consider whether it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the net operating loss and

tax credit carryforwards can be utilized or the temporary differences become deductible We consider projected

future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment In order to fully realize the deferred

tax asset we will need to generate future taxable income sufficient to utilize net operating losses prior to their

expiration Based upon our history of not generating taxable income due to our business activities focused on

product development we believe that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized

through future earnings Accordingly valuation allowance has been established for deferred tax assets which

will not beoffset by the reversal of deferred tax liabilities The yah ation allowance on the deferred tax assets

increased by $2.8 million during the year ended December 31 2010 and decreased $3.4 million during the ye
ended December 31 2009 The net operating loss includes amounts pertaining to tax deductiqns relating to stock

exercises for which any subsequently recognized tax benefit will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in

capital
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Income tax benefit was nil for each of the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and differed

from the amounts computed by applying the U.S Federal income tax rate of 34% to loss before income taxes as

result of the following in thousands

2010 2009 2008

Computed expected Federal tax benefit $745 $10308 10472

Increase reduction in income taxes benefit resulting from

Change in valuation allovance 2760 3415 5311

Increase due to uncertain tax positions 67 241 4615

State and local income benefit net of Federal income tax benefit 534 1498 1799
Net operating loss expirations 4363 14759

Other net 795 221 2345

As of December 31 -2010 and 2009 our gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $5.4 and $5.3 million

respectively These unrecognized tax benefits would all impact the effective tax rate if recognized There are no

positions which we anticipate could change within the next twelve months

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in

thousands

Balance December 31 2009 $5349
Increase related to current year positions 62

Increase related to previously recognized positions 18

Balance December 31 2010 $5429

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following as of December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

2010 2009

Payroll $1086 155

Professional fees 888 915

Clinical contractors 89 295

Accrued interest 437

Other 620 795

$2685 $2597

Equity

Our authorized capital stock consists of 250000000 shares of $0.01 par
value

per share of common stock

and 25000000 shares of preferred stock $0.01 par
value per share Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue

.11
the preferred stock and to set the voting conversion and other rights

In private placement in September 2003 we sold 31620 shares of our series convertible preferred stock

par value $0.01 per share for net proceeds of $31.6 million Under the terms and conditions of the Certificate of

Designation creating the series convertible preferred stock this stock is convertible by the holder at any time

into our common stock is non-voting carries 2.5% annual dividend yield has an initial conversion price of

$15.81 per common share subject to adjustment and is redeemable by us at its face amount $31.6 million on or
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after September24 2013 The Certificate of Designation does not contemplate sinking fund The series

convertible preferred stock ranks senior to our common stock In liquidaflon dissolution or winding up of the

Company the series convertible preferred stocks liquidation preference must be fully satisfied before any

distribution could be made to the holders of the common stock Other than in such liquidation no terms of the

setie convertible preferiŁstock affect our ability to declare or pay dividends on our common stock as long as

the series convertible preferred stocks dividends are accruing The liquidation value of this series

convertible preferred stock is equal to $1000 per share outstanding plug anyaccruedunpaid dividends Accrued

and Unpaid dividends of the series convertible preferred stock aggregated $197625 or $6.25 per share at

December 31 2010

On September 10 2007 we issued 1623377 shares of our common stock at price of $3.08 per share to

single institutional investor In conjunction with this transaction we also issued to the investor 10000 shares of

our new series convertible preferred stock and 5250 shares of our new series B2 convertible preferred stock

Shares of the series convertible preferred stock permitted the investor within one year of the anniversary of

closing to purchase up to an additional $10.0 million of common shares at purchase price equal to the lesser of

$3.08 per share or price calcultited baled on tIle then-prevailing price of our cOmmon stock minus$0.30 per

share Gross proceeds .of $5.0 million were received as aTcsult of this transiction Net proceeds after deducting

the placement agent fees and offering expenses paid by us were $4.7 million The class convertible preferred

stock has been recorded as an equity classified instrument in accordance with the applicable authoritative

guidance In April 2008 we issued 1585197 shares of our common stock upon conversion of 10000 shares of

our series convertible preferred stock via cashless conversion These shares were issued pursuant to an

effective shelf registration statement Shares of the series B2 convertible preferred stock pennit the investor to

purchase common shares for consideration of up to 35 percent of the total dollar amount previously invested

pursuant to the agreement with the investor including conversions pf the series convertible preferred stock at

purchase price equal to the lesser of $4.16 per common share or price calculated based on the then-prevailing

price of ourcommon stock and such right expires seven years from the date of issuance In April 2009 we

issued 5929212 shares of our common stock upon conversion of 2145 shares of our series B2 convertible

preferred stock via cashless conversions Upon completion of the conversions 3105 shares of our series B2

convertible preferred stock are still outstanding although no further shares can be converted intq shares of

common stock as the maximum number of shares as defined in the agreement have been issued The total

number of shares of common stock issued or isàdable to the holder of the class convertible pEŁferred stock

cannot exceed 19.9% of our outstanding common stock No dividends are paid on the class convertible

preferred stock and there are no liquidation preferences

On January 2008 we entered into private placement agreement the January 2008 private placement

pursuant to which we sold 8708717 shares of common stock Investors also received 10-year warrants to

purchase at an exercise price of $3.00 per share up to 8708717 shares of common stock and ii unit warrants

to purchase at an exercise price of $3.00 per unit contingent upon triggering event as defined in the January

2008 private placement documents up to 8708717 shares of common stock and additional 10-year

warrants to purchase at an exercise price of $3.00 per share up to 8708717 additional shares of common stock

We raised net proceeds in the January 2008 private placement of $25.8 million after deducting offering costs of

$296000

In accordance with the terms of the Jahuary 2008 private placement the 10-year warrants became

exercisable for period of 9.5 years as of July 2008 Our private placement in April 2008 qualified as

triggering event and therefore the unit warrants became exercisable for period of eighteefl months as of July

2008 The unit warrants expired unexercised in January 2010

In February 2008 we filed registration statement covering the resale of the 8708717 shares of common

stock issued and the 8708717 shares issuable upon the exercise of the 10-year warrants issued in the January

2008 private placement The Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC declared the resale registration

statement effective on February 14 2008
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On April 2008 we entered into private placement agreement the April 2008 private placement
under which we sold 7000000 shares of common stock and ii five-year warrants to acquire up to 7000000

shares of common stock at an exercise price of $3.75 per share for $3.00 for each share and warrant sold The

warrants became exercisable for period of 4.5 years as of October 10 2008 We raised net proceeds in the April

2008 private placement of $19.7 million after deducting offering costs of $1.3 million

In April 2008 we filed registration statement covering the resale of the 7000000 shares of common stock

issued and the 7000000 shares issuable upon the exercise of the related warrants issued in the April 2008private

placement The SEC declared the resale registration statement effective on May 2008

On July 30 2009 we entred into private placement agreement under which we issued and sold

5000000 shares of our comthon stock ii six-month warrants to purchase up 50O000 additional shares

of common stock at an eçercise price of $2.00 per share and iiifour-year warrants to pirchase up to 2173900

a4ditional shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.30 per sharefor $2.00 for each share sold

generating gross proceeds of $10.0 million The six-month warrants expired unexercised January 2010.

Subsequently we filed aud the SEC declared effective registration statement covering the resale of the

5000000 shares of common stock issued and the 4673900 shares issuable upon the exercise of the related

warrants issued in this private placement

On August 2009 we entered into private placement agreement undeiwhich we issued and old

4385965 shares of our common stock ii six-month warrants to purchae up to 2192982 additional shares

of common stock at an exercise price of $2.31 per share and iiifour-year warrants to purchase up to 1973685

additional shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.50 per share for $2.28 for each share sold

generating gross proceeds of $10.0 million The warrants were not exercisable for the firsi six months following

the dosing which occurred on August 2009 The six-month warrants expired unexercised in July 2010

Subsequently we filed and the SEC declared effective registration statement covering the resale of the

4385965 shares of our common stock issued and th 4166667 shares issuable upon the exercise of the related

warrants issued in this private placement In connection with the two private placements during 2009 we raised

net proceeds of $j8.6 million after deducting offering cost of $1.4 million

As part of all private placement agreements we agreed to register the shares of common stock and the

shares of common stock uiiderlying the warrants with the exception of the unit warrants from the January 2008

private placement issued to the investors with the SEC within contractually specified time periods As noted

above we filed registrÆtioh statements covering all required shares We have also agfeØd to use our best efforts to

keep the registration statements continuously effective If we are unable to keep the registration statements

continuously effeetive in accordance with thd terms of the private placements we are subject to liquidated

damages of up to maximum of 10% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the original investors or up to $3.8

million as of December 31 2010

In April 2008 we issued and sold total of 271762 shares of our common stock through our placement

agent Wm Smith Co and raised net proceeds of $804000 after deducting offering costs of $38000 in at the

market transactions Proceeds from the offering were used for general corporate purposes During the year ended

December 31 2010 we issued approximately 6.8 million shares of our common stock under an At the Market

Sales Agreement through our sales agents McNicoll Lewis Viak LLC and Wm Smith Co and raised net

proceeds of approximately $8.6 million after deducting offering costs of approximately $325000 These

--
offerings were made under effective shelf registration statements Approximately 13 million shares remain

available for sale under this agreement

On December 13 2010 we entered into subscription agreements under which we issued and sold 3199451

shares of our common stock for the aggregate purchase price of $2879506 Additionally within 90 calendar

days of the date of the subscription agreements the investors have the right and option to purchase up to an

additional 639890 shares of our common stock for the aggregate purchase price of up to $575901 The offçring

and sale of these common shares were made under an effective shelf registration statement

67



During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 certain employees in lieu of paying withholding

taxes on the vesting of nonvested stock awarded under our 1999 Equity Incentive Plan as amended the 1999

EIP authorized the withholding of an aggregate of 117913 and 137078 shares respectively of common stock

to satisfy the minimum tax withholding requirements related to such vesting We recorded these shares as

treasury stock using the cost method at the market price of the common stock on the vesting dates

10 Share-based Compensation Plans

Our 1999 EIP authorized awards of incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the

-- Internal Revenue Code the Code non-qualified stock options nonvested restricted stock and unrestricted

stock for up to 12000000 shares of common stock subjeŁt to adjustment for stock splits and similar
capi\tal

changes and exclusive of options exchanged at the consummation of mergers to eMployees and in the cake of

non-qualified stock options nonvested restricted stock and unrestricted stock to consultants and direciois as

defined in the 1999 EIP The plan terminated on November 15 2009 On March 12 2009 our Board of Iiirectors

adopted and on June 10 2009 our stockholders approved our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan the 20 ElThe

2009 EIP provides fdr the grant of incentive stock options intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code

nonstatutory stock options restricted stock unrestricted stock and other equity-based award such as stock

appreciation rights phantom stock awards and restricted stock units which we refer collectiiely as Awards for

up to 13000000 shares of our common stock subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits and othçr similar

events The Board of Directors appointed the Compensation Committee to administer the 1999 EIP and the 2099

EIP

Under the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Planas amended the 1999 ESPP eligible employees

purchased shares of common stock at discount from fair value There were 450009 shares of common stock

reserved foiissuance under the 1999 ESPP The 1999 ESPP which terminated on November 15 2009 was

intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of Sectioti 423 of the Code Oil

March 122009 our Board of Directors adopted and on June 10 2009 our stockholders approved the 2009

Employee Stock Purchase Plan the 2009 ESPP to provide eligible employees the
opportunity to acquire our

common stock in program also designed to comply with Section 423 of the Code There are 500000 shares of

common stock reserved for issuance under the 2009 ESPP subject to adjustment as defined in the plan Rights to

purchase common stock under the 2009 ESPP are granted at the discretion of the Ccumpensation Committee

which determines the frequency and duration of individual offerings under the planand thç dates when stock may
be purchased Eigible employees participate voluntarily and may withdraw from any offering at anytime before

the stock is purchased Participation terminates automatically upon terrination of employnlent The purchase

price per
share of common stock in ati offering is 85% of the lesser of its fair value at the beginning of thQ

offering period or on the applicable exercise date and may be paid through payroll deductiofls periodic lump um
payments the delivery of our common stock or combination thereof Unless otherwise permittçd by the Board

of Directors no participant may acquire more than 20000 shares of stock in any offering period No participant

is allowed to purchase shares under tIle 2009 ESPP if such employee would own or would be deemed to own

stock possessing 5% or more of the total combined voting power or value of the Company No offerings will be

made under the 2009 ESPP after June 10 2019

Our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan as amended permits each outside director to deferall or a-

portion of their cash compensalion until their service as director ends or until specified date into cash

account or stock account There are 450000 shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under this plan

-1 As of December 31 2010 92946 shares have been issued Amounts deferred to cash acqount will earn interest

at the rate paid on one-year Treasury bills with interest added to the account annually Amounts deferred to

stock account will be converted on quarterly basis into number of units representing shares of our common

stock equal to the amount of compensation which the participant has elected to defS to the stock account divided

by the applicable price for our common stock The applicable price for our common stock has been defined as the

average
ofthe closing price of our common stock for all trading days during the calendar quarter preceding-the

conversion date as reported by The Nasdaq Capital Market Pursuant to this plan total of 426789 tinits each
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representing share of our common stock at weighted average common stock price ofi$186 have been

credited to participants stock accounts as of December 31 2010 The compensation charges for this plan were

immaterial for all periods presented

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value options granted to employees and non-employees

as well as options granted to members of our Board of Directors All stock option grants have 10-year terms and

generally vest ratably over four-year period The non-cash charge to operations for the non-ethployee options

with vesting or other performance criteria is affected each reporting period until the non-employee options vest

by changes in the fair value of our common stock

The fair value of each optioh granted during the periods was estimated on the date of grant using the

following weighted average assumptions

Expected volatility 104% 94% 71%

Expected term in years

Risk-free interest rate 2.1% 2.7% 2.8%

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility is based exclusively on historical volatility data of our common stock The expected

term of stock options granted is based on historical data and other factors and represents the period of time that

stock options are expected to be outstanding prior to exercise The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S

Treasurystrips with maturities that match the expected term on the date of grant

ummary of option activity for 2010 is presented below

Weighted

Average

Weighted Remaining

Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Term Intrinsic

Options Price in years Value

Outstanding at December 31 2009 6148621 $2.93

Granted 2021700 0.80

Etercised 958 0.75

Forfeited 281989 1.60

Expired 614524- 4.69

Qutstanding at December 31 2010 7272850 $2.24 7.1 $456372

Vested or expected to vest at December 31
2010 7028559 $2.28 7.1 $408652

Exercisable at December 31 2010 4686716 $2.76 6.6 $130898

The weighted average pant-date fair values of options granted during the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 was$0.61 -1.21 and $1.03 respectively

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between our closing stock price on

the last trading day of fiscal 2010 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of in-the-money options that

would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31

2010 the intrinsic value is considered to be zero if the exercise price is greater than the closing stock price This

amount changes based on the fair market value of our stock The total intrinsic value of options exercised during

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 determined on the dates of exercise was $0 and $54000

and $21000 respectively
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During 2010 2009 and 2008 all options were granted with exercise prices equal to the market value of the

underlying shares of common stock on the grant date

As of December 31 2010 $1.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options

granted to employees and directors is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.6 years

As of December 31 2010 unrecognized expense for options granted to outside advisors for which

performance vesting has not yet been completed but the exercise price of the option is known is $64000 Such

amount is subject to change each reporting penod based upon changes in the fair value of our common stock

expected volatility and the risk-free interest rate until the outside advisor completes his or her performance

under the option agreement

Certain employees and consultants have been granted nonvested stock The fair value of nonvested stock is

calculated based on the closing sale price of our common stock on the date of issuance

summary of nonvested stock activity for 2010 is presented below

Weighted

Average
Nonvested Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31 2009 200029 $1.13

Granted 1949844 0.81

Vested 1589249 0.88

Forfeited 47175 1.08

Outstanding at December 31 2010 513449 0.77

As of December 31 2010 there was $295000 of unrecognized share-based compensation expense related

to these nonvested shares This cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.8
years

The total intrinsic yalue of shares vested during the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $1.6

million $1.5 million and $1.3 million respectively

Cash received from option exercises and purchases under our 1999 ESPP and our 2009 ESPP collectively

the ESPPs for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $49000 $158000 and $333000

respectively We issue new shares upon option exercises purchases under our ESPPs vesting of nonyested stock

and under the Directors Deferred Compensation Plan During the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 89725 shares 41300 shares and 171113 shares were issued under the ESPPs respectively During the

year ended December 31 2010 1585902 shares were issued as result of the vesting of nonvested stock

During the year ended December 31 2009 2221176 shares net of 117913 shares withheld to cover personal

income tax withholding were issued as result of the vesting of nonvested stock During the year
ended

December 31 2008 629912 shares net of 137078 shares withheld to cover personal income tax withholding

were issued as result of the vesting of nonvested stock The shares withheld were recorded as treasury stock

using the cost method at weighted average prices of 0.47
per

share and $1.88 pcr
share during the years çnded

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively based on the closing sale price of our common stock on the vesting

dates for total of approximately $55000 and $258000 respectively

For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 15376 shares and 61938 sharesrespectively were

issued under our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan No shares were issued during the year
ended

December 31 2010
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The impacton our results of operations from share-based compensation for the years ended December 31

201Q 2Q09 and 2008 was as follows iii thousands

2010 2009 2008

.esarch and development $1058 864 $1517

General and administrative 2094- 2267 4065

Total share-based compensation expense $3152 $3131 $5582

11 License Research and Other Agreements

In November 1994 we entered into Patent License Agreement with the Mount Sinai School of Medicine

or Mount Sifli the Mount Sinai Agreement Through the MoUnt SiriaiAgreement we obtained an exclusisie

worldwide license to patent rights relating to the heat shock brotein technology that resulted from the research

and deVelopment performed by Dr Pramod Srivastava our foundin scientist and former menibet of our Board

of Directors We agreed to pay Mount Sinai aroyaltioii the netsales Of products coVered by the licensed patent

rights and also provided Mdunt Sinai with 0.45% quity interest in the Cônipaæy approximately 62000 shares

valued

at $90000 at the time of issuance The term of thrMoUntSinai Aeement ends whenthe lasi of the

licensed patents expires 2018 or becomes no longer valid If we fail to pay royalties that are due urthe
agreement Mount Sinai may issue written notice to us If we continue to fail to pay royalties after 60 days from

receift of the written notice Mount Sinai can terminate the grement The Mount Sinai Agreement requires us

to use due dihgnce to make thbprodücts coveted b3 the liCensed patent rights commercially aVailble including

requirement for us to Use best efforti to reach number of devØlopmeiital milestones which have been

achieved If we fail to Oomly with the due diligence provisions Of the agrCethent Mount Sinai could take aciions

to convert out exclusi\e license to non-exclUsive liCense after six nionthswritten notida The Mount Sinai

Agreement does not contain
any

milestone payment provisions

During 1995.Dr Srivastava moved his research to Fordham University Fordham We entered into

sponsored research and technologylicense agreement with Fordhamthe Fordham Agreement in March 1995

relating to the continded development of the heat shock protein technology and agreed to make payments to

Fordham tO sponsor Dr Srivastavas research Through the Fordham Agreement we obtained an exclusive

perpetual worldwide license to all of the intellectual property including all the patent rights which resulted from

the tesearch and development performed by-Dr Srivastava at Fordhani We also agreed to pay .Fordham royalty

on the net sales of products covered bythe Fordham Agreement through the last expiration date on the patents

under the agreement 2018 or when the patents become no longer valid The agreenient does not contain any

milestone payment provisions or any diligence provisions Dr Srivastava moved his research to the University of

ConnecticutHealth Center UConn during 1997 and accordingly the parts of the agreement related to

payments for sponsored research at FOrdham terminated in mid-1997 During the term of the agreement we paid

$2.4 million to Fordham.

We entered into license agreement withUConn in ay ZOOl the LicenseAgreement that provides us

with the exclusive worldwide rights to technoogiçs discovered and developed under the research agreement

The term of the License 4greement ends when the last of the licensed patents expires 2019 or becomes no

longer valid UConn may terminate the License Agreement l3if after 30 days written notice for breach we

continue to fail to make any payments due under the License Agreement or we cease to carry on our business

related to the patent rights or if we initiate or conduct actions in order to declare bankruptcy We may terminate

the License Agreement upon 90 days written notice The License Agreement cpntalns aggregate milestone

payments of 1.2 million .tyr each product wç develop covered by the licensed patent rights These milestone

payments are contingent upon regulatory ljligsjiegulatory approvals and commercial sales of products .We

have also agreed to pay t-iConn roynity on the iet sales of products covered by the License Agreement as well

as annu4 licensernaintenance fees begjnning in May2006 Royalties otherwise due on the net sales of prqducts

coverFd by the License Agreement may be credited against the annual license maintenance fee obligations To

date we have paiçl $240000 to UConn under the License Agreement The License Agrqement gives us complete
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discretion over the commercialization of products covered by the licensed patent rights but also requires us to

use commercially reasonable diligent efforts to introduce commercial products within and outside the United

States If we fail to meet these diligence requirements UConn may be able to terminate the License Agreement

In March 2003 we entered into an amendment agreement that amended certain provisions of the Liceilse

Agreement The amendment agreement granted us license to additional patent rights In consideration for

execution of the amendment agreement we agreed to pay UConn an upfront payment and to make future

payments for licensed patents or patent applications Through December 31 2010 we have paid approximately

$100000 to UConn under the License Agreement as amended

We have entered into various agreements with institutions and contract research organizations to conduct

clinical studies Under these agreements subject to the enrollment of patients and performance by the institution

of certain services we have esthnated our payments to be $47.2 million over the term of the studies For the

years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 $361000 $170000 and $123000 respectively have been

expensed in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations related to these clinical studies Through

December 31 2010 $46.3 million of this estimate has bees paid The timing of our expense recognition and

future payments related to these agreements is dçpendent on the enrollment of patients and documentation

received from the institutions

We have various comprehensive agreements
with collaborative partners that allow for the pse

of QS-21 an

investigational adjuvant used in numerous vaccines under development for variety of diseases including but

not limited to hepatitis HIV influenza pancer Alzheimers disease malaria and tuberculosis These

agreements grant exclusive worldwide rights in some fields of use and co-exclusive or non-exclusive rights in

others The agreements call for royalties to be paid to us by the collaborative partner on the future sales of

licensed vaccines that include QS-21

On July 2006 we and GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA GSKentered into an expanded license

agreement the GSK License Agreement and an expanded Manufacturing Technology Transfer and Supply

Agreement the 2006 GSK Supply Agreement for the use of QS-21 Under the terms of the agreements we

agreed to supply QS-21 to GSK through 2014 In addition we agreed to transfer manufacturing technologies

under the 2006 OSK Supply Agreement In conjunction with the GSK License Agreement and the 2006 GSK

Supply Agreement we received $3.0 million upfront non-refundable payment in July 2006 In February 2007

we received and recorded $2.0 million as revenue as result of the achievement of milestone related to the

transfer of manufacturing technologies to GSK

On July 20 2007 we executed letter the GSK Letter with GSK amending the 2006 GSK Supply

Agreement to accelerate GSKs commercial grade QS-21 manufacturingrights previously granted in July 2006

On January 16 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated Manufacturing Technology Transfer and Supply

Agreement the Amended GSK Supply Agreement reflecting the provisions of the letter Accordingly from

the effective date of the GSK Letter GSK has the right to manufacture all of its requirements of commercial

grade QS-21 In addition the parties have amended their purchase and supply obligations with respect to

pre-commercial grade QS-2 In accordance with the terms of the Amended GSK Supply Agreement upon our

election 05K is obligated to supply us or our affiliates licensees or customers certain quantities of

commercial grade QS-2l for stated period of time

As consideration for our entering into the GSK Letter we received $2.0 millionupfront non-refundable

payment from GSK in August 2007 in lieu of milestone payment that would have otherwise been payable

under th 2006 GSK Supply Agreement In addition GSK is obligated to make payments to us totaling $5.25

million through December 2012 of which $3.5 million has been received for manufacturing profits that were

anticipated to have otherwise been earned under the 2006 GSK Supply Agreement Except as expressly provided

in the Amended OSK Supply Agreement all other financial obligations of GSK under the 2006 OSK Supply

Agreement including royalty payments remain unchanged The Amended GSK Supply Agreement does not
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affect the rights and obligations of the parties under the GSK License Agreement We are entitled recive

royalties on the net sales for period of at least 10 years after the first commercial sale of resulting 05K

product

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we recognized revenue of $1.3 million each

year related to payments received under our license and supply agreements with OSK Deferred revenue of $3.6

million related to our agreements with 05K is included in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheet as

of December 31 2010

Effective

September 14 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated License Agreement Amended
License Agreement with ElanCorporation plc and/or its affiliates Elan and Elan Pharmaceuticals Inc On

Septetber 17 2009 the Amended License Agreement was assigned to JANSSEN Alzheimers Immunotherapy

subsidiary of Johnson Johnson Under the terms of the Amended License Agreement assigned to JANSSEN

Alzheimer Immunotherapy they will have the right to develop make have made use sell offer for sale import

and have sold the Alzheimers disease vaccine that contains QS-21 the Licensed Product In addition

pursuant to the terms of the Amended License Agreement JANS SEN Alzheimer Immunotherapy has the right to

manufacture all of its requirements of QS-21 for tise in the Licensed Product and we have no further supply

obligations To date we have received $1.5 million in upfront and milestone paments under this agreement and

are entitled to receive future payments contingent upon successful milestone achievements In addition we are

entitled to receive royalties on country-by-country basis on net sales of the Licensed Product for period of at

least 10 years after first commercial sale in that country Deferred revenue of $1.3 million related to this

Amended License Agreement is included in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheet as of

December 31 2010

12 Certain Related Party Transactions

In March 1995 we entered into consulting agreement with Dr Pramod Srivastava our founding scientist

and former member of our Board of Directors and upon its expiration in March 2006 we entered into new

consulting agreement effective March 28 2006 with Dr Srivastava The agreement with Dr Srivastava has an

initial term of five years and is autoMatically extended for successive terms of one year unless either party

notifies the other at least 90 days prior to the expiration of the original or any extension tdim that the agreement

is hot to be extended The agreement ma be terniipated withoUt caÆse by us during its terni subject to the

payment df compensation for twelve months at the then current rate provided for under the ajreement In

exchange for thetimely performance of services as defined in the agreement Dr Srivastava entitled to receive

compensation to be established by the Compensation Committee of the Agenus Board of Directors During the

year ended December 31 2009 we paid Dr Srivastava an additional $50000 for his work related to our

marketing authorization applióation shbmitted to the European Medicines Agency

On January 2008 we entered into the January 2008 private placement that included 8708717 shares

of common stock ii warrants to acquire up to 8708717 shares of common stock at $3.00 per share and

iiiunit warrants which if exercisable due to triggering event as that term isdefined inthe applicable warrant

permit holder to acquire up to 8708717 shares of commOn stock at $3.00 per share and additional
ten-year

warrants to acquire up to an additional 87087 17 shares of common stock at $100 persharU In conjunction with

this private placement we sold 542050 shares of common stock to Garo if Armen Ph.D ourChairman and

Chief Executive Officer and 1166667 shares of common stock to Armen Partners LP Garo Arthen is

general

partner of Armen Partners LP and owns controlling interest therein In addition to the common stock

acquired by Garo Armen and Armen Partners LP each acquired all equal number of both warrants and unit

warrants The unit warrants expired unexercised on January 2010

13 Leases

We lease mahufacturing research and development and office facilities ijnder various long-term lease

arrangements Rent
expense before sublease income was $2.6 million $2.9 million and $2.9 million for the

years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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We lease 162000 square foot facility in Lexington Massachusetts We currently occupy 94000 square

feet of this facility The future minimum rental payments under our leases of our New York City facility which

expires in 2012 and our Lexingion headquarters which ecjfres in 2013 are as follows in thousands

Year ending December 31

2011 $2224

2012 2141

2013 1406

Total $5771

In connec.tion with the Lexington facility we maintain fully collateralized letter of credit of $10 million

No amounts have been drawn on the letter of credit as of December 31 2010 In addition for the office space in

New York City we were required to deposit $161000 with the landlord as an interest-bearing security deposit

pursuant to ourobligations under the lease

We sublet portion of our Lexington and Framingham facilities and received rental payments of $1.1

million in 2010 For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we received sublease rental payments of $1.2

million

in each.period with respect to our subleased facilities We are conftactually entitled to receive rental

payments of $530000 and $309000 in 2011 and 2012 respectively

14 Debt

As of December 31 2010 we have $34.9 million in principal of debt outstanding $34.7 million due in 2014

2006 Notes $100000 due in 2025 2005 Notes and $146000 currently due

Convertible Notes2006 Notes

On October 30 2006 the Issuance Date we issued $25.0 millioiiof the 2006 Notes toa goqp of

accredited iflvestors Investors These 200 Notes bear interest at 8% an effective rate of 8.10% payable

semi-annually on December 30 andJune 30 in cash or at our option in additional notes ora combination thereof

and had an original maturity date of August 302011 During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 we issued additional 2006 Notes in the amount of $2.6 million $2.4 million and $2.2 million respectively

as payment for interest due

On November 11 2008 we entered into an Amendment of Rights Agreement with the m4jority holder of

our 2006 Notes The Amendment of Rights Agreement amended the definition of an Event of Default under the

2006 Notes to exclude the redemption and repurchase of up to $15 million of our 2005 Notes and modified

certain anti-dilutive tights of the holders of the 2006 Notes upon our issuanc and saje of certain yew securities

up to the aggregate dollar amount expended by us for the repurchase of the 2005 Notes On July 31 and August

2009 the majqrity holder of our 2006 Notes agreed to waive certain anti-dilutive rights of the holders of the 2006

Notes upon our issuance and sale of certain new securities up to the aggregate dollar amount expended by us for

the repurchase of the 2Q05 Notes during 2009 In connection with the waiver in August 2009 the fixed

conversion price was adjusted from $3.50 to $3.00 per share During 2010 the majority holder of our 2006 Notes

agreed to again waive certain anti-dilutive rjghts of the holders of the 2006 Notes upon our issuance and sale of

certain new securities up to the aggregate dollar amount expended by us for the repurchase of the 2005 Notes

during 2010

On February 23 2011 we entered into Ninth Amendment of Rights Agreement the Amendment to the

2006 Notes The Amendment extends the maturity date of the 2006 Notes to August 31 2014 and waives the

rights of the note holdØis to convert the 2006 Notes into our common stock The Amendment also removes

substantially all iŁstrictiOns on Cs incurring indebtedness subordinate
tothe

2006 Notes and substantially all
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restrictions to issue our common stock We have also agreed to waive our right to prepay these notes in the event

that our shares trade at weighted average price over $7.00 for 30-day period

As of December 31 2010 the 2006 Notes were convertible into our common stock at fixed conversion

price of $3.00 per share at the option of the Investors If prior to the original maturity date of these notes we

were to issue or sell or in accordance with the terms of the 2006 Notes we were deemed to have issued or sold

any shares of our common stock including the issuance or sale of shares of our common stock owned or held by

or for our account but excluding certain excluded securities for consideration per share of less than $3.00 the

New Issuance Price then immediately after such issuance the fixed conversion pnce then effect was to be

reduced to an amount equal to 16.66% premium to the New Issuance Price Effective with the Amendment tl4s

conversion provision is removed from the terms of the 2006 Notes The 2006 Notes can be converted into

an interest in one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries that holds the rights or patents to QS-2 and HerpV If

converted into an interest of this subsidiary the ownership interest in the subsidiary is determined by multiplying

the quotient of the conversion amount divided by $25.0 million by 30%

Prior to the Amendment at any time after October 30 2009 we were able to call the 2006 Notes and

accrued interest at face value for cash if our shares had minimum average trading price during the prior 30-day

period of $7.00 or higher This provision was removed with the Amendment If the Investors elect at any time to

convert the 2006 Notes into ownership of the subsidiary holding the rights or patents to QS-21 and HerpV we
have the right within 60 days to redeem the 2006 Notes including accrued interest at redemption price

providing 30-percent intemal rate of retum to the Investors The 2006 Notes ar secured by ouf equity

ownership in this subsidiary

Upon the maturity of the 2006 Notes we may elect to repay the outstanding balance in cash or in common

stock subject to certain limitations If we elect to satisfy the outstanding balance with common stock at maturity

the number of shares issued will be determined by dividing the cash obligation by 90 petcerit of the weighted

average price of the common shares for the 20 trading days preceding the maturity date of the 2006 Notes This

right is subject to our maiket capitalization exceeding $300 million at such time

In no event will any Investor be obligated to accept equity that would result in an InvStor owning in excess

of 9.99% of the Companys outstanding common stock at any given time in connection with any conversion

redemption or repayment of the 2006 Notes Prior to the Amendment the note agreements included material

restrictions on the Companys incurrence of debt and liens while the 2006 Notes were outstanding as well as

other customary covenants The Amendment removes substantially all restrictions on the Company incurring

indebtedness subordinate to the 2006 Notes The note agreements also include change of control provision

whereby the holders of the 2006 Notes could require us to redeem all or portion of the then outstanding 2006

Notes at price equal to 101% of the conversion amount being redeemed and right of first refusal provision for

the holders of the 2006 Notes on any sales of equity of the subsidiary holding thp rights or patents to QS-21 and

HerpV to purchase up to 50% of such sales of equity on the same terms as the third-party purchaser

Prior to the Amendment if we at any time on or after the Issuance Date subdivided by any stock split stock

dividend recapitalization or otherwise one or more classes of our outstanding shres of common stock into

greater number of shares the fixed conversion price in effect immediately prior to such subdivision would have

been proportionately reduced if we at any time on or after the Issuance Date combined by combination reverse

stock split or otherwise one or more classes of our outstanding sh res of common stock into smaller number

of shares the fixed conversion price in effect immediately prior to such combination would have been

proportionately increased If any event occurred of the type contemplated above but not expressly provided for

by such provisions including without limitation the granting of stock appreciation rights phantom stock rights

or other rights with equity features then our Board of Directors would have made an appropriate adjustment in

the fixed conversion price then in effect so as to protect the rights of the holders of the 2006 Notes provided that

no such adjustment would have increased the fixed conversion price then in effect as otherwise determined The

Amendment removes these provisions from the terms of the 2006 Notes
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Convertible Notes2005 Notes

On January 25 2005 we issued $50.0 million of our 2005 Notes Proceeds from the sale of the 2005 Notes

were approximately $48.0 million net of issuance costs Issuance costs are being amortized using the effective

interest method over seven years the expected life of the 2005 Notes based on the earliest date on which the

holders can require redemption During 2008 we repurchased $11.8 million in principal of these 2005 Notes for

$2.9 million plus accrued interest of $178000 We recorded gain of $7.7 million in non-operating income

which is net of related debt issuance costs that were relieved During 2009 we repurchased $18.2 million in

principal of our 2005 Notes for $255000 and approximately 54820d0 shares of our common stock In

connection with these 2009 repurchases we recorded net gain of $2.7 million in non-operating income which is

comprised of inducement expense of $9.8 million and gain on extinguishment of debt of $12.5 million During

2010 we repurchased $19.9 million in principal of the 2005 Notes for $6.2 million and approximately 9643000

shares of our common stock In connection with these 2010 repurchases we recorded net gain of $2.8 million in

non-operating income which is comprised of inducement expense of $8.9 million and gain on extinguishment

of debt of $11.7 million At December 31 2010 $100000 of the 2005 Notes remains outstanding

The 2005 Notes which mature in 2025 hear interest payable semi-annually on February and August of

each year at rate of 5.25% per annum an effective rate of 5.94% and are convertible into common stock at an

initial conversion price of $10.76 per share On or after February 2012 we may redeem the 2005 Notes for

cash at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2005 Notes plus any accrued and

unpaid interest On each of February 2012 February 2015 and February 2020 holders may require us to

purchase their 2005 Notes for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2005 Notes plus any accrued

and unpaid interest At December 31 2010 $100000 of the 2005 Notes remain outstanding

Convertible NotesConversion Option

As of January 2009 we adopted revised guidance that addressed certain matters applicable to convertible

debt instruments and retrospectively applied this change in accounting to all prior periods presented for which we

had applicable outstanding convertible debt as required by this new guidance Under this new method of

accounting the debt and equity components of our 2005 Notes and our 2006 Notes are bifurcated and accounted

for separately based on the fair value and related interest rate of non-convertible debt security with the same

terms The fair value of non-convertible debt instrument at the original issuance dates of our 2005 Notes and

our 2006 Notes was determined to be $42.6 million and $23.6 million respectively The equity conversion

options components of our convertible debt securities have been included in additional paid-in capital on our

consolidated balance sheet and accordingly the initial carrying value of the debt securities was reduced by $8.8

million Our previously reportçd net loss for the years ended December 31 2008 was increased by $2.1 million

primarily due to recognizing the accretion of the reduced carrying values of our convertible debt securities to

their face amount as additional non-cash interest expense

Additionally as result of the adoption of revised guidance fOr evaluating when adjustment features within

contracts are considered to be equity-indexed as of January 2009 the conversion feature embedded in our

2006 Notes is now treated as derivative liability and recorded at its fair value with period to period changes in

the fair value recorded as gain or loss in our consolidated statement of operations Accordingly upon adoption

we recorded reduction to additional paid-in capital of $1.4 million an increase to debt discount of $1.3 million

derivative liability of $2.7 million and charge to opening accumulated deficit of $21000 As of

December 31 2010 and 2009our debt discount balance was $720000 and $2.5 million respectively During

the year ended December 21 2010 we recorded gain of $1.9 million due to the change in the fair value of the

derivative For the year ended December 31 2009 we recorded charge to other income of $48000 due to

changes in the fair value of the derivative and noncash interest expense of $1.3 million due to the adoption of this

revised guidance

Other

At December 31 2010 approximately $146000 of debentures we assumed in our merger with Aquila

Biopharinaceuticals are outstanding These debentures carry interest at 7% and are callable by the holders

Accordingly they are classified as part of the current portion of long-term debt
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15 Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value based on hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use

of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that observable inputs be used

when available Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability

based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company Unobservable inputs are inputs that

reflect the Companys assumptions about the inputs that market participants ould use in pricing the asset or

liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances The fair value hierarchy

is broken down into three levels based on the source of inputs as follows

Level 1Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identichl Seis or liabilities

that the Company has the abilityto access

Level 2Väluations based on quoted prices forsimilar asets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices

for identical ot similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and models for Which all sighificant

inputs are observable either directly or indirectly and

Level 3Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair vajuç

measurement

The availability of observable inputs can vary among the various types of financial assets and liabilities To

the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market

the determination of fair value requires more judgment In certain cases the inputs used to measufe fair value

may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy In such cases forfinancial statement disclosure

purposes the level in the fair value hierarchy withiniwhich the fair valtie measurement is categorized is based on

the lowest level input that is significant to the overall fair value measurement ..

fl

We measure our short-term investments and derivative liability at fair value Our short-term investments are

comprised of U.S Treasury securities that are valued using quoted market prices with no valuation adjustments7c

applied Accofdingly these securities are categorized in Level Our derivative liability is classified within

Level because it is valucdusing modified Black-Scholes model due to the potential at December 31 2010 for

the note holders to convert into shares of either our common stock or an interest in on of our wholly-owned

subsidiaries Certain inputs into this model were valued using combination of income and market approaches

which are unobservable in the market and are significant

The estimated fair values of all of our financial instruments excluding long-term debt approximate their

carrying amounts in thç consolidated balance sheets The fair value of our long-term debt was derivpd.by

evaluating the nature and terms of each note and considering the prevailing economic and market conditions at

the balance sheet date

Liabilities measured at fair value are summarized below in thousands

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical Assets Significant Unobservable

Description December 312010 Level Inputs Level

Liabilities

Derivative Liability $755

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identicdl Assets SignificaiitUnŁbserable

Description December 312009 Level Inputs Level

Assets

Short-term investments $9998 $9998

Liabilities

Derivative Liability $2665 $2665
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The following table presents our liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs

Level as of December 31 2010 amounts in thousands

Balance December 31 2009 2665

Decrease in fair value foI the year ended December 31 2010 1910

Balance December31 2010 755

The decrease in fair value of the derivative liability is included in non-operating incothe in our consolidated

statement opprations for the year ended Decpmber 31 2010

As of December 31 2010 $100000 in principal of the 2005 Notes are outstanding with an estimated fair

value of $87090 based on recent markettransactions As ofDecernber 31 2010 $34.7 million in principal of the

2006 Notes are outstanding with fajr value of the3debt portion exclusive of the conversion option estimated to

be $30.8 million based on present value methodology

16 Contingencies

Agenus our Chainnan and CEO Garo Annen Ph.D and two investment banking finns that served as

underwriters in our initial public offering were named as defendants in federal civil class action lawsuit in the

United States District Court for the Southern District of New York Substantially similar actions were.filed

concerning the initial public offerings for more than 300 different issuers and the cases were coordinated for

pre-trial purposes as In re Initial Pub1ic Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 9Z The suit alleges that the

brokerage arms of the investment-banking finns charged secret excessive commissions to certain of their

customers in return for allocations of our stock in the offering The suit also alleges that shares of our stock were

allocated to certain of the investment banking firms customers based upon agreements by such customers to

purchase additional shares of our stock in the secondary market The parties have reached global settlement of

the litigation Under the settlement the insUrers will pay the full amount of settlement share allocated to the

defendants and the defendants will bear no financial liability Agenus and the other defendants will receive

complete dismissals from the case In October 2009 the Court entered an order granting final approval of the

settlement and subsequently judgment was entered Various objectors have filed appeals If for any reason the

settlement does not become effective we believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to

defend the action vigorously We are unable to predict the likelihood of an unfavorable outcOme or estimate our

potential liability if any No accrual has been recorded at December 31 2010 for this action

We may currently be or may become party to other legal prctceedirtgs as well While we currently believe

that the ultimate outcome of any of these- proceedings-will nothavea material adverse effect on our financial

position results of operations or liquidity litigation is subject to inherent uncertainty Furthermore litigation

consumes both cash and management attention

17 401k Plan

We sponsofa defined contribution 401k savinh plan for all eligible employees as defined Participants

may contribute up to 60% of their compensation as defined in the savings plan with maximum contribution of

$16500 for individuals under 50 years old and $22000 for individuals 50 years old and older in 2010.Each

participant is fully vested in his or her contributions and related earnings and losses The Company matched 50%

of the participants contribution subject to maximum of 6% of compensation through February 2009 Such

matching contributions vest over four.years In 2010 we made discretionary contribution to the savings plan of

approximately $42000 For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we expensed $42000

$37000 and $163000 respectively for the Companys contributions to the 401k plan
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18 Restructuring Costs

On February 2009 we initiated plan of restructuring that resulted in reduction of our workforce by

approximately 20% or 19 positions We engaged in this workforce reduction in order to reduce operating

expenses in light of market conditions and to focus our resources on near-term commercial opportunities This

restructuring action resulted in total charges of approximately $177000 in severance and outplaceMent expeiies

in the quarter ended March 31 2009 with $42j0O included ia research anddevelopment expenses and $135000

included in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statement of operations The charge to

operations was reduced by $10 000 dunng the quarter ended June 30 2009 based on actual activities All

amounts were paid dunng 2009

19 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

QuarterEnded

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

In thousands except per share data

2010

Revenue 93 806 624 994

Net loss .. 8811 4972 5707 2416
Net loss attributable to common sockliolders 9009 5110 5905 2613
Per common share basic and d%uted

Net Iqss attributable to common stocklolders 10 0.05 0.06 0.03

-ç

QuartdEnded

Marcb1 June 30 September30 December 31

In thousaads except per share data

2009

Revenue 621 1270 896 $-547

Net loss income 9476 12087 10612 1858

Net loss income atthbutable to common

stockholders 9674 12285 10810 1661

Per common share basic and dilutçd

Net income attribqçable to common

stockholders 0.14 0.17 0.13 0.02

Net loss income attributable to common stockholders per share is calculated independently for each of the

quarters presented Therefore the sum of the quarterly net loss per share amounts will not necessarily equal the

total for the full fiscal year
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item9A CŁntrols and ProkeduresAJi _I

Conclusion Regarding the EffeŁtiveness of DisclosUre Contitls Sd Procedures

Under the supervision and with tjie participtifi of our management inuding our Chief Executn
Officer and Chief Financial Officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure

controls and procedures as such term is defined under Rule 13a-l5e promulgated under the SeCuritid

Exchange Act Based on this evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer

concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were functioning effectiveiy aà of the eiidof the

period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K to provide reasonable assurance that the Company can

meet its disclosure obligations

1-r

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our mâiiagenent ià iespohsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Secunties Exchange Act Rule 3a- 151 Under the

supervisioh hd sith the paàicipatS of our management inclUdnjIeur Chief ExŁcufive Officer abd Chief

Financial Officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of 1oilr internal contol over financial

ieporting baskd on the franework in Jæiernal ControPtætegrdTted Framwork issudby thComniittee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our evaluation under the framework our

miuagement concltrdectthat
qur

intethal cçptrol over financial reporting was effective as of December 31

2010

KPMG LLP our independent registered public accounting firm has issued theft report included

herein on thô effecliverless Œf ourinternal Łontrol over-financial reporting

Changes in Internal control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth

quarter of 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably lilcºlytó niàterfally-affect our iæternal

control overfinancial reporting

II

%-
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Agenus Inc

We have audited Agenus Inc and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated-Fraeork issued by the Conmiittee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Conmiission COSO Agenus Inc.s management is responsible for

maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal cofitrol dyer financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control

Over FinaiiciÆl Reporting Our rsponsibility ito eiqiress ap opinion on the Companys internal control over

financial repoiting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

materi4l weakiess exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed nsk Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary

in the cfrcumstànces We beliee that our audit provides reasonable basIs for our opinion

bomhæyinternaicontrol over financial teortitig isa process designed to prdidereasonable assuthnce

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accor4ancewitji generally accepted accounting prinqiples companys inteinal control over financial reporting

includes those policies n4 procedues that pertain to the qialntenjance of record thatin reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accdunting piinciles and that receipts and expenditures of thcompany are being made

only in accordaj ce with authorizations ofmanagement and directors of the company and provie reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detqction of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness tb ftiture periods
rº

subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in caaditions or that the degree of compliance with the

-- policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Agenus Inc and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Coniniittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Conimission

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Agenus Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and

2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity deficit and comprehensive

loss and cash flows for each of the
years

in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 and our report dated

March 16 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements

Is KPMG LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 16 2011
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Item 913 Other Information

None

PART ifi

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The response to tMs item is incorporated by reference from Excutive Officers of thç.RegitrÆnt found in

Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K following Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and from

sections entitled Proposal Election of Directors Our Corporate Governance and Section 16a
Beneficial Ownership Reporrting Compliance in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2911 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2010 fiscal year the 2011 Proxy

Statement

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The response to this item is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K from sections

entitled Our Corporate Governance Comperisation Disdussion and Analysis Compensation Committee

Report Compensation of Executive Offieers and Director Compensation in our 2011 Proxy Staternent

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relate4 Stockholder

Matters

The rSponse to this item is incorporated by referenc into this Annual Report on Form 10-K from seŁtions

entitled Equity Plans and Ownership of Our Common Stoôk in our 201 ProxyStaternent

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Dirçctor Independence

The response to this item is incorporated by reference into this Animal Report on Form 10K from the

sections entitled Our CorpOrate Governance and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions in our 2011

Proxy Statement

Item 14 PrincipalAccountant.Fees andServices

The tesponse to this item is iticorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K fromthe

section entitled Proposal 3Ratify the Appointment of KPMG LLP as our Indepehdent Registered Public

Accounting Firm for the Fiscal Year Ending December 31 2011 in our 2011 Proxy Statement
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PART IV

Iteni 15 Exhibits Finalicial Statement Schedules

Consolidated Financial Statemens

The consolidated financial statements am liste4 uuçler Item of this Annual Report on Form l0-K

Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedules required under this Item ard Item are omitted because they are not

applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or the footnotes
thereto

3.Exhibits

The exhibits ae listed below under Part IV Item 15b

Exhibits

Exhibitlædex

Exhibit No Description .-

3.1 Amended antRestated CertificatŁof Incordiiation of Antigenics Inc Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our

Current Report oti Form 8LK FileNo 0-29089 filed on June 10 2002 and incorporated herein by

reference

3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Antighnics

Inc Filed as Exhibit3 to our Current Report oh Form 8-K File No 0-29089 -filed on June 11

2007 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.2 Certificate of Ownership andMerger changing the name of the corporation to Agenus Inc Filea as

Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8LK File No 0-29089 filed On January 2011 and

incorporated herein by reference

3.2 Fifth Amended and Restated By-laws of Agenu Inc Filed as Exhibit 32 to Our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on January 2011 and incorporated herein reference

3.3 Certificate of Designation Preferences and Rights of the SeriesA Convertible Preferred Stock Of

Agenus Inc filed with the Scretary of State of the State of Deiawae on September 24 2003

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on September 25

2003 and incprporated herein by reference

3.4 Certificate of Designations Preferences and Rights of the Class Convertible Preferred Stock of

Agenus Inc Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Reporton Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on

September 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate Filed as Exhibit 4.1 tO our Current Report on Form 8-K File

No 0-29089 filed on January 2011 and incorporated herein by reference

4.2 Indenture dated January 25 2005 between the Registrant and HSBC Ban1 USA National

Association Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current RepOrt on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on

January 25.2005 and incorporated herein by reference

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement dated January 25 2005 between the Registraiit and the initial

purchasers Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to ourCurrent Report on Fdriii8-KFile No 0-29089 filed on

January 25 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

4.4 Form of Amended and Restated Note under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of

October 30 2006 as amended by and among Agenus Inc Inc Delaware corporation and the

investors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed herewith
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Exhibit No Description

4.5 Fonn of Amended and Restated P1K Note under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as çf

October 30 2006 as amended by and among Agenus Inc Inc Delaware corporation and the

investors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed herewith

4.6 Pledge of Security Agreement dated as of October 30 2006 by and among Agenus Inc Inc
Delaware corporation and the investors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed as Exhibit

4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on October 31 2006 and

incorporated herein by reference

4.7 Guaranty dated as of October 30 2006 by and between Agenus Inc Inc Massachusetts

corporation and Ingalls Snyder LLC as Collateral Agent for the Buyers Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to

our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on October 31 2006 and incorporated

herein by reference

4.8 Guaranty dated as of October 30 2006 by and between Aronex Pharmaceuticals Inc and Ingalls

Snyder LLC as Collateral Agent for the Buyers Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on October 31 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

4.9 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of October 30 2006 by and among Agenus Inc Inc

Dçlaware corporation and the invpstors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed as Exhibit

4.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filth on October 31 2Q06 and

incorporated herein by reference

4.10 Form of Warrant under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 2008 Filed as Exhibit

.4 Ho our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on January 11 20Q8 and

incorporated herein by reference

4.11 Purchase Agreement datçd August 31 2007 by and between Agenus Inc and Fletcher

International Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on

September 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

4.12 Securities Purchase Agreement dated April 2008 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-KFile No 0-29089 filed on April 10 2008 and incorporated .herein by reference

4.13 Form of Warrant to purchase common stock dated April 2008 Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our

Current Report on Form 8-KFile No 0-29089 filed on April 10 2008 and incorporated herein

by reference

4.14 Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and the investors identified on

Schedule attached to the agreement dated January 2008 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current

Report pn Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on January 11 2008 and incorporated herein by

reference

4.15 Form of Year Warrant under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 30 2009 Filed as

Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on August 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

4.16 Form of Year Warrant under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated August 2009 Filed as

Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on August 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

4.17 Ninth Amendment of Rights with respect to Events of Default and Issuance of Other Securities by

and between Agenus Inc and Ingalls Spyder Value Partners L.P dated February 23 2011 Filed

herewith
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Exhibit No Description

10.1 1999 Equity Incentive Han as amended Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Annual Report on Form

10-K File No 0-29089 for the
year

ended December 31 2008 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.1.2 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8K
File No 0-29089 filedon December 15 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

10.1 Form of 2007 Restricted Stock Award Agreement Filed as Exhibit 10.1.5 to our Annual Report

on Form 10-K File No 0-29089 for the
year

ended December 31 2007 and incorporated herein

by reference

10.1.4 Form of 2008 Restricted Stock Award Agrement Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on March 11 2008 and incorporated herein reference

10.1.5 Sixth Amendment to the Agenus Inc 1999 Eqqity Incentive Plan 1iled as Appendix to our

Definitivç Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 27 2009 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.2 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on June 11 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.3 Founding Scientists Agreement between Agenus Inc and Pramod Srivastava Ph.D dated

March 28 1995 Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our registration statement on Form S1 File No.333-

1747 and incorporated herein by reference

10.3.11 Amendment to Founding Scientists Agreement dated January 2003 Filed as Exhibit 10.29 to

our Annual Report on Form 10 File No 29089 for the year ended December 31 2002 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.4 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Agenus Inc and its directors and executive officers

These agreements are materially different only as to the signatories and the dates of execution

Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our registration statement on Form S-i File No 333-9 1747 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.4.1 Current schedule indØntifying the directors and executive officers who areparty to an

Indemnification Agreement the form of which was tiled as Exhibit 10.4 to pur registration

statement on Form S-i File No 333-91747 Filed herewith

10.51 Patent License Agreement between Agenus me and Mount Sinai School of Medicine dated

November 1994 as amended on June 1995 Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our registration

statementon Form 5-1 File No 333-91747 and incorporated herein by reference

10.61 Sponsored Reseirch and Technology License Agreement between Agenus Idc and Fordham

University dated March 28 1995 as amended on March 22 1996 Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to our

registration statement on Form S-i File No 333-91747 and incorporated herein by reference

10.7 Lease of Premises at Forbes Road Lexington Massachusetts dated as of December 2002

from BHX LLC as Trustee of Forbes Realty Thist to Agenus Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on January 2003 and incorporated herein

by reference

10.7.1 First Amendment of Lease dated asof August 15 2003 from BHX LLC as trustee of Forbes

Road Realty to Agenus Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File

No 0-29089 for the quarter ended March 31 2004 and incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibit No Description

10.7.2 Second 4mendment of Lease dated as of March 2007 from BHX LLC as trustee of Forbes

Road Realty to 4genus Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 1O-Q File

No 0-29089 for the quarter ended March 31 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.73 Third Amendmen Lease dated April 23 2008 between TBCI LLC as successor to BHX
LLC as Trustee of Forbes Road Realty Trust and Ageiius Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended June 30 2008 and

ihcoiporÆted herein by reference

10.7.4 Fourth Amendment to Lease dated September 30 2008 between TBCI LLC as successor to

BHX LLC as Trustee of Forbes Road Realty Trust and Agenus Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to

bur Quaitetly Report on FormlO-Q File-No 0-29089 for the quarter ended September 30 2008

and incorporated herein by referenCe

10.8 Agenus Inc Directors Deferred Compensatioii Plan al aniended Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to bdr

Current Repor on Form 8-K FilNo 0-2909 filed on JünØ 11 2007 and incorporated herein

by reference

Third AinendriienttoDirectoni Deferred Compensation Plan Filed as Appendix to our

Definitike Proxy Statethentbn SChedule 14A filed on April 27 2009 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.8.2 Fourth Amendment toDirectors Deferred Cbmpensation Plan Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on December 14 2010 and incorporated

herein by referpnce

i091 Licehie Agreement between the University of ConnecticUt Health-Center and Agenus Inc dated

May 25 2001 as amended on March 18 2003 Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Amendment No ito

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-089 fpr the quarter ended March 31 2003 and

incorporate4 herein by çeference

10.9 11w Letter Agreement thid between Agenus Inc and The University of Connectfeut Health Center

dated May 11 2009 Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q

File No 0-29089 for the quartçr ended June 30 2Q09 and incorpQrated herein by reference

10.9.21 Amendment Number Tw to LiCense Agreement by andbetweenAgenus Inc and The University

of Connecticut Health Center dated Juni5 2009 Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to oUr Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended June 3Q 2009 aid incorporated herein by

reference

10.10 Employment Agreement dated February 26 2007 between Agenus Inc and Shalini Sharp Filed

as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8rK File No 0-29089 filed on February 26 2007

and incorporated herein by referencp

10.10.1 First Amendthenttd Eniplohtient Agrdement dated July 2009 beteen Agenus Inc and Shalini

Sharp Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quaflerly Report on Form 1Q-Q File No Q-29089 for thç

quarter ended September39 2009-and incorporated herein by reference

10.10.2 Second Amendment to EthploymWdt Agreement dated December 152010 betweeh Agenus Inc

and Shalini Sharp Filed herewith

10.11 Employment Agreement dated Febhiary 20 2007 beteen AgenU Inc arid KerryWentworth

Filed Exhibit 10.2 to our Current keport on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on February 26

2007 and inCorporated herein by reference
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Exhibit No Description

10.11.1 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated July 2009 between Agenus Inc and Kerry

Wentworth Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for

the quarter ended September 30 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.11.2 Second Amendment to Empidyment Agreement dated December 15 2010 between Agenus Inc

and Kerry Wentworth Filed herewith

10.12 Employment Agreenient dajed December 2005 between Agenus Inc and Jaro Armen Fired

Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on December 2005

and incorporated herein by reference

10.12.1 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated July 2009 between Agenus Inc and Garo

Armen Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 fr the

quarter ended September 30 2009 and incbrporateçl herein by reference

10.12.2 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 15 2010 between Agenus Inc

and Garo Armen Filed herewith

10.13 Amended and Restated Executive Change-in-Control Plan Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current

Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on November 2010 and incorporated herein by

reference

10 14 2004 Executive Incentive Plan as amended Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form

8-K File No 0-29089 filed on January 27 2011 and incorporated herein by reference

10.15 Consulting Agreement dated March 28 2006 between Agenus Inc and Pramod Srivastava Filed

as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on March 28 2006

and incorporated herein by reference

10.161 License Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA dated

July 2006 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for

the quarter ended June 30 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

10.17 Standard Form of Loft Lease effective October 24 2006 between 162 Fifth Avenue Associates

LLC and Agenus Inc Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended September 30 2006 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.18 Form of the Johns Hopkins University Uniform Provisions for Board Service Filed as Exhibit

10.1

to our Current Report on Font 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on September 15 2006 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.19 At Market Issuance Sales Agreement between Antigenics Inc and McNicoll Lewis Vlak LLC

and Wm Smith Co dated February 26 2010 Filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on March 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.20 Employment Agreement dated Septembr 16 2008 between Agenus mc and Karen Valentine

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Repoft on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on

September 19 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.20.1 First Amendment tO Employment Agreement dated July 2009 between Agenus Inc and Karen

Valentine Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the

quarter ended September 30 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.20.2 Second Amendment Employment Agreement dated December 15 2010 between Agenus Inc

and Karen Valentine Filed hbrewith
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Exhibit No Description

10.211 Amended and Restated License Agreement by and between Antigenics Inc Massachusetts

corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Agenus Inc Elan Pharma International Limited and

Elan Pharmaceuticals Inc dated September 14 2009 Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended September 30 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.22 Notice of Assignment of Amended and Restated License Agreement by and between Antigenics

Inc Massachusetts corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Agenus Inc Elan Pharma

Intemational Limited and Elan Pharmaceuticals Inc dated September 17 2009 Filed as Exhibit

10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended

September 30 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.231 Supply Agreement by and between AgŁnus Ihc and ISS-Strategy LLC dated July 2009 Filed

as Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended

September .30 2009 and incorporated herein by referenbe

10.241 Binding Letter of Intent by and between Agenus Inc and ISSI-Strategy dated May 24 2009 Filed

as Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended

June 30 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.25 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of July 30 2009 by and among Agenus Inc and the

investors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on August 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.26 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of August 2009 by and among Agenus Inc and the

investors listed on the Schedule of Buyers thereto Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on

Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on August 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.271 Amended and Restated Manufacturing Technology Transfer and Supply Agreement by and

between Agenus Inc and GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA dated January 19 2009 Filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended

March 31 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.28 Summary of oral agreement between Ciaro Armen PhD and Agenus Jnc Agenus Inc

modifying the base salary of Dr Armen Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form

0-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended March 31 2009 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.29 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and Tang Capital Partners LP dated

June 2009 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form l0Q File No 0-29089 for

the quarter ended June 30 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.30 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and The Conus Fund L.P The

Conus Fund Offshore Master Fund Ltd and The Conus Fund QP L.P dated June 2009 Filed

as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended

June 30 2009 and iæŁorporated herein by reference

10.31 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and The Wolverine Convertible

Arbitrage Fund Trading Lted dated June 2009 Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report

on Form l0-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended June 30 2009 nd incorporated herein by

reference

10.32 Agenus Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan Filed as Appendix to our Definitive Proxy Statement

on Schedule 14A filed on April 27 2009 and incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibit No Description

10.32.1 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the Agenus Inc Agenus Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Repurt on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 flied on June 15

2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.32.2 Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Agenus Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan Filed as Exhibit

10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on June 15 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.33 Agenus Inc 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Filed as Appendix to our Definitive Proxy

Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 27 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.34 Laiidlord Sublessor and Sublessee Agreement dated August 2010 between Agenus Inc Cubist

Pharmaceuticals Inc and TBCI LLC as Trustee of Forbes Road Realty Trust Filed as Exhibit

10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the quarter ended Jtine 30

2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.35 Sublease Agreement by and.between Agenus Inc and Cubist Pharmaceuticals Inc dated July 30

2010 Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 0-29089 for the

quarter ended June 30 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.36 Form of Subscription Agreement Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File

No 0-29089 filed on December 14 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.37 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and Invus Public Equities L.P dated

April 22 2010 Filed herewith

10.38 Securities Exchange Ageement by and between Agenus Inc and Bruce Fund Inc dated

November 18 2010 Filed herewith

10.39 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and Professional Life and Casualty

dated November 18 2010 Filed herewith

10.40 Securities Repurchase Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and Ingalls Snyder Value

Partners L.P dated December 2010 Filed herewith

10.41 Securities Exchange Agreement by and between Agenus Inc and Ingalls Snyder Value Partners

L.P dated December 28 2010 Filed herewith

21 Subsidiaries of Agenus Inc Filed herewith

23 Consent of KPMG LLP independent registered public accounting firm Filed herewith

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 3a- 14a and 15d- 14a under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a- 14a arid Sd- 14a under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Filed herewith

32.12 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section

1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Submitted herewith

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan

Certain confidential material contained in the document has been omitted and filed separately with the

Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act or Rule 24b-2 of the

Securities Exchange Act

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not filed as part of it
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Dated MarŁh 16 2011

AGENUS INC

By /5/ GARO ARMEN PH.D

.Garo Annen Ph.D

Chief Executive Officer dad

Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Actof 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities indicated as of March 16 2011

Signature Title

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bard of Directors

Principal Executive Officer

Vice Presidentand Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Vice President Finance

Principal Accounting Officer

Director

/s/ SHwNI SHARP

Shalini Sharp

/s/ CHRISTINE KLASKJN

Christine Kiaskin

Is BIw4 CORVESE

Brian Corvese

Is TOM DECHAºNE

Tom Dechaene

1sf JOwT HATSOPOULOS

John Hatsopoulos

Is WADIH Jomiw

Wadih Jordan

Is HYAM LEVITSKY MD
Hyam Levitsky MD

/5/ TIMOTHY ROTHWELL

Timothy Rothwell

Is TIMOTHY WRIGHT

Timothy Wright

Is Guo ARNEN PH.1i

Garo Armen Ph.D

Direcor

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14a and 15d-14a under the Securities Exchange Aàt of 1934 as

amended

Garo Armen certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1OK Of Agenus Inc

Based oil my knowledge this report does not contain any uhtrue sttement of thaterial fact or omit to

state material fact necetha to make the statements made in light of the citcumstances under which

such statements were.made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financialCondition results of operations and cash

flows of the Registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The Registrants other certifying Officer- and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure contrOls and procedures atdefined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and

intemal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15t and 15d-15f for

the Registrant and have

--

designed such disclosure controls and procedures dfcaused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be desigiied Under our superviioii to ensure that material information relating to

the Registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those

entities particularly during -the period in which this feOrt is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

finannial reporting-to be designed tinder our supervisibon to prOvide reasonable aSsniance

regarding the reliability of financial repOrting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with U.S Łnerally aicepted accounting principles

evaluated the effettiveness of the Registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of4he discloSure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based -on such evaluation -and

ii disclosed in this report any change in the Registrants internal control- over financial reporting that

-- occurred during the Registrants most recent-fiscal quarter the Registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasoiTªbly likely to materially

affect the Registrants-internal control overfinancial eportiiig and

The Registrants other certifying officer- and-I hkvedislosed baed On our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial-reporting to the RegistramSauditors and the audit dommittee of the

Registrants board of directors or persons -performing the equivalent function

all significant deficienCies and- material weaknesses inthe
design r- operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably-likely toidversely affect the Registrants ability to

record process summarizand report financial- information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves- management or other employeescwho have

significant role in the Registrants internal control over finanaiarreperting

Date March 16 2011- /5/ GARO ARMEN PH.D

Garo Armen Ph.D

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14a and 15d-14a under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended

Shalini Sharp certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Agenus Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state a.material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which

such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the Registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The Registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-l5e and

internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and lsd-15f for

the Registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensuye that material information relating to

the Registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is mad known to us.by others within those

entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting .or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be desjgned under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the rçliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

thjs report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based onsuch evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the Registrants most recent fiscal quarter the Registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual reportthat has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect the Registrants internal control over financial reporting and

-- The Registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the Registrants auditors and thQ audit conmættee of the

Registrants board of directors or persons perfonning the equivalent function

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 16 2011 /5/ SFLimu SHARP

Shalini Sharp

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Agenus Inc the Company for the year ended

December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report
-1 each of the undersigned to his/her knowledge hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange

Actof 1934 and

ii The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition

and results of operations of the Company

1sf Grto ARMEN

Garo Armen Ph.D

Chief Executive Officer

1sf SHAI.n.u SHARP

Shalini Sharp

Chief Financial Officer

Date March 162011

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Antigenics Inc and

will be retained by Agenus Inc and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon

request

The foregoing certification is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to

the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 and should not be considered filed as

part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
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AGENUS INC

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Date June 152011

Time 500 P.M Eastern Time

Place Agenus Inc Forbes Road Lexington Massachusetts 02421

Webcast Go to http//www.agenusbio.conilinvestors starting at 500 P.M Eastern Time on June 15 2011

The webcast will be archived on our website for at least three months after the date of the 2011

Annual Meeting

Proposals To elect Garo Annen PhD Tom Dechaene and John Hatsopoulos as Class directors

each for term of three years expiring in 2014

To approve an amendment to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect

reverse stock split of the Companys common stock at the discretion of the Board of Directors

To approve an amendment to our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan as amended to

increase the number of shares authorized for issnance under such plan

To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm

for the fiscal year ending December 31 2011

To approve in non-binding advisory vote the compensation of the Companys named

executive officers

To hold an advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on compensation of the

Companys named executive officers

To consider any other business as may properly come before the 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders or any postponement or adjonrnment of the meeting

Record

Date You are entitled to vote if you were stockholder of record on April 18 2011

list of stockholders entitled to vote will be open for examination by any stockholder for any purpose

germane to the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders for ten days before the meeting during ordinary business

hours at our principal offices at Forbes Road Lexington Massachusetts 02421

It is important that your shares he represented at the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Therefore whether or not you plan to attend the meeting please complete your proxy and return it to us

If you attend the meeting and wish to vote in person your proxy will not be used Stockholders may also

vote their shares over the internet or by telephone Instructions for internet or telephonic voting are

printed on your proxy card

We are pleased to take advantage of Securities and Exchange Commission rules that allow us to furnish

these proxy materials and our Annual Report on Form 10-K to stockholders on the internet We believe that

posting these materials on the internet enables us to provide stockholders with the information that they need

more quickly while lowering our costs of printing and delivery and reducing the environmental impact of our

annual meetings of stockholders

By order of the Board of Directors

Karen Higgins Valentine Secretary

May 2011
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AGENUS INC
Forbes Road

Lexington Massachusetts

Telephone 781 674-4400

PROXY STATEMENT

MAY 2011

This proxy statement contains information about the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Agenus Inc

the 2011 Annual Meeting including any postponements or adjburnments of the meeting The 2011 Annual

Meeting will be held at Agenus Inc Forbes Road Lexington Massachusetts 02421 on June 15 2011 at 500

P.M Eastern Time

In this proxy statement we reMr to Agenüs Inc as Agenus us 4e or the Conipany

In accordance with the Ø-proxy rulesapproved by the Securities and ExØhange Commissón SECand

in coænectiôæ with the solicitation of proxies by our Board of Directors we first sent Notice of Internet

Availability of Proy Materials on or about May 2011 and prdvided access to our proxy materials donsisting

of this proxy statemºæt our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ydr ended December 31 2010 and forth of

proxy over the internet beginning on May 2011 to each stockholder entitled to vote at the 2011 Annual

Mpetng We intend to mail to requesting stockholders full sets of our proxy materials consisting of this proxy

statement our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 20010 and form of proxy on or

aboutMay 2011

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2010 is also available on the

Investors section of our corporate website at http//www.agenuthio.com/investors and through the SECs

EDGAR ystem at http//www.sec.gov To request printed copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K

which we will provide to you without charge write to Investor Relations Agenus Inc Forbes Road

Lexington MA 02421 No material on our websiteis part of-this proxy statement



VOTING PROCEDURES

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT PLEASE TAKE THE TIME TO VOTE Stockholders have choice

of voting over the internet by telephone by mail using proxycard or in person at the 2011 Annual Meeting

Please refer to the proxy card or other voting instructions incinded with these proxy materials for information on

the voting methods available to you ifyou vote over the internet by telephone or in person at the 2011

Annual Meeting you do not need to return your proxy card

Who can vote Each share of our cOmmon stock that you owned as of the close of business on

April 18 2011 the record date entitles you to one vote on each matter to be

votQd upon ut 2011 Annual Meeting On the .record date there were

13337624 shares of Agenus common stock issued outstanding and entitled to

vote

Why did receive one- Pursuant to the notice and access rules adopted by the SEC we provide

page notice in then all stockholders access to our proxy materials over the internet Accordingly we

regarding the inteiiiŁt sent Notice of Inteinet AvailabilitS of Proxy Materials Notice to all of our

availability of proxy stockholders as of the record date Jhe Notice includes instructions on how to

materials instead of full access our proxy materials over the internet and how to request printed copy of

set of printed proxy these materials In addition by following the instructions in the Notice

mntenals9 stockholders may request to receive proky materials in pnnted form by mail or

electromcally by email on an ongoing basis

ChoosiiIg torecaivd your future proxy materials by email will save us the cost of

printing and mailink documente to you and will reduce the impact of our annual

meetings of stockholders on the environment If you choose to receive Ititure

proxy materials by email you will receive an email next year
with instructions

-cntainidg linkothose materials and link to the proxyotiæg site Your

election to reOeiVe proxy materials by email will remnin in effect until you
terminate it

How do vote If your shares ae registered directlyin your name you may vote

Over the internet Go to the website of our tabulator Broadridge Financial

Solutions Inc Broadridge at http//www.proxyvote.com and follow the

instructions you will find there You must specify how you want your

shares voted or your internet vote cannot be completed and you will receive

an error message Your shares Will be voted according to your instructions

If you vote over the intemet your vote must be received by 1159 P.M

Eastern Time on June 14 2011

By telephone Dial 1-800-690-6903 using any touch-tone telephone and

follow the instructions Your shares will be voted according to your

instructions If you vote over the telephone your vote must be received by

1159 P.M Eastern Time on June 14 2011

By mail Complete and sign the enclosed proxy and mail it in the enclosed

postage prepaid envelope to Vote Processing do Broadridge 51 Mercedes

Way Edgewood NY 11717 Your shares will be voted according to your

instructions If you do not specify how you want your shares voted they

will be voted as recommended by our Board of Directors

In person at the 2011 Annual Meeting If you attend the 2011 Annual

Meeting in person you may deliver your completed proxy card in person or

you may vote by completing ballot which will be available at the

meeting



What is the difference If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent

between holding shares American Stock Transfer Trust Company you are considered the stockholder

directly in my name and of record The Notice was sent directly to you by Broadridge on behalf of

holding shares in sfreet Agenus
name

If
your

shares are held for you in an accbunt by broker bank or other nominee

you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name As the

bdneficial oner you have the right to direct your broker bank or nominee how

to vote your
shares by using the voting instruction card included in the mailing

or by following their instructions for voting over the internet or by telephone

if your shares are registered directly in your name yoii ma revoke your

proxy and change your vote at any time before the 2011 Annual Meeting To do

this you must do one of the following

Vote over the internet as instructed above Only your latest internet vote is

counted

Vote by telephone as instructed above Only your latest telephonic vote is

counted

Sign new proxy and submit it as instructed above

Attend the 2011 Annual Meeting and vote in person Attending the

meeting will not revoke your proxy unless you specifically request it

if your shares are held in street name you may submit new voting

instructions by contactingyour broker bank or nominee You may also vote in

person at the 2011 Annual Meeting if you deliver legal proxy as described in

the answer the How do vote question above

if your shares are registere4 dirçctly in yourname your shares will not be

voted if you do not vote over the internet vote telephone return your proxy

or vote by ballot at the 2011 Annual Meeting

If your shares are held in street name your brokerage firm under certain

circumstances may vot your shaies for you if you do not return your proxy

Brokerage firms have authority to vote customers unvoted shares on some

routine matters If you do not give proxy to your brokerage firm to vote your

shares your brokerage firm may either vote your shares on routine matters or

leave your shares unvoted Proposal to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP

as our independent registered public accounting firm is the only proposal that is

conidered roUtine matter for this pUrpose Your brokerage firm cannot vote

your shares with respect to non-routine mattrs unless they receive your voting

instructions We encourage you to provide voting instructions to your brokerage

c.-.-

firm by giving them your proxy This ensurS your shares will be voted at the

2011 Annual Meeting according to your instructions You should receive

directiohs from your brokerage firm about how to submit your proxy to them at

the time yàu receive this proxy statement

How can change my vote

Will my shares be voted ff1

do not return my proxy

Whatdoes it mean ff1

receive more than one

proxy card

It means that you have mord than one account hich may be at the transfer

agent or brokers Please vote over the interUet or by telephone or complete and

return all proxies for each account tb ensurethat all of your shares are voted



To approve Proposal stockhblders holding majority of the outstanding shares

of Agenus common stodk must vote FOR Proposal Abstentions and broker

non-votes will have the same effect as vote AGAINST the proposal

Proposal 3To approve an amendment to onr Directors Deferred

Compensation Plan as amended to increase the number oshares

authorized for issuance under such plan

How many shaes must be majority of our outstanding shares of common stock as of the record date must

present to hold the 2011 be present at the 2011 Annual Meeting to hold the meeting and conduct business

Annual Meeting This is called quorum Shares are counted as present at the meeiing if thç

shares are voted in person or by proxy at the meeting Shares that are present that

vote to abstain or do not vote on one or more of the matters to be voted upon are

counted as present for establishing quorum

If quorum is not present we expect that the 2011 Annual Meeting will be

adjourned until we obtain quorum

What vote is required to Proposal 1To elect three Class II directors each for term of three years

approve each matter and

how are votes counted The three nominees for director receiving the highest number of votes FOR

election will be elected as directors This is called plurality Abstentions and

broker non-votes are not counted for purposes of electing directors If your

shares are held by your broker in street name and if you do not vote your

shares or instruct your broker how to vote with respect to this item your unvoted

shares will be counted as broker non-votes You may vote FOR all of the

nominees WITHHOLD your vote from all of the nominees or WITHHOLD

your vote from any one of the nominees Votes that are withheld will not be

included in the vote tally for the election of directors and will have no effect on

the results of the vote

Proposal 2To reapprove the Reverse StØck Split

To
approve Proposal stockholders holding majority of Agenus common

itock present or represented by proxy at the 2011 Annual Meeting and voting on

the matter must vote FOR Proposal Abstentions and broker non-votes will

not be counted as votes cast or shares voting on Proposal and will have no

effect on the yote

Proposal 4To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent

registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31
2011

To approve Proposal majority of the votes cast by stockholders present in

person or by proxy and voting on the matter must vote FOR Proposal If your

shares are jield by your broker in street namç and you do not vote your shares

your brokerag firm has authority to vote your unvoted shares on Proposal If

the broker does not vote your unvoted shares there will be no effect on the vote

because these broker non-votes are not considered to be voting on the matter

Abstentions ad broker non-votes will not be counted as votes cast or shares

voting on Proposal and will have no effect on the vote



Proposal To approve in non-binding advisory vote the compensation

of the Companys named executive officers

To approve Proposal stockholders holding majority of Agenus common

stock present or represented by proxy at the 2011 Annual Meeting and voting on

the mattçr must vote FOR Proposal Abstptions and broker non-votes will

not be counted as votes cast or shares voting on Proposal and will have no

effect on the vpte

Proposal To hOld an advisŁry vote on the frequency of future advisory

votes on the compensation of the Cbmpans named executive officers

For Proposal the option of one year two years or three years that receives the

highest number of votes cast by stockholders will be considered by the Board of

DirectOrs when determining the frequency of future advisory votes on executive

compensatiOn Abstentions and broker flon-votes will not be counted as votes

cast or shares voting on Propol and will have no effect on the vote

How does the Board of Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote

Directors recommend that FOR Proposal 1To elect the three nominated Class II directors each for

vote
term of three years

FOR Proposal 2To
reapprove an amendment to our Amended and

Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect reverse stock split of the

Companys common stock at the discretion of the Board of Directors

FOR Proposal To approve an amendment to our Directors Deferred

Compensation Plan as amended to increase the number of shares

authorized for issuance under such plan

FOR Proposal 4To ratify the appointment of KPMCI LLP as our

independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending

December 31 2011

FOR Proposal To approve in non-binding advisory vote the

compensation of the Companys named executive officers

Proposal To vote in favor of future advisory votes on the compensation

of the Companys named executive officers
every three years

Are there other matters to We do not know of any other matters that may come before the 2011 Annual

be voted on at the 2011 Meeting If any other matters are properly presented to the meeting the persons

Annual Meeting named in the accompanying proxy intend to vote or otherwise act in accordance

with their judgment

Where do find the voting We will report the voting results in Form 8-K within four business days after

results of the 2011 Annual the end of the 2011 Annual Meeting

Meeting

Who bears the costs of We will bear the costs of soliciting proxies In addition to the mailing of these

soliciting.these proxies proxy materials our directors officers and employees may solicit proxies by

telephone e-mail and in person without additional compensation We reserve

the right to retain other outside agencies for the purpose of soliciting proxies

Upon request we will also reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians

nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
for

distributing proxy materials to stockholders



Howcan receive future This proxy statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

proxy statements and December 31 2010 are available on our website at http//www.agenusbio.conil

annual reports over the investors Most stockholders can elect to view fqçure proxy statements and

internet instead of receiving annual tepbrts overthe internet instead of reeing printed copies in the mail If

printed copies in the mail you are stockholder of record you can choose this option when you vote over

the internet and save us the cost of rOducing and mailing these documents If

ou are stockholder of record and choose to view future proxy statements and

annual reports over the intemet yOu will redeive proxy card in the mail next

year with instructions contairnng the i4temet adslress to access those documents

Your eleCtion to recçive proxy materials bx enai1 will remain in effect until you

tdminate it If you choose to receive future proxy materials by email you will

receive an email next yer with instructions containing link to those materials

and link to the proxy voting site If
your shares are held through broker or

other nominee you should check the information provided by them for

instructions on how to elect to viewfuture proxy statements and annual reports

over the intemet No material on our website is
part

of this proxy statement



Director since 2007

Audit and Finance

Committee

Chair

PROPOSAL 1ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors upon recommendation of our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee has

nominated the three people listed below for election as Class II directors Each nominee currently serves as

Class II director

Our Board of Directors the Board is divided into three classes One class is elected each year and

members of each class hold office for three-year terms The Board cugently is fixed at eight members and

consists of eight members Three current members are Class II directors with terms expiring at the 2011 Annual

Meeting Two current members are Class III directors with terms expiring at the 2012 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders Three current members are Class directors with terms expiring at the 2013 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders The Board upon the recommendation of our Corporate Goyemance and Nominating Committee

has nominated Garo Armen PhD Torn Dechaene apd John Hatsopoulos all current Class II directors for

re-election to term expiring at the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

For more information on nomination of directors see Corporate bovemance and Nominating Committee

below in the section entitled Our Corporate GovemanceConmiittees of the Board

Your vote is requested in favor of Garo Armen PhD Tom Dechaene and John Hatsopoulos the three

nominees listed below as Class directors All of the nominees have indicated their willingness to serve if

elected but if any of them should be unable or unwilling to serve proxies may be voted for substitute nominee

designated by the Board

There are no family relationships between or among any of our executive officers directors or nominees for

directors

Below are the names and certain information about each member of the Board including the nominees for

election as Class directors

CLASS IDIRECTORSTERMS TO EXPIRE IN 2013

Brian Corvese Brian Corvese President and Vounder of Vencor Capital private equity firm

Age 53 with telecommunications and technology investments
in the Middle East and

President and Founder of Mediterranean regions Prior to working at Vencor Mr Corvese worked on

Vencor Capital investments in the U.S and global equity markets as Managing Director and

partner at Soros Fund Management the largest hedge fund in the world at the

time From 1988 to 1996 Mr CorvesØ sas partner at Chancellor Capital

Management Chancellor $25 billion money management firm While at

Chancellor Mr Corvese was Portfolio Manager with responsibility for

investments made in basic industries restructurings and special situations

corporate govemance investments as well as founded and managed his own
Compensation Committee

hedge fund From 1981 to 1988 Mr Corvese was with DrexelBurnham

Lambert Drexel as an equity analyst following the chemical and specialty

chemical industries and participated in asignificant number of merger and

acquisition activities While at Drexel Mr Corvese was member ofthe top

chemical and specialty chemical research team as ranked by Institutional

Investor Mr Corvese currently serves on the Board of Directors of the National

Telecommunications Corporation based in Cairo Egypt Mr Corvese earned

degrees in finance and political science from The University of Rhode Island and

attended New York University Graduate School With over 25 years of

experience in the financial industry Mr Corvese brings substantial financial

expertise to our Board of Directors



Timothy Rothwell Mr Rothwell recently retired as Chairman of Sanofi-Aventis U.S Mr Rothwell

Age 60 brings substantial industry experience to our Board of Directors having spent 37

years in the phannaceutical industry including many years spent in leadership

Director since 2009 positions with major pharmaceutical companies Mr Rothwell joined Sanofi

Research and Development Synthelabo in 2003 as U.S President and Chief Executive Officer In 2004 he was

Committee instrumental in the formation and leadership of Sanofi-Aventis U.S an affiliate of

the Sanofi-Aventis Group where he served from 2004 to 2009 as President Chief

Exeautive Officer and Chainnan Prior to Sanofi-Aventis U.S and Sanofi

Synthelabo Mr Rothwell served in various capacities at Pharmâcia including

Executive Vice President and President for Pharmacia global prescription

business and Executive Vibe President of Pharmacia Corpothtion From 1972 to

1995 he held senior management positions with leading pjmtmaceutidal

companies including Sandoz Squibb and Rhonb-PoulencRorer Mr Rbthwell

holds bachelor of arts from Drew University in New Jersey and law degree

from SetQn Hall University in New Jersey Presently Mr Rothwell serves on the

Board of Directors of Emisphere Technologies New American Therjeutics LLC
and the Pheo-Pâra Alliance non-profit SOlc3 organization

Timothy Wright Mr Wright recently resigned as President of the Imaging Solutions and

Pharmaceutical Products Sector of Covidien Covidien is $10 billion global

leader in medical devices and supplies diagnostic imaging agents

pharmaceuticals and other healthcare products Mr Wright brings to theAgenus

Board of Directors over 25 years of pharmaceutical industry experience in

general management product development and commercialization as well as

business restructuring and transaction experience Beginning in April 2004 Mr
Wright was interim CEO President and member of the Board of Directors of

AAI Pharma hybrid pharmaceutical drug delivery/manufacturing and global

clinical research organization Upon the sale of AM Pharmas pharmaceutical

assets to Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc Mr Wright transitioned to Chief

Operating Officer at Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals mc role he maintained until

May 2006 Mr Wright was also President of Elan Bib-Pharmaceuticals and has

held several senior management positions with Cardinal Health Inc and Dupont

Merck Pharmaceutical Company Mr Wright has served on several Boards of

Directors including those for AAI Pharma and CeNes Pharmaceuticals Mr
Wright earned his bachelors degree from Ohio State University

NOMINEES FOR CLASS DIRECTORSTERMS TO EXPIRE IN2014

Garo Arinen Ph.D Dr Armen is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Agenus Inc the

biotechnology company he co-founded with Pramod Srivastava in 1994 Dr
Armen brings to our Board deep historical and practical knowledge of the

business of theCompany and its technologies as well as years of expertire in the

financial and biophannaceutical arenas From mid-2002 through 2004 he was

Chairman of the Board of Directors for the biopharmaceutical company Elan

Corporation plc Dr Armen currently serves on the Board of Directors of

Protagenie Therapeutics Inc privately held biotechnology company Dr
Armen served as Senior Vice President of Research for Dean Witter Reynolds

19861989 focusing on the chemical and phannaceutical industries and with

E.F Hutton Company as first Vice President 19811986 Dr Armen is also

the founder and President of the Children of Armenia Fund charitable

organization established in 2000 that is dedicated to the positive development of

the children and youth of Armenia

Age 53

Director since 2006 Lead

Director since 2009

Compensation Committee

Corporate Governance

and Nominating Committee

Chair
Research and

Development Committee

Age 58

Founder Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer of

Agenus Inc

Director since 1999



Tom Dechaene Mr Dechaene is an advisor to various TMT telecomç media and technology

and life sciences companies Mr Dechaene brings to our Board of Directors

substantial financial expertise and international business experience1 Since 2007

Mr Dechaene has served on the Board of Directors and is member of the audit

committee of TransicsNV company listed on NYSE Euronext and which

develops and markets fleet management solutions for the transport and logistics

sector Since 2010 Mr Dechaene has served on the Board of Directors of Brown

Hall Intemational Limited private IVF health company headquartered in

Cyprus Mr Dechaene was director of Telindus N.Y listed on Euronext from

2005 until its acquisition by Belgacom in 2006 Since 2006 Mr Dechaene has

been director of the Telindus Foundation in the Netherlands From 2000 to

2002 Mr Dechaene was the Chief Financial Officer of SurfCast Inc software

development company He was withDeutsche Bank from 1991 through 1999

most recently as director in the principal investments group within the equity

capital markets division Mr Dechaene holds law degree from the Central

Exam Commission Belgium masters degree in applied economics from the

University of Antwerp and an MBA from INSEAD France

John Hatsopoulos Mr Hatsopoulos is Chief Executive Officer of American DG Energy Inc

Age 77 Headquartered in Waltham Massachusetts American DO Energy is leading

Chief Executive Officer of on-site utility offering electricity heat hot water and cooling to commercial

American DO Energy Inc institutional and industrial facilities Mr Hàtsopoulos is also Chief Executive

Chief Executive Officer Mfficer of Tecogen Inc leading manufacturer of natural gas engiæØ-driven

of Tecogenkc commercial and industrial cooling and cogeneration systems In addition Mr

Hatsopoulos is Chairman of GlenRose Instruments Inc company that provides

Director since 2007 radiological and environmental services as well as managing partner of

Audit and Finance Alexandros Partners LLC financial advisory firm Mr Hatsopoulos is one of

Committee the founders of Thermo Electroti Corp currently Thermo Fisher Scientific add

the retired President and Vice Chairman of its Board of Directors Thermo Fisher

Scientific is leading provider of analytical and monitoring instruments used iii

broad range of applications from life sciences research to telecommunications

food drug and beverage production Mr Hatsopoulos graduated from Athens

College in Athens Greece in l953 He holds BS in history and mathematics

from Northeastem University together with honorary doctorates in business

administration from Boston College and Northeastem University He served on

the Board of Directors of the American Stock Exchange from 1994 through 2000

and the AMEX Nominating Committee from 1990 to 1994 Mr Hatsopoulos has

been member of the Board of Directors of AmericanCare Source Holdings Inc

an ancillary benefits management company since 2006 He is also member of

the Board of Directors of TEl BioSciences Inc and Member of the

Corporation for Northeastern University Mr Hatsopoulos brings to our Board

of Directors years of extensive financial and senior executive experience

Age 51

Director Transics N.Y

Director since 1999

Lead Director 2006-2009

Audit and Finance

Committee

Corporate Governance

and Nominating Committee



CLASS ifi DIRECTORSTERMS TO EXPIRE IN 2012

Wadih Jordan Mr Jordan is President of NearEast Pharma company marketing

Age 76 pharmaceuticals in Near East markets including Lebanon Turkey Saudi Arabia

President of Near East Egypt and the Gulf countries and has served in such position since 1996 From

Pharmg 1993 to 1995 Mr Jordan served as Vice President of Cyanamid International

research-based life sciences company and from 1976 to 1993 Mr Jordan

Director since 2003 served as Managing Director within Cyanamid International Since December

Compensation Committee 2005 Mr Jordan has served as member of the Board of Directors at Poilex

Chair S.A.L company that specializes in the distribution and marketing of BASF

products in the Middle East and North Africa Since December 2003 Mr Jordan

has been trustee of the Board of Directors of the Lebanese American

University located in Beirut Lebanon and incorporated under the Board of

Regents in New York StateS Mr Jordan received bachelors degree in

agriculture at the American University of Beirut Lebanon and certificate in

international business from Columbia University Mr Jordan brings to our Board

of Directors years of expertise .in both the biotechnology/pharmaceutical and

international arenas

As practicing and teaching doctor in the Oncology field Dr Levitsky brings to

our Board of Directors valuable scientific and medical experience and guidance

Dr Levitsky is Professor of Oncology Medicine Urology at The Sidney

Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins Dr Levitsky has been

professor at Johns Hopkins since 1991 and his laboratory research has focused

on basic studies of antigen processing and presentation T-cell co-stimulation

T-cell priming versus tolerance and the evolution of tumor-specific immunity

during immune reconstitution Dr Levitskys work has been translated into the

creation of novel therapeutic agents that are being tested in patients with

multiple myeloma acute and chronic myelogenous leukemia cell lymphomas

prostate cancer and lung cancer His work on manipulating immune

reconstitution has led to pivotal trials of tumor vaccines in the context of

autologous stem cell transplantation and he has served as scientific director of

the George Santos Bone Marrow Transplant Program at Johns Hopkins

Dr Levitsky received his undergraduate degree in engineering from the

University of Pennsylvania in 1980 and his medical degree from the Johns

Hopkins University School of Medicine in 1984 He did his internship and

residency in internal medicine at Johns Hopkins Hospital and his fellowship at

the Johns Hopkins Oncology Center

Vote Required

The three nominees for director receiving the highest number of votes FOR election will be elected as

directors This is called plurality Abstentions and broker non-votes are not counted for purposes of electing

directors If your shares are held by your broker in street name and if you do not vote your shares or instruct

your broker how to vote with respect to this item your unvoted shares will be counted as broker non-votes

You may vote FOR all of the nominees WITHHOLD your vote from all of the nominees or WITHHOLD your

vote from any one of the nominees Votes that are withheld will not be included in the vote tally for the election

of directors and will have no effect on the results of the vote

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR Proposal

Hyam Levitsky M.D

Age 53

Professor Johns Hopkins

University Medical Center

Director since 2006

Corporate Governance

and Nominating Committee

Research and

Development Committee

Chair
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OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our CothmitmenEto GodCorporate Governance

We believe thatgQpdcorporate governance and an environment.of high ethical standards are important for

Agenus to achieve bpsinçss success.and to create value for our stockholders Our Board of Directors is

committed to high governance standards and to continually working to improve them We continue to review our

corporate governancerprnctices in light of ongoing changes inapplicable law and.eyolving best practices

Role of Our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors is currently fixed at eight members There have been no changes in the Board since

the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The Board monitors overall corporate perfonnance the integrity of our financial controls risk management
and lØgaicothpliance probedthe It elects senior management Ætid Oversees sUccession planning and senior

managemnts performance and cotnpensatiL The Board also oversees ourshort.- and long-term strategic and

businbss planning and reviews with management its business plan financing plans budget and other key

finanŁial and bUsinessobjective

Members of the Board keep informed about our business through discussions with the Chief ExecUtive

Officer and other members of-ourseniOr management teafli by reviewing niaterials provided to them by the

Company on aAregular.basis and in preparation for Board and committee theetings and by participating in

meetings of the Board and its committees We regularly review key portions ofour business with the Board

These practices afford the Boatdmembers the opportunity to actively participate in risk management assessment

and raise questions and engage in discussions with management regarding areas of potential risk The Audit and

Finance Committee of the Board reviews the risk management practices of the Company and both the Corporate

Governance and Nominating Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee receives report at least annually

from the Companys Chief Compliance Officer outlining areas of compliance focus and proposed

recommendations Additionally the Compensation Committee reviews the Company executive compensation

prograin arid the Ihcentivesbreatd the executive compensation program to assess whether our compensation

arrangements encourage excessive nsk taking by our executives

We introduce dur exedutiv6 and other ithploees to the Board so that the Board can beconie familiar with

our key talent Timdthy Wriglitour Lead Director engages With eaCh new Board member to intbduce each

new member to our Corporate Governance policies and their responsibilities to the Company as director Each

Board methber receives BoEd dfDireetors handbook that prdvides them with suniniary of these practices and

policies

In 2010 thBdaid met six times and acted by Written consant fdur times During O10 each of our

director Øxcet for Mr Hatsopdülos and Dr Lºvitsky attended at least 75% of-the total number of meetings of

the Board heldkliiririg the period during which the directoE served and all mØetingsof conmiittdes of the Board

on which the director served during the periods the director served We ºxpUct our Boald mChibers to attend our

annual meetings of stockholders in 2010 all of our then current Board members attended our annual meeting of

stockholders

Governance Guidelines

The Board is guided by our Guidelines on Significant Corporate Governance our Governance

Guidelines We believe our Governance Guidelines demonstrate our continuin commitinent to good corporate

governce The aoard reviews thçse Qovernance Quidelines jrcm time to time as needed The Governance

Guidelinçs are posted on the corporate gpvernance section ofpur website at http//www.agnusbio.comJinvestors/

corporate No material on our website is part of this proxy statement
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Performance of Our Board

We consider it important to continually evaluate and improve the effectiveness of the Board its committees

and its individual members We do this in various ways Each year the Lead Director surveys the Board

members to assess the effectiveness of.the Board and its committees Using these surveys the Lead Director

assesses the Boards performance and thperformance of individual members and reports his conclusions to the

full Board The assessment alsotevaluates the Boards effectiveness in reviewingexecutive management

conducting appropriate oversight and adding value to Agenus Each of the Boards standing committees also

conducts annual self-evaluations

At each Board meeting each Board member has the opportunity to assess the effectiveness of the materials

presented and the conduct of the meeting and to offer suggestions for improvement at future meetings

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board originally adopted our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics the Code of Ethics in 2003 The

Board reviewed revised and updated the Code of Ethics most recently in January 2011 The Code of Ethics

applies to all members of the Board and all employees of Agenqs includjng our Chief Executive Officer Chief

Financial Officer Principal Accounting Officer or controller or persons performing similar functions Our Code

of Ethics prohibits the members of the Board and all employees of Agenus from buying or selling our securities

while in possessiop of material non-public information about the Company Our code of Ethics is posted on the

corporate govemance section of our website at http//w.agenusbip.con/investors/corporate No material on

our website is part of this proxy statemnt Wc intend to post on our website all disclosures that are required by

law or NASDAQ stock market listing standards conceming any amendments to or waivers from our Code of

Ethics Stockholders may request afree qopy of our Code of Ethics by writing to Investor Relations Agenus Inc
Forbes Road Lexington MA 02421

Independence of Directors

Our Govemance Guidelines provide that majority of the Board should composed of independent

directors The Corporate Govemance and Nominating Committee annually reyiews the independence of the

directors and reports to the Board which directors it recommends that the Board determine are independent The

Board then makes the final determination The Board takes into account NASDAQ stock market listing

standards applicable laws and regulations and other fact9rs in making its determinations including potential

conflicts of inteiest transactions and other relationships that would reasonably be expected to compromise

directors independence The Board has determined that Mr Corvese Mr Dechaene Mr Hatsopoulos

7- Mr Jordan Dr Levitsky Mr Rothwell and Mr Wright are currenfly independent directors Dr Armen is

currently not an independent director because he is employed as Chief Executive Officer In making

independence determinations with regard to other directors the Board considered transactions between us and

director or directors affiliates and any positions director holds with entities with commçrcial relationships

with us In particular with
respect to Dr Levitsky the Board considered his roles as consultant and member of

the Companys Medical Advisory Committee and with respect to Mr Wright the Board considered his services

assisting the Companys business development and partnering efforts as describe4 below

Executive Sessions of Independent Directors

-7 Our independent directors typically meet in executive session without management present immediately

prior to regularly scheduled Board meetings Five such meetings were held during 2010

Leadership Structure of the Board

Mr Wright an independent director serves as the Lead Director of the Board and as Chair of the Corporate

Govemance and Nominating Committee Mr Wright So serves on the Compensation Committee and the

Research and Development Committee In addition to the duties of all directors the specific responsibilities of
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the Lead Director ificlude acting as chair of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committçe

ii developing the agenda for and presiding over all executive sessions of the independent directors iii acting

as principal liaison between the independent directors and the Chief Executive Officer on sensitive issues and

raisIng atiiny meeting of the Board of Directors items that are not appropriately or best put forwafd by the Chief

Executive Officer and iv communicating to the Chief ExecutiveOfficer the independent directors ahnual

evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer In addition to the above we expanded the role of Mr Wright on an

interim basis with respect to providing services to assist the management of the Company With business

development and partnering efforts The Companys Chief Exbcutive Officer serves the Chairman of the

--- Board We believe that the Companys Chief ExecutiveOfficer is best situated to serve as Chairman because he

is the director most familiar with the Companys business and most capable of effectively idenTifying strategic

priorities and leading the discustion and execution of our Companys strategy Our independent directors and

management have different perspectives and roles in strategy development The Companys independent

directors bring experience oversight and expertise from outside the Company and from inside and outside the

Companys industry while the Chief Executive Officer b4ngs Company-specific experience and expertise To

assure effective independent oversight the Company has adopted number of governance practices including

strong independent clearly-defined lead director role as described above

executive sessions of the independent directors held prior to quarterly board meetings and

an annual performance evaluation of the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer by the independent

directors

While there may be circumstances in the future that would lead the Company to separate the offices of

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer we do not believe this is currently necessary due to the nature and size of

the operations for our early-stage biotechnology company the overall independence of the Board of Directors

from management and the strength of the Lead Directors role on the Board

Committeesof the Board

The Board currently has four standing committees the Audit and Finance Committee theCompensation

Committee the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and the Research and Development

Committee The Board also appoints from time to time ad hoc committees to address specific matters

Audit and Finance Committee

Members Meetings in 2011k

Bfian Corvese Chair

Tom Dechaene

John Hatsopoulos

The Audit and Finance ConmTiittee consists entirely of independent directors within the meaning of the

NASDAQ stock market listing standards and the requirements contemplated by Rule 1OA-3 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the 1934 Act The Board has determined that Brian Corvese Chair of the

Committee Tom Dechaene and John Hatsopoulos each qualify as audit committee financial eperts For the

entirety of 2010 the Audit and Finance Committee consisted of Mr Corvese Chair Mr Dechaene and

Mr Hatsopoulos

The Audit and Finance Committees primary function is to assist the Board in monitoring the integrity of

our consolidated financial statements and our system of internal control The Audit and Finance Committee has

direct resonsibility for the appointment independence and monitoring of the performance of our Independent

registered public accounting firm The committee is responsible for pre-approving any engagements of our

indepandent registered public accounting firm The committee also reviews our risk management practices

strategic tax planning preparation of quarterly and annual financial reports and compliance processes
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The Audit and Finance Committee members meet regularly with our independent registered public

accounting fiith withbukt management present and with members of management in separate private sessions to

discæss any matters that the commitfee or these individuals believe should bç discussed privately with the

committee includi$ any significant issues or disagreements concerning our accounting practices or consolidated

financial statements The committee also reviews the Code of Ethics annually and periodically meets with our

Chief Cippliance qfcicer The committee conducts meeting each quarter to review the consolidated financial

statements prior to tle public release of earnings The committee has the authority to engage special legal

accounting or other consuliants to advise the committee The Audit nd Finance Committee charter is posted on

thecorporate governance section of our website at http //www agenusbzo corn/investors/corporate No matenal

on oir webite is pait of this proxy statement Please also see the Report of the Audit and Finance Committee on

page 57

Compensatjon Committee

Members Meetings in 2010

Wadih Jordan Chair

Brian Conese

Timothy Wright

During the entirety of 2010 Mr Jordan and Mr Wright were members of our Compensation Committee

Mr Corvese joined the Compensation Committee on March 10 2010 Our Compensation Committee consists

entirely of independent directors within the meaning of applicable NASDAQ stock market listing standards The

committees primary responsibilities are to address our executive officers and key employees development

ittention and performance and to oversee compensation and benefit matters It reviews and approves

compensation policies for Agenus to ensure that our compensation strategy supports organizational objectives

and stockholder interests and does not create incentives for inappropriate risk-taking The committee detennines

the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and reviews and approves the compensation of all other

executive officers and certain key employees It also reviews and recommends compensation for members of the

Board Additionally the committee approves and recommends and suggests material changes to any employee

incentive comen1sation or retirement plans and any director compensation plahs

The Compensation Committee considers appropriate companies for compensation comparison purposes and

retains an outside compensation consultant Oyster Pond Associates to provide market reference information for

compensation and benefits The committee has the authority to retain special legal accounting or other

consultants to advise the committee The committee also has the authority to delegate to subcommittees any

responsibilities of the full committee The Compensation Committee charter is posted on the corporate

governance
section of our website at http//www.agenusbio.conilinvestors/corporate No material on our website

is part of this proxy statement Please also see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis starting on page 17

and the accompanying Compensation Committee Report on page 29

Corporati Governance and Nominating Committee

Members Meetings in 2010

Timothy Wright çhafr

Tom Dechaene

Hyam Levitsky MD

The Corporate Govemance and Nominating Committee consists entirely of independent directors within the

meaning applicable WASDAQ stock tharket listing standards The Corporate Governance and Nominating

Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board policies relating to the conduct of Board affairs the

process fcr annual evaluation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer and issues of corporate public

responsibility aid oversees the Companys succession planning It periodically evaluates the composition of the

Board the contribution of individual directors and the Boards effectiveness as whole The committee reviews
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the Companys ethics and compliance activities under the Code of Ethics arid meets periodically with our Chief

Compliance Officer including meeting as needed for separate private session with the Chief Compliancd

Officer without management present

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee recommends to our full Board individuals to serve

as directors The committee recommends to the Board guidelines and criteria for Board membership and reviews

with the Board on periodic basis the appropriate skills and characteristics requirŁdofBoard mŁnibers itithe

context of the then current neçds of Agenus The committee is responsible for reviewing with the Board the

appropriate personal characteristics and professional competencies preferred of Bqard members who are

expected to work together as.ate tp properly oversee ow strategies and operatio In gpneral all directors are

expected to possess certain peropal characteristics necssary to create highly functioi3al and collegial Board

which include personal and professional integrity practical wiomand mature judgment an inquisitive and

objective perspective and time availability for performing the duties of director.

The Board as group is expected to encompass range of talents ages skills diversity and expertise

sufficient to provide sound and prndent guidance with respect to the operations aid interests of our business

Examples of desired profethional competencies include accounting and finamcial Jitçracy industry kiiowledgç

medical or scientific knowledge and management experience Candidates should also be enthusiastic about

service on our Board and working collaboratively with existing Board members to create value for all of our

stockholders

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Coffimittee does nbthave fotmal policjr with regard to the

consideration df director candidates recommended by stockholders beCause it dos not believe ucha policy is

Scessary given that no unaffiliated stockholder has ever rommended director candidate When tonsidriring

director candidates the Corporate Govefnance and Nominating Cothmitteein consultatidn with the Chief

Executive Officer and full Board of Directors considers the cufrent strehgth on the eiitin Board the current

needs of the organization and anticipated future activities and requirements of both the Board and the

organization as whole Historically director candidates have been identified primarily through referrals and the

executive network pool of the Board and senior executives If the committee were to receive recommendation

for director candidate from stockholder the committee expects that it would evaluate such candidate using

the criteria described above The committee will consider recommendation only if appropriate biographical

information and background material is provided on timely basis accompanied by statement as to whether the

stockholder or group
of stockholders making the recommendation has beneficially owned more than 5% of our

common stock for at least one year as of the date that the recommendation is made To submit recommendation

for nomination stockholder may write to the Lead Director Agenus Inc 162 5th Avenue 9th Floor New

York NY 10010 Attention Lead Director

In addition our by-laws pennit stockholders to nominate individuals without any action or recommendation

by the committee or the Board for election as directors at an annual meeting of stockholders For description of

this by-law provision see Additional Information on page 58 of this proxy statement The charter of the

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is posted on the corporate governance section of our website

at http//www.agenusbio.com/investors/corporate No material on our website is part of this proxy statement

Research and Development Committee

Members Meetings in 2010

Hyam Levitsky M.D Chair

Timothy Rothwell

Timothy Wright

For the entirety of 2010 Dr Levitsky and Mr Wright were members of our Research and Development

Committee Mr Rothwell joined the Research and Development Committee on May 12 2010 The committee

reviews important matters involving research and development strategies and the acquisition and protection of
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the Companys intellectual property rights and assets and provides its perspective on such matters to thefull

Board of Directors The charter of the Research and Development Committee is posted on the corpOrate

governance section of our website at http//www.agenusbio.com/investors/corporate No material on our website

is part of this proxy statement

Communications with-the Board

Yoti may contact the Board or any committee of the Board by writing to Board of Directors or specified

committee Agenus Inc 162 5th Avenue 9th Floor New York NY 10010 Attn LeadDirector You should

indicate on your dorrspbndence that you are an Agenus stockholder Communications will be distributed to the

Lead Director the appropriate committee chairman or other members of the Board or executive managethent as

appropriate depending on thefacts and circumstances stated in the communication received Executive

management will generally determine the proper response to inquiries of commercial nature whiŁh generally

will not be forwarded to the Lead Director Inquiries regarding accounting internal accounting controls or

auditing matters will be forwarded to the Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee and inquiries involving

matters govemØd by the Code of Ethics will be for%arded to the Chair of the Corporate Governance and

Nominating Committee alid the Chief Compliance Officer

Compensation

Comminee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of the Compensation Committee for the year ended December 31 2010 wereMr Jordan

Chair Mr Corvese and Mr Wright No member of the Compensation Committee was at any timç during 2010

or fonnerly an officer or employee of Agenus or any subsidiary of Agenus No executive officer of Agenus has

served as director pr member of compensation committee or other committe serving an equivalent function

of any other eqtity while an executive officer of that other entity served as director of Agenus or member of our

Compensation Committee
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview

Our executive compensation and benefits program is designed to effectively attract and retain the highest

caliber executives and reward and motivate them to pursue our strategic opportunities while effedtivelj managing

the risks and challenges inherent to development-stage biotechnology company We have created

compensation package that combines short- and long-term components cash and equity and fixed and

contingent payments in the proportions we believe are most appropriate to incent and rSard our senior

management to achieve the following goals

Build creative and high performance team whose participants understand and share our business

objectives and ethical and cultural values

Demonstrate leadership and innovation in the identification development and commercialization of

Jproduct candidates that fit our strategic objectives

Efiectively nianage the miiltiiile dimensions of our business from research and development through

chmcal trials manufacturing strategic alliances and all aspects of
operations in order to maximize the

value of each dollr deployed

Identify and address out short- and long-term financing requirements in highly strategic and creative

mannet and deploy available funds for maximum benefit to our stockholders

Our executive compensation strategy not only aims to be competitive in our industr but also to be fair

relatiiie to other professionals within our organization We seek to foster performance-oriented culture where

individuAl performance is aligned with Organizational objectives and is tied to the value we deliver to our

stockholders Our executives base salary target annual bonus levels and target annual long-term incentive

award values are set at competitive levels Executives have the opportunity to earn above-market pay only for

above-market performance as measured against our peer group of companies

We continually review our compensation approach in order to ensure our programs reward executkzes for

achieving our goals and objectives in manner consistent with other development-stage iotechnQlQgy

companies At the same time in designing our compensation package we seek to align the consequences to our

executives with those to our stockholders if an executives decisiOns result in our goals and objectivds not being

achieved We evaluate and reward our executives based on their contribution to the achievement of short- and

long-term goals and objectives and their capability to take advantage of unique opportunities and overcome

difficult challenges within our business We believe that our approach to setting goals and objeØtives our mix of

short-term and long-term incentives and our evaluation of performance results assist us in managing ny risk

taking that may result from our compensation program and aligning our employees behavior with our overall

business plan and the interests of our stockholders

Role of Our Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee approves administers and interprets out executive compensation and benefit

policies including our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan the 2009 EIP Our Compensation Committee is appointed

by our Board of Directors and consists entirely of directors who are outside directorsr for purposes of

Section 162m of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code and non-employee directors

for purposCs of Rule 16b-3 under the 1934 Act Our Compensation Committee is comprised of Mr Jordan

Chair Mr Corvese and Mr Wright

Our Compensation Committee ensures that our executive compensation and benefit program is consistent

with our compensation philosophy and our Goverhance Guidelines and determines the executive compensation

packages offered to our officers
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Executive Compensation Program

Components of our Compensation Program

Our performance-linked compensation program consists of the four components listed below

Shorçtprm compensation

BdsŒsalary

Annual.incentive bonuse
--

Long-term incentives

Bedefits

Severance compensation and termination protection

We have established goal deployment program to operationalize our strategic priorities to set and refine

Company objectives and to cascade those objectives throughout the organiation To determine levels of overall

executive compensation the Compensation Committee balances individual functional area and company wide

goals and achievements OA an individual level each member of bur executive ieam bets goals focusing on the

categories mentioned above with an emphasis on measurable and achievable goals Our goal sethngprocess is

participatory Each executive participates in establishing the objectives of our Company as whole and offers

his or her views as to the goals of each others functional atea-insofar as those goals impact the individual

executives own functional area We also ask our executives to provide feedback not only on their own

performance and that of their particular-area but also of other functional areas and ourentire organization We
see this

process both as the optimal means of assembling accurate information regarding the expectation and

realization of performance as well as an integral part of our culture of collaborative team-orientedmanagement

Final goalsand objectives area approved by the Board of Directors

In 2010 our Company goals included

rophage

Tesiivalidate Russian import/export process

Bring additional treatment centersonline in Russia

Determine registrational stiatØgy for renal cell carcinoma RCC in Eutope

Complete the na1ysis of the survival registry for the RCC trial and publish results

Advanºe clinical development in glioma at minimal expense to the company

QS-21

Support and optimize existing partnerships and monitor use by third parties to maximize proprietary

position

Raisethe ectemal profile of programs and assets to increase stockholder value

General Finance and Administration

keduce our net cash burn rate and optimize our existing financial and human resources

Generate sufficient cash to fund operations through 2011

Maintain NASDAQ listing qualification standards

-s Strgçgicaliy and cost effectively advance oir intellectual property position for Proplage our HSP

technology QS-21 and other assets
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Each year we evaluate the achievement of Company goals and objectives functional area goals and

individual executive performance At the end of the year we review final performance results versus our goals

and objectives and begin discussions regarding goals and objectives for the next fiscal year Incentive

compensation based on the achievement of goals and objectives may be awarded in the form of an annual cash

bonus and equity-based awards Equity-based awards are used to align the interests of our executives with those

of our stockholders and to promote long-term performance perspective and progress toward achieving our long-

term strategy

Our senior executives total compensation may vary significantly year to year based on Company and

individual performance Further the value to our senior executives of equity awards will vary based on our stock

price performance

Short-term Compensation

Our short-term compensation program consists of base salary and annual incentive bonuses Base salary will

typically be used to recognize the experience skills knowledge and responsibilities required of each officer as

well as competitive market conditions

Base Salary Base salaries for our executives are generally positioned at or around the 60th percentile

versus our peer group see Competitive Market Review for further information on the peer group In

establishing the base salaries of the executive officers our Compensation Committee and management

take into account number of factors including the executives seniority position and functional role

and level of responsibility

We also consider the following factors when determining base salary

For newly hired personnel we consider the base salary of the individual at his or her prior

employment and any unique personal circumstances that motivated the executive to leave that

prior position and join our Company In addition we consider the competitive market for

corresponding positions within comparable companies of similar size and stage of development

For individuals newly promoted to position we also consider the competitive market and their

prior salary and experience Where these individuals may not have the same level of experience at

the time of promotionas counterpart hired from outside the Company we may define multi-

step approach to bringing their salaries in line with targeted levels Salary increases at each of

these steps will be confingent on the continued good perfonnance of the individual

The base salary of our named executive group is reviewed on ai annual basis and adjustments are

made to reflect performance-based factors as well as competitive conditions Increases are considered

within the context of our overall annual financial constraints before more specific individual and

market competitive factors are considered We do not apply specific formulas to determine increases

Generally executive salaries are reviewed in the fourth quarter and any adjustments are made effective

January of the following year For 2010 the Board of Directors approved pay increase of 6%
payable in two increments and dependent upon continued employment for each of our named

executive officers and excluding Dr Armen The first 3% was effective on May 24 2010 and the

remaining 3% was effective December 20 2010 In January 2011 the Board of Directors approved an

increase of 6% for Dr Armen effective as of January 2011

AnnualIncentive Bonuses Annual incentive bonuses for our executive officers are based on

achievement of the Companys goals and objectives well as individual performance as outlined in

our 2004 Executive Incentive Plan as amended the Executive Incentive Plan An individual

executive is eligible to receive an award ranging from 0-200% of his or her target bonus based on the

Compensation Committees evaluation of the results and at their discretion The Companys annual

goals and objectives are set at the beginning of each fiscal year and are reviewed and approved by the

Board of Directors At the end of the fiscal year our executive management prepares report outlining
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the extent to which the goals and objectives were achieved and presents that to the Compensation

Committee along with recommendation on the percentage funding level for the executive officers

target bonus awards The Compensation Committeeevaluates the report along with any relevant

supporting documentation and considers it in the context of any change in facts or circumstances that

could have impacted goal attainment throughout the year From time to time the Compensation

Committee may request supplemental information from management to support its evalnation Based

on this evaluation as well as the Companys available financial resources the Compensation

Committee determines the appropriate funding level for the executive officers target bonus payout

There is no quantifiable formula or weighting of goals As result the Compensation Committee

exercises discretion in establishing the funding level of the executive officers target bonus payout

taking into account the level of achievement of the Company goals as whole Once determined the

recommended bonus payout level is applied to each executive officers target bonus percentage to

establish the individual target award The Compensation Committee may exercise further discretion to

adjust the actual bonus paid to the individual executive officer to recognize an extraordinary personal

contribution or performance ditappoii-itment that impacted the Companys overall performance When

exercising discretion to establish overall funding levels and individual awards the Compensation

Committee members apply the same standards of good faith and fiduciary duty they apply to their

general responsibilities as committee of the Board of Directors and as individual directors

For the 2009 and 2010 performance years the target bonuses as percentage of base salary were as

follows

Target Bonus

Named Executive Officer 2009 2010

Dr Armen 50% 50%

Ms Sharp 40% 40%

Ms Valentine 30% 30%

Ms Wentworth 40% 40%

Ms Kiaskin 30% 30%

For the 2009 and 2010 performance years the annual incentive awards granted to our executive officers and

othermembers of key management were based largely on total Company perfornance Mtl1 limited adjustments

for the executives individual performance This approach was taken to acknowledge and reinforce the

importance of teamwork in addressing the uiique set of performance challenges facing the Company in this

cycle which included the reduction of staff and resources the consolidation of priorities and the attendant need

to optimize cross-functional cooperation

In determining the annual incentive awards granted to our executive officers for the 2010 performance year

our Compensation Committee noted the folloing key accomplishments

Prophage

Successfully exported tumor and imported vaccine for commercial patients in Russia

Completed analysis of RCC survival registry

Expanded phase investigator sponsored trial in newly diagnosed glioma with funding through

.1. government grants and patient advocacy groups

QS-21

Raised profile of QS-2 with advancement of Glaxo Smith Klines shingles program

Awarded Therapeutic Discovery Project Grant
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General Finance and Administration

Successfully regained compliance with NASDAQs $1.00 per share bid price requirement

Reduced annual cash bum rate by 14%

Raised 8.6 million through ATM facility and $3.7 million from partnerships and grant programs

providing sufficient cash to fund operations through 2011

Our Compensation Conmtittee gave weight to the fact that these accomplishments were made in

-- challenging economic environment in which the management team was under severe resource constraints when

determining the annual incentive award

The incentive awards for 2009 performance were paid in shares of unrestricted fully vested stock with the

exception of an additional cash payment made to Ms Wentworth to reward her for her extraordinary

contributions in connection with our European filing for Oncophage The incentive awards for 2010 performance

were delivered partially in cash and partially in shares of unrestricted stock

The total payout in stock and cash for 2010 performance was approximately 100% of target each measured

as of the date that the Compensation Committee approved the awards

For 2011 the Compensation Conm-iittee approved certain amendments to the Executive Incentive Plan to

allow payment of required taxes related to the vesting of restricted stock grants to be made by the Company as

prepayment of an anticipated bonus At the time of bonus payout the total amount paid in taxes by the Company

for each executive will be deducted from the final bonus payout The Compensation Committee feels that

amendment will
encourage executives to hold vested shares of stock instead of selling shares to cover taxes

Long-tenn Incentives

Our long-term incentives consist of stock options and restricted stock grants Our stock options and

restricted stock grants are designed to align managements performance objectives with the interests of our

stockholders Our Compensation Committee grants options and restricted stock to key executives to enable them

to participate in long-term appreciation of our stockholder value as well as to share the impact of any business

setbacks whether Company-specific or industry-based Additionally through each grants vesting schedule

stock options and restricted stock provide means of encouraging the retention of key executives

On January 19 2010 in connection with the 2009 annual incentive bonus plan the Compensation

Committee issued an unrestricted stock grant to named executive officers and other key members of management

to provide the executive officers with liquidity in consideration of the fact that this award was in lieu of cash

incentive bonus

On April 2010 in conjunction with the 2010 annual incentive bonus plan the Compensation Committee

issued cash payments equal to 30% of target bonus to named executive officers and other key members of

management with the exception of Dr Armen Subsequently in January 2011 the Compensation Committee

issued combination of cash and unrestricted stock which vested shortly after being awarded to named

executives and other key members of management for the remaining 70% of their target bonus At that time

Dr Armen was issued an unrestricted stock grant equal to 110% of his target bonus which vested shortly after

being awarded

Also in January 2011 the Compensation Committee approved grant of restricted shares for Agenus

executives that vests only on the achievement of key milestones The Compensation Committee believes the

issuance of these performance shares enhances the pay-for-performance characteristics of its long-term incentive

strategy and provides even closer alignment with stockholder interests
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For the January 2011 grant the milestones and weightings are

Completion of major collaboration or acquisition which advances the development of our HSP

products or expands our product and/or technology portfolio 40%

Completion of enrollment in the Prophage G-l00 Phase trial in newly diagnosed glioma 40%

Completion of the restructuring of our 2005 and 2006 convertible notes 20%

The Performance Shares have term of 2.5 years Any portion of the grant not earned in that timeframe will

be forfeited Details of each executives grant
is included under Compensation Actions for 2011

The details of all stock options and restricted stock grants made to named executive officers in 2010 are

outlined in the section entitled Compensation Actions for our Chief Executive Officer and our other Named

Executive Officers and are also reflected in the Summary Compensation Table

Initial and Promotional Long-Term Incentive Grants

The size of the initial long-term incentive grant made to executives upon joining the Company or to cunent

employees being promoted to executive positions is primarily based on competitive conditions applicable to the

executives specific position In addition the Compensation Committee considers the number of options and

restricted shares owned by other ekecutives in comparable positions within our Company and has with the

assistance of our independent compensation consultant Oyster Pond Associates tstablished long-term incentive

guidelines for specified categories of executives We believe this strategy is consistent with the approach of other

development-stage companies in our industry and in our Compensation Committees view is appropriate for

aligning the interests of our executives with those of our stockholders over the long term

Market Comparisons

We use number of methodologies to make extemal comparisons when we set the number of options and

restricted shares to be granted to each executive On an individual basis we compare

the fair value of the grant determined using methods that are consistent with the guidance in

Accounting Standards Codification 718 Compensation7Stock Compensation ASC 718

the face value of the grant by position

the face value of the grant as multiple of base salary

the number of options and restricted shares granted by position

the number of options and restricted shares in total granted and still held by position as percentage

of total shares granted and of total common shares outstanding and

the proportion of exerciable to non-exercisable shares held in total

On total Company basis when it is appropriate we analyze

total annual equity bum rates

total number of shares remaining in the approved pool under the 2009 EIP and

equity overhang

We believe these comparisons provide important additional context for comparing the competitive level of

our equity-based compensation practices versus the market
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Ultimately awards to senior executives are driven by their performance over time their ability to impact our

results that drive stockholder value their level within the organization their potential to tke on roles of

increasing responsibility in our Company and competitive equity award levels for similar positions and

organizaiion levels in our peer conipanies Equity awards are not granted automatically to our executives on an

annual basis

We expect our senior executives to hold meaningful equity position in the company and our Board of

Directors has set stock retention guidelines for our executives to encobrage and facilitate this principle Directors

executive officers and all other employees of our Company are required to sign our Companys Policy Statement

on Securities Trades This policy prohibits trading on.pr disclosing material non-public information and also

establishes black-out periods for directors officers and certain other.members of key management to avoid

even the appearance of impropriety

Benefits

We provide the following benefits to our senior executives generally on the same basis as the benefits

provided to all employees

Health and dental insurance

Life insurance

Short- and long-term disability

401k plan and

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We believe that these benefits are consistent with those offered by other companies and specifically with

those companies with which we comjete foF employees

Severance Compensation and Termination Protection

We have entered into employment and change of control arrangements with Dr. Armen Ms. Sharp

Ms Valentine and Ms Wentworth and Ms Kiaskin participates in our executive change of control plan These

arrangements provide for severance compensation to be paid if the executives are terminated under certain

conditions such as change of control of the Company or termination without cause by us each as is defined

in the respective agreements or plan

The employment and change of control arrangements between our Company and our senior executives and

the related severance compnsàtion provisidns ate deiigned to met the following objectives

Change of Control As part of our normal course of business we engage in discussions with other

biOtechnology and pharmaCeutical Companies about possible collaborations licetising and/or other

ways in which the companies may work together to further our respective long-term objectives In

addition many larger established pharmaceutical companies consider companies at similar stages of

development to ours as potential acquisition targets In certain scenarios merger or sale of the

Company may be in the best interests 6f our stockholders We prdvid severance compensation if an

executive is terminated as resblt Of change of control transaction in order to maintain management

continuity in the event potential transaction is announced and to prome the ability of our senior

executives to act in the best interests df our stockholders even though they could be terthinated as

result of the transaction

Termination without Cause If we terminate the employment of senior executive without cause or the

executive resigns for good reason as defined in the applicable agreement we are obligated to continue

to pay the base salary bonus and medical and dental benefits for defined period as well as to
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provide outplâcenient services We believe this is appropriate because the terminated exdcutive is

bound by confidentiality non-solicitation and non-compete provisions covering one year after

termination and because we and the executive have mutually agreed to severance package that is in

place prior to any termination event This provides us with more flexibility to make change in senior

management if we consider such change to be in our and our stockholders best interests

The payments provided under these arrangements are follows

Change of Control Upon change of control 50% of the executiVes unvested stock options and

restricted shares immcdiately vest If the executive is terminated other than for cause or resigns for

good reason as result of the change of control the remaining 50% vests

If Dr Armen is terminated other than for cause or resigns for good reason upon change of

control he is entitled to receive from the Company

his base salary for period of 24 months bonus and medical and dental benefits

continuation

outplacement services and

gross-up payment to cover any excise taxes required under Section 2800 of the Code

Other named executive officers with executive employment and change of control arrangements

are entitled to receive from the Company 18 months base salary bonus and medical and dental

benefits continuation outplacement services and Section 280G gross-up payments under the same

circumstances

Termination without Cause

If we terminate Dr Armens employment without cause or he resigns for good reason not

involving change of control he is entitled to 18 months base salary bonus and medical and

dental benefits continuation and outplacement services

Other named executive officers with executive employment agreements are entitled to 12 months

base salary bonus and medical and dental benefits continuation and outplacement services under

the same circumstances

Executive employment and change of control arrangements are covered in greater detail in the section

entitled Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

Compensation Actions for our Chief Executive Officer and our other Named Executive Officers

Compensation actions for 2010 and 2011 reflect our managements and our Compensation Committees

assessments of performance relative to Company goals and objectives and individual performance objectives

and comparisons againt market references described above

Dr Armen our Chief Executive Officer makes recommendations to our Compensation Committee as to

individual compensation actions for the senior executives including the named executive officers but excluding

himself Using the same criteria outlined above our Compensation Committee works with the Vice President of

Human Resources and the independent compensation consultant engaged by the Compensation Committee to

determine the specific Compensation actions for our named executive officers

Our compensation actions for our Chief Executive Officer and our other named executive officers are

summarized as follows
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Dr Garo ArmenChairinan and Chief Executive Offic

Compensation Actions in 2010

Base Salary In 2010 our Compensation Conmuittee at Dr Armens request did not increase

Dr Armens base salary His 2010 base salary remained at $440000 Dr Armen continued to receive

30% of his base salary in unrestricted shares of cOmmon stock as indicated above

Annual Incentive Bonus In March 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Dr Armen an annual

incentive bonus pf 231579 shares of unrestricted stock in lieu of cash valued at $178316 to reward

him for his perfonnance in 2009

Long Term Incentives In conjunction with acompany-wide grant iii January 2010 Dr Armen was

granted stock options for 350000 shares and 100000 restricted shares that vest in equal quarterly

increments over three-year period

Compensation Actions in 2011

Base Salary In 2011 our Compensation Committee increased Dr Armens base salary by 6% His

2011 base salary is $466400 Dr Annen will receive 34% of his base salary in unrestricted shares of

common stock

Annual Incentive Bonus In January 2011 our Compensation Committee awarded Dr Armen an annual

incentive bonus of 253980 shares of unrestricted stock in lieu of cash valued at $256520 to reward

him for his performance in 2010

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2011 Dr Armen was

granted stock options for 489928 shares that vest in equal quarterly increments over three-year

period and 201095 restricted shares which vest based on the completion of certain milestones as

indicated above in the section titled Long-Term Incentives

Karen ValentineVice President and General Counsel

Compensation Actions in 2010

Base Salary In May 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Valentine 6% increase in her

base salary payable in two increments On May 24 2010 Ms Valentines base salary increased 3% to

$226600 and on December 20 2010 her base salary increased an additional 3% to $233200

Annual Incentive Bonus In January 2010 our Compensation Conmiittee awarded Ms Valentine an

annual incentive bonus of 93789 shares of unrestricted stock in lieu of cash valued at $84410 to

reward her for her performance in the 2009 performance year In April 2010 our Compensation

Committee awarded Ms Valentine cash payment of $19800 as part of her 2010 annual incentive

bonus

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2010 Ms Valentine was

granted stock options for 75000 shares and 30000 restricted shares that vest in equal quarterly

inØrements ovei three-yearperiod

Conipensation Actions in 2011

Base Salary As of the date of this filing our Compensation Committee has made no change to

Ms Valentines base salary for 2011

Annual Incentive Bonus In January 2011 our compensation Committee awarded Ms Valentine an

annual incentive bonus of $30096 in cash and 19865 shares of unrestricted stock valued at $20064 to

reward her for her performance in the 2010 performance year
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Long Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2011 Ms Valentine was

granted stock options for 88400 shares that vast in equal quarterly increments over three-year period

and 43560 restricted shares which vest based on the completion of certain milestones as indicated

above in the section titled Long-Term Incefltives

Shalini SharpVice President and Chief Financial Officer

Compensation Actions in 2010

Base Salary In May 2010 our Conipensation Committee Sarded Ms Sha4 6% increase in her base

salary payable in two increments On May 24 2010 Ms Sharps base salary inci2eased 3% to $247200

and on December20 2010 her base salary increased an additional 3% to $254400

Annual Incentive Bonus In January2010 our Compensation Committee avªrded Ms Sharp an annual

incentive bonus of 136421 shares of unrestricted stock in lieu of cash valued at $122779 to reward her

for her performance in the 2009 performance year In April 2010 our Compensation Committee

awarded Ms Sharp cash payment of $28800 as part of her 2010 annual incentive bonus

Long-Tenn Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2010 Ms Sharp was

granted stock options for 125000 shares and 45000 restricted shares that vest in equal quarterly

increments over three-year period

Compensation Actions in 2011

Base Salary As of the date of this filing our Compensation Committee has made no change to

Ms Sharps base salary for 2011

Annual Incentive Bonus In January 2011 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Sharpan annual

incentive bonus of $43776 in cash and 28895 shares of unrestricted stock valued at $29184 to reward

her for her performance in the 2oloiperformance year

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2011 Ms Sharp was

granted stock options for 148070 shares that vest in equal quarterly iticrements over three-year

period and 72930 restricted shares which vest based on the completion of certain milestones as

indicated above in the section titled Long-Term Incentives

Kerty WentwonhVice President Clinical Regulatory and Quality

Compensation Actions in 2010

Base Salary In May 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Wentworth 6% increase in

her base salary payable in two increments On May 24 2010 Ms Wentworths base salary increased

3% to $247200 and on December 20 2010 her base salary increased an additional 3% to $254400

Annual Incentive Bonus In January 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Wehtworth an

annual incentive bonus of 136421 shares of uniestricted stock in lieu of cash yalued at $122779 to

reward hpr performance in the 2009 performance year In April 2Q10 our Compensation Committee

awarded Ms Wentworth cash payment of $28800 as part of her 2010 annual incentive bonus

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2010 Ms Wentworth

was granted stock options for 150000 shares and 50000 restricted shares that vest in equal quarterly

increments over three-year period

Compensation Actions in 2011

Base Salary As of the date of this filing our Compensation Committee has made no change to

Ms Wentworths base salary for 2011
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Annual incentive Bonus In January 2011 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Wentworth an

annual incentive bonus of $43776 in cash and 28895 shares of unrestricted stock valued at $29184 to

reward her for her performance in the 2010 performance year

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 201 Ms Wentworth

was granted stock options for 185088 shares that vest in equal quarterly increments over three-year

period and 91163 restricted shares which vest based on the completion of certain milestones as

indicated above in the section titled Long-Term Incentives

Christine KlaskinVice President Finance

Compensation Actions in 2010

Base Salary In May 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Kiaskin 6% increase in her

base salary payable in two increments On May 24 2010 Ms Klaskins base salary increased 3% to

$190550 and on December 20 2010 her base salary increased an additional 3%to $196100

Annual incentive Bonus In January 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Klaskin an

annual incentive bonus of 78868 shares of unrestricted stock in lieu of cash valued at $70981to

reward her performance in the 2009 performance year In April 2010 our Compensation Connnittee

awarded Ms Klaskin cash payment of $16650 as part of her 2010 annual incentive bonus

Long-Term incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2010 Ms Klaskin was

granted stock options for 75000 shares and 30000 restricted shares that vest in equal quarterly

increments over three-year period

Compensation Aqtipns in 2011

Base Salary As of the date of this filing our Compensation Conmiittee has made no change to

Ms Kiaskins base salary for 2011

Annual incentive Bonus In January 2011 our Compensation Committee awarded Ms Klaskin an

annual incentive bonus of $25308 in cash and 16705 shares of unrestricted stock valued at $16872 to

reward her for her performance in the 2010 performance year

Long-Term Incentives In conjunction with company-wide grant in January 2011 Ms Klaskin was

granted stock options for 40000 shares that vest in equal quarterly increments over three-year period

and 30000 restricted shares which vest based on the completion of certain milestones as indicated

above in the section titled Long-Term Incentives

Competitive Market Review

The market for top tier executive talent is highly competitive Our objective is to attract and retain superior

leadership team In doing so we aim to thaw upon pooi of talent that is highly sought after by both large and

established pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies in and outside our geographic area and by other life

science companies

We believe we have competitive advantages in our ability to offer significant upside potential throigh stock

options and other equity instruments Nonetheless we must recognize market cash compensation levels and

satisfy the day-to-day financial requirements of our candidates through competitive base salaries and cash

-- bonuses We also compete on the basis of our vision of future success our culture and values the cohesiveness

and productivity of our teams and the excellence of our scientists and management personnel

In order to succeed in attracting highly talented executives we continuously monitor market trends and

thaw upon surveys prepared by the Radford Surveys division of AON Hewitt custom research developed by our

compensation consultants Oyster Pond Associates and other nationally recognized surveys Our Compensation

Conmiittee reviews data that analyzes various cross-sections of our industry as well as relevant geographical

areas
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Market References How We Define Market and How We Use Market Compensation Data Since 2003 we

have worked with Oyster Pond Associates an independent compensation consultant to evaluate our total

compensation program and compare it to levels in the market Oyster Pond Associates provides services at the

direction of the Compensation Committee through the Companys Vice President of Human Resources who

acts as the management liaison to the Compensation Committee and the primary contact with the consultant Our

consultant works with our Vice President of Human Resources and the Compensation Committee to interpret

results make certain specific and general recommendations and assist in the determination of next steps

Defining the Market For 2010 we used two market references to compare our executive total compensation

practices and levels to those in the market

Radford Global Life Sciences Survey conducted by the Radford unit of AON Hewitt national survey

of executive compensation levels and practices that covers approximately 1300 positions in more than

560 life science organizations We focus primarily on predetennined subset of companies with

between 50 and 149 employees

Proxy data derived from select peer group of biotech companies of similar size market

capitalization development stage and therapeutic focus The composition of this group is reassessed on

an annuaj basis with guidance from our compensation consultants Oyster Pond Associates The select

peer group was updated in January 2008 and was comprised of the following fourteen 14 companies

ArQule Biocryst Pharmaceuticals Cell Genesys Cell Therapeutics CombinatoRx Cytokinetics

Dendreon Immunogen Micromet Onyx Pharmaceuticals Poniard Pharmaceuticals Sunesis

Supergen and Vical

Given the changes to the competitive and financial landscape of the last two years and the effect of

these changes on the measures that the Compensation Committee considers in determining

comparability in May 2010 the Committee requested that Oyster Pond Associates present

recommendations for reconstituting the
peer group to ensure continued parity with Agenus In

September 2010 the Committee approved changing the group to include twenty-five 25 companies as

follows ARIAD Pharmaceuticals ArQule mc Array BioPharma AVEO Pharmaceuticals BioCryst

Pharmaceuticals Cell Therapeutics Curis mc Cytokinetics Dyax GTx mc Idera Pharmaceuticals

ImmunoGen mc Immunomedics mc Infinity Pharmaceuticals Ligand Phannaceuticals Omeros

Pain Therapeutics Peregrine Pharmaceuticals Sangamo BioSciences Sunesis Pharmaceuticals Synta

Pharmaceuticals Trubion Pharmaceuticals Vical mc Zalicus formerly CombinatoRx mc and

ZIOPHARM Oncology

Determining Market Levels and Specific Comparisons We compare our practices and levels by each

compensation component by total annual compensation including target annual incentive opportunity and by

total compensation including equity compensation components The competitive comparisons made in this

process are used to determine our approximate position relative to the appropriate market reference by

compensation component and in total

Total Compensation

We intend to continue our strategy of compensating our named executive officers at competitive levels with

the opportunity to earn above-market pay for above-market performance We will continue to emphasize long-

term equity incentives and performance-based incentive compensation delivered in the form of equity to maintain

our competitive pay philosophy

For 2010 the total compensation paid to the named executive officers generally fell between the 40th and

60th percentile of total compensation paid to executives holding equivalent positions in our peer group of

companies We believe that the total compensation was reasonable in the aggregate and under our financial

circumstances Further in light of our compensation philosophy we believe that the total compensation package

for our executives should continue to consist of base salary annual incentive awards bonus long-term equity-

based incentive compensation and certain other benefits

28



The competitive posture of our total annual compensation versus the market references will vary year to

year based on Company and individual performance as well as the performance of the peer group companies and

their respective level of annual performance bonus awards made to their executives We will continue to target

total annual direct compensation at approximately the 50th to 60th percentile with an emphasis on performance-

based variable compensation

Evolution of our Compensation Strategy

Our compensation strategy is necessarily tied to our stage of development Accordingly the specific

direction emphasis and components of our executive compensation program continue to evolve in parallel with

the evolution Of our business strategy For example we expect that if we become fully integrated commercial

company our executive compensation rogram in particular our Executive Incentive Plan will focus more on

quantitative performance metrics Our Compensation Discussion and Analysis would in the future reflect these

evolutionary changes

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee of the Board consists entirely of independent directors who are not officers

or employees of Agenus The Compensation Committee charter is posted on the corporate govemance section of

our website at http//www.agenusbio.com/investors/corporate No material on our website is part of this proxy

statement

The Compensation Committee of the Board has reviewed and discussed with management the foregoing

Compensation Discussion and Analysis and based on such review and discussion the Compensation Committee

recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement

on Schedule 14A for filing with the SEC

By the Compensation Committee

Wadih Jordan Chair

Timothy Wright

Brian Corvese
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUT1VE OFFICERS

Summary Compensation

This table shows certain information about the compensation earned in 2010 2009 and 2008 by our Chief

Executive Officer our Chief Financial Officer our Principal Accounting Officer and our other most highly

compensated executive officers who were serving as an executive officer as of December 31 2010 We refer to

these officers as our named executive officers

Non-Equity
Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other

Salary Awards2 Awards3 Compensation4 Compensation5 Total

Name and Principal Position Year

Garo Armen Ph.D.1 2010 440000 253316 210280 5072 37350 946018

Chief Executive Officer 2009 440000 768900 593250 31604 1833754

2008 440000 357658 269714 34804 1102176

Shalini Sharp 2010 244708 156529 75100 32916 19335 528588

Vice President and Chief 2009 240000 42624 56613 5638 344875

Financial Officer 2008 240000 148791 68751 10358 467900

Karen Valentine 2010 224315 106910 45060 22387 16916 415588

Vice President and General 2009 220000 24901 31781 13525 290207

Counsel 2008 220000 93975 52885 19825 386685

Kerry Wentworth 2010 244708 160279 90120 30916 9801 535824

Vice President Clinical 2009 240000 42624 50850 50000 7531 391005

Regulatory and Quality .2008 240000 138534 68751 22830 470115

Christine Kiaskin 2010 188629 93481 45060 19290 5894 352354

Vice President Finance and 2009 185000 24642 30764 4760 245166

Principal Accounting Officer 2008 185000 88105 52885 9255 335245

As an employee-director Dr Armen receives no additional compensation for his services to the Board

Based on the fair value of nonvested shares on the grant date Please see the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 as

filed on March 16 2011 for assumptions applied

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the options granted Please see the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2010 as filed on March 16 2011 for assumptions applied Option awards for 2009 represent

the grant date fair value of options granted with the terms of our Tender Offer as included in our Schedule

TO filed with the SEC on June 17 2009

Cash bonuses paid under the Executive Incentive Plan

Please see the tables below which summarize all other compensation
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2010

Executive Officer

Insurance

Premiums

GaroH Armen Ph.D 18754

Shalini Sharp 17967

Karen Valentine 14505

Kerry Wentworth 7335

Christine Klaskin 2759

2009

Insurance

Executive Officer

Premiums

laro Armen Ph.D 15883

Shalini Sharp 4253

Karen Valentine

Kerry Wentworth

12256

6146

Christine Klaskin 2493

2008

Insurance

Premiums

Executive Officer

401k
Company

Match

Garo Armen Ph.D 14514 3181

Shalini Sharp 2046 6900

Karen Valentine 11676 6402

Kerry Wentworth 5639 6645

Christine Klaskin 2293 5188

401k
Company

Match

Car Service

to Base

Office

Other

Benefits Total

957

1368

13789 3850 37350

19335

2411 16916

2466 9801

1935 1200 5894

401k
Company

Match

Car Service

to Base

Office

Other

Benefits Total

2234

1385

11565 1922 31604

5638

1269 13525

1385 7531

1067 1200 4760

Car Service

to Base

Discounted

Securities Other

Office Purchases Benefits Total

15109

1149

2000
263

34804

10358

1747

10546

19825

22830

574 1200 9255
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2010

This table shows our grants of plan-based awards to named executive officers in 2010 All of the awards

under the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column in the Sunmiary Compensation table were made

under our Executive Incentive Plan The awards reflected in the All Other Stock Awards and All Other Option

Awards columns were made under either our 999 Equity Incentive Plan as amended the 1999 EIP or our

2009 EIP

All Other All Other

Stock Option
Awards Awards Exercise or Grant Date

Number Number Base Fair Value

of Shares of Securities Price of of Stock

of Stock or Underlying Option and Option
Grant Units Options Awards Awards

Executive Officer Date if II $/Sh $4

Garo Armen Ph.D 1/26/2010 100000 350000 0.75 285280

Chief Executive Officer 3/10/20102 231579 178316

Shalini Sharp 1/l9/2010 136421 122779

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer l/26/2010 45000 125000 0.75 108850

Karen Valentine l/19/2010 93789 84410

Vice President and General Counsel 1/26/2010 30000 75000 0.75 67560

Kerry Wentworth 1/19/20 10s 136421 122779

Vice President Clinical Regulatory and

Quality 1/26/20101 50000 150000 0.75 127620

Christine Kiaskin 1/19/20 10s 78868 70981

Vice President Finance and Principal

Accounting Officer 1/26/20101 30000 75000 0.75 67560

The restricted stock and stock options vest quarterly over three
years beginning on April 26 2010

The restricted stock vested on March 10 2010

The restricted stock vested on January 19 2010

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the options granted Please see the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended

December 31 2010 as filed on March 16 2011 for assumptions applied

Dr Armen Ms Sharp Ms Valentine and Ms Wentworth each currently have an employment and change

of control agreement providing minimum base salary The employment and change of control agreements for

our current and former executive officers entitle them to participate in employee benefit and fringe benefit plans

and programs made available to executives generally Additionally the employment and change of control

agreements provide for the reimbursement of reasonable customary and necessary business expenses subject to

our travel policy For our executives all other compensation items including perquisites comprise small

portion of overall total compensation

The exercise price for all stock options granted in 2010 equaled the fair market value of the Companys
common stock on the date of the grant Fair market value on the date of grant was determined as the closing

market price of the Companys common stock on the date of the grant
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2010

The following table shows outstanding equity awards for the named executive officers as of December 31

2010

Name

Garo Armen Ph.D

Chief Executive Officer

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of

Nmnber of

Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options

Exercisable

Number of

Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options if
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise

Price

Option

Expiration

Date

Shares or

Units of

Stock that

have not

vested

if

Market Value

of Shares or

Units of Stock

That Have Not

Vested7

437499

318227

158400

170000

875011

528002

85000

1.58

1.63

2.27

1.57

7/16/19

9/15/16

9/12/17

9/10/18

87500 262500s 0.75 /26/20

15000a

750006

83511

278002

21667s

5000k

93750s

337506

1.58

1.74

1.63

2.27

1.57

0.75

7/16/19

9/13/16

9/15/16

9/12/17

9/10/18

1/26/20

41749

60000

22267

83400

43333

31250

23437

12500

30000

36675

33333

15150

75750

5050

34088

Shalini Sharp

Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Karen Valentine

Vice President and General Counsel

Kerry Wentworth

Vice President Clinical Regulatory and

Quality

Christine Kiaskin

Vice President Finance and Principal

Accounting Officer

46881

122252

16667s

1.58

1.63

2.03

2.27

1.57

7/16/19

9/15/16

12/4/ 16

9/12/17

9/10/18

3334 3367

18750 56250i 0.75 1/26/20

225006 22725

37499 7501 1.58 7/16/19

60000 2.03 6/14/16

20000 1.63 9/15/16

120900 403002 2.27 9/12/17

43333 21667s 1.57 9/10/18

5000a

37500 112500s 0.75 1/26/20

375006

22687

30000

15311

36675

33333

4538

122252

16667i

1.58

1.74

1.63

2.27

1.57

5050

37875

3367

22725

7/16/19

9/13/16

9/15/16

9/12/17

9/10/18

1/26/20

33344

225006

18750 56250s 0.75
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The options vested on January 16 2011

The options vest on September 12 2011 provided the executive remains employed sith us

The options vest on September 10 2011 provided the executive remains employed with us

The restricted stock vests on September 10 2011 provided the executive remains employed with us

The options vest in nine equal quarterly installments beginning January 26 2011 provided the executive

remains employed with us

The restricted stock vests in nine equal quarterly installments beginning January 26 2011 provided the

executive remains employed with us

We valued the stock awards using the closing price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital Market

on December 31 2010 which was $1.01 per share utilizing the same assumptions that we utilize under

ASC 718 for our financial reporting

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for 2010

The following table shows information about restricted stock that vested in 2010 and the value realized on

those awards by our named executive officers in 2010 No stock options were exercised by our named executive

officers in 2010

Stock Awards

Number of

Shares Acquired Value Realized

On Vesting On Vesting

________
GaroArmen 271579 216932

Chief Executive Officer

Shalini Sharp 152671 138529

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Karen Valentine 104622 94910

Vice President and General Counsel

Kerry Wentworth 153921 139762

Vice PrSident Clinical Regulatory and Quality

Christine Klaskin 89701 81481

Vice President Finance and Principal Accounting Officer

Pension Benefits for 2010

We do not have any plans providing for payments or other benefits at following or in connection with

retirement

Non qualified Defined Contribution and Other Non qualified Deferred Compensation Plans for 2010

We do not have any nonqualified defined contribution plans or other deferred compensation plans for our

executive officers

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Con trol

We have entered into certain agreements and maintain certain plans that may require us to make certain

payments and/or provide certain benefits to the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table in

the event of termination of employment or change of control Dr Armen Ms Sharp Ms Valentine and

Ms Wentworth are each currently party to employment and change of control agreements providing for
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payments in connection with sUch officers termination or change of control Ms Kiaskin is party to Shange

of control plan providing for payments in connection with change of control change of control or change
in control is defined in each of the agreements and pian generally as the acquisition by any individual entity

or group of 50% or more of the common stock of the Company ii change in the incumbent Board of

Directors such that incumbent directors cease to constitute at least majority of our Board of Directors iii

sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or iv approval by the

stockholders of the Company of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company The following text and

tables summarize the potential payments to each applicable named executive officer assuming that the triggering

event occurred on December 31 2010 the last day of our fiscal year

Our Chief Executive Officer

Under Dr Armens employment and change in control agreement if we terminate Dr Armens employment

without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason as defined he is entitled to receive from the

Company

his base salary for period of 18 months plus lump sum payment of 150% of the higher of his target

incentive bonus for that year or his last actual incentive bonus

coverage
under our medical and dental plans for 18 months folloing the date of termination

lump sum payment of $15000 for outplacement assistance

gross-up for any faxes vith respect to such 6utplacement assistance payment

gross-up payment for any taxes interest and penalties imposed by Section 4999 of the Code and

at the Compensation Committees discretion the acceleration of vesting of any unvested stock options

Under Dr Armen employment and change in control agreement good reason means the occurrence of

any of the following events

failure tocontinue Dr Armen in the position of Chief Executive Officer

ii material and substantial diminution in the nature or scope of his responsibilities

iii material reduction in base salary or benefits or

iv relocation of Dr Armens principal offiqe without his prior consent to location more than 30 miles

away

Upon change of control 50% of any of Dr Armens outstanding unvested stock options and shares of

unvested restricted stock as ofthe change of control date become vested and exercisable and in the case of

shares of restricted stock no ionger subject to forfeiture except that ii the restriction lapses on 100% of the

unvested restricted stock granted on September 10 2008 If change of control occurs and within 24 months we

terminate Dr Armen employment without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason he is

entitled to receive from the Company

lump sum payment of 24 months of base salary plus two times the higher of his target incentive

bonus for that year or his last actual incentive bonus

coverage under our medical and dental plans for 24 months following the date of termination

lump sUm payment of $15000 for outplacement assistance

gross-up for any taxes with respect to such Qutplacement assistance payment

gross-up payment for any taxes interest and penalties imposed by Section 4999 of the Code and

acceleration of vesting for all unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock as of the date of

termination
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Additionally under Dr Armens employment and change in control agreement he is subject ty

non-competition and non-soUcitation period for the greater of 18 months post-tçrmination or the period during

which he is receiving post-termination payments from us

Termination in Connection with Termination without Cause or

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control with Good Reason5

Change of Control

Base Salary 880000 660000

Bonus Payment 440000 330000
Acceleration of Vesting of Equity 122608 N/A

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits 50196 41958

Gross-up Payments for Change of Control Excise

Taxes N/A N/A

Total 1492804 1031958

We used the following assumptions to calculate these payments

We valued stock options accelerated using the closing price of our common stock on The NASDAQ
Capital Market on December 31 2010 which was $1.01 per share utilizing the same assumptions that

we utilize under ASC 718 for our financial reporting Upon change of control without termination

the acceleration of vested equity would be valued at $68879

We assumed in each case that termination is not for cause the executive does not violate his

non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with us following termination the executive does not receive

medical and dental insurance coverage from another employer within two years of termination or change of

control and the executive does not incur legal fees requiring reimbursement from us

We used the same assumptions for health care benefits that we used for our financial reporting under

generally accepted accounting principles

Gross-up payments assume December 31 2010 change of control and termination date For purposes of

these payments the following are included as parachute payments cash severance payable upon termination in

connebtion with change of control the value of any outplacement services and benefits continuation due in the

event of such termination and the value of the acceleration of outstanding equity awards all determined in

accordance with applicable tax regulations We bave assumed that all outstanding options are cashed oUt in the

assumed transaction for an amount equal to the excess if any of $1.01 the closing price of our common stock

on December 31 2010 the last business day of the year over the exercise price per share under the option

multiplied by the number of shares subject to the option Finally these figures assume that none of the parachute

payments will be discounted as attributable to reasonable compensation andr no value is attributed to the

executive executing uon-competition agreement in connection with the assumed termination of employment

Other Named Executive Officers

Under the employment and change in control agreements for Ms Sharp Ms Valentine and

Ms Wentworth if we terminate each officers employment without Cause or if each officer terminates her

employment for good reason each officer is entitled to receive from the Company

her base salary for period of 12 months plus lump sum payment of the higher of the officers target

incentive bonus for that year or their last actual incentive bonus

coverage under our medical and dental plans for 12 months following the date of termination

lump sum payment of $15000 for outplacement assistance

gross-up
for any taxes with respect to such outplacement assistance payment

36



gross-up payment for any taxes interest and penalties imposed by Section 4999 of the Code and

at the Compensation Committees discretion the acceleration of vesting of any unvested stock options

Under the employment and change in control agreements for the various named executives good reason

means the occurrence of any of the following events

Good Reason Ms Sharp Ms Valentine Ms Wentworth

Matenal and substantial diminution in nature of scope of

responsibilities

Material reduction in base salary or benefits

Relocation of office by more than 30 miles without prior

consent

Change of principal place of business from

Califomia2

For purposes of change of control

Termination benefit at reduced level in comparison with other good reason

Under the employment and change in control agreements for Ms Sharp Ms Valentine and

Ms Wentworth upon change of control

50% of any of each officers outstanding unvested stock options and shares of unvested restricted

stock as of the change of control date become vested and exercisable and in the case of restricted

stock no longer subject to forfeiture except that ii the restriction lapses on 100% of the unvested

restricted stock granted on September10 2008 as of the change of control date and

If change of control occurs and within 18 months we terminate the officers employment without

cause or if the officer terminates her employment for good reason the officer is entitled to receive from

the Company

lump sum payment of 18 months of base salary plus 150% of the higher of their target incentive

bonus for that year or their last actual incentive bonus

coverage under our medical and dental plans for 18 months following the date of termination

lump sum payment of $15000 for outplacement assistance

gross-up for any taxes with respect to such outplacement assistance payment

gross-up payment for any taxes interest and penalties imposed by Section 4999 of the Code and

the acceleration of vesting for all unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock as of the

date of termination

Under Ms Sharps employment and change in control agreement her principal place of business is in

Califomia If Ms Sharp is asked to relocate to the Companys New York or Massachusetts locations she has the

right to terminate the agreement and upon such termination Ms Sharp is entitled to receive from the Company

her base salary for period of months plus lump sum payment of the higher of one-half of her

target incentive bonus for that year or one-half of her actual incentive bonus

coverage under our medical and dental plans for six months following the date of termination

lump sum payment of $7500 for outplacement assistance



gross-up for any txes with respect to such outplacement assistance payment and

at the Compensation Côniniittees discretion the acceleration of vesting of any unvSted stock options

Under the change of control plan for Ms Klaskin upon change of control

50% of any of each Ms Kiaskins outstanding unvested stock options and shares of unvŁsted

restricted stock as of the change of control date become vested and exercisable and in the case of

restricted stock no longer subject to forfeiture except that ii the restriction lapses on 100% of the

unvested restricted stock granted on September 10 2008 as of the change of control date and

If change of control occurs and within 18 months we terminate Ms Klaskin employment without

cause or if Ms Klaskin terminates her employment for goo4reason she is entitled to receive from the

Company

lump sum payment of 12 months of base salary plus the higher of her target incentiye bonus for

that year or her last actual incentive bonus

coverage under our medical and dental plans for 12 months following the date of tehnination

lump sum payment of $10000 for outplacement assistance

gross-up for any taxes with respect to such outplqcement assistance payment and

the acceleration of vesting of all unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock as of the

date of the change in control

Additionally under the officers employment and change of control arrangements they are each subject to

non-competition and non-solicitation period for the greater of 12 months post-termination or the period during

which the officer is receiving post-termination payments from us

Termination in Connection with Termination without Cause or with

Change of Control Good Reason

Executive Benefits and

Payments Upon Termination Ms Ms Ms Ms Ms
or Change of Control Kiaskin Valentine Sharp Wentworth Kiaskin

BaseSalary 196100 349800381600 381600 N/A

Bonus Payment 70981 126615 184169 184169 N/A

Acceleration of Vesting of

Equity 32777 32778 50240 56200 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Perquisites and Other Personal

Benefits 12781 36951 41958 26010 N/A 30382 33720 23088

Gross-up Payments for Change of

Control Excise Taxes N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 312639 546144 657967 647979

We used the following assumptions to calculate these payments

We valued stock options accelerated using the closing price of our common stock on The NASDAQ
Capital Market on December 31 2910 which was $1.01 per share utilizing the same assumptions that

we utilize under ASC 718 for our financial reporting Upon change og control without termination the

acceleration of vested equity would be valued at $18072 $18073 $27645 and $30625 for

Ms Klaskin Ms Valentine Ms Sharp and Ms Wentworth respectively

We assumed in each case that tennination is not for cause the executive does not violate her

non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with following termination the executive does not

receive medical and dental insurance coverage from another employer within eighteen months of

termination or change of control and the executive does not incur legal fees requiring reimbursement

from us

Ms Ms Ms
Valentine Sharp Wentworth

233200 254400 254400

84410 122779 122779

N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A 347992 410899 400267
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We used the same assumptions for health iare benefits that we used for our financial reporting under

generally accepted accounting principles

Gross-up payments assume December 31 2010 change of control and termination date For purposes

of these payments the following are included as parachute payments cash severance payable upon

termination in connection with change of control the value of any outplacement services and benefits

continuation due in the event of such termination and the value of the acceleration of outstanding

equity awards all determined in accordance with applicable tax regulations We have assumed that all

outstanding options are cashed out in the assumed transaction for an amount equal to the excess if any
of $1.01 the closing price of our common stock on December 31 2010 the last business day of the

year over the exercise price per share under the option multiplied by the number of shares subject to

the option Finally these figures assume that none of the parachute payments will be discounted as

atthbutable to reasonable compensation and no value is atthbuted to the executive executing

non-competition agreement in connection with the assumed termination of employment

Change of Control Arrangements Under Our 2009 EIP

Under our 2009 EIP in the event of change of control as determined by the Board the Board may make

provision for the continuation acceleration or assumption or substitution of unvested options and restricted

stock or provide for cash-out of outstanding awards
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table shows the compensation paid or awarded to each non-employee director for their

service as non-employee director in 2010

Fees Earned Option All Other

or Paid in Cash1 Awards2 Compensation Total

Tom Dechaene 46000 26351 72351

Wadih Jordan 41500 26351 67851

Hyam Levitsky M.D 43000 26351 3208s 72559

Timothy Wright 66000 26351 92351

Timothy Rothwell 36250 26351 62601

Brian Corvese 55750 26351 82101

John Hatsopoulos 43000 26351 69351

Includes fees earned in 2010 but deferred pursuant to our Directors Deferred Compensation Plan as

amended

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the options granted Please see the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2010 as filed on March 16 2011 for assumptions applied Each director was granted 30000

options during 2010

Represents consulting fees earned

Employee directors do not receive any additional compensation for their service as director Each year the

Compensation Committee reviews the compensation we pay to our non-employee directors The committee

compares our Board compensation to compensation paid to non-employee directors by similarly sized public

companies in similarbusinesses The committee also considers the responsibilities that we ask our Board

members to assume and the amount of time required to perform those responsibilities

Cash and Equity Compensation for Non-Employee Directors for 2010

Type of Fee

Annual retainer 34000

Additional annual retainer for Lead Director 18000

Additional annual retainer for Audit and Finance Committee Chair 18000

Additional annual retainer for Audit and Finance Committee member 9000

Additional annual retainer for Compensation Committee Chair 7500

Additional annual retainer for Compensation Comniittee member 5000

Additional annual retainer for Corporate Govemance and Nominating Committee

Chair 6000

Additional annual retainer for Corporate Govemance and Nominating Committee

member 3000

Additional annual retainer for Research and Development Committee Chair 6000

Additional annual retainer for Research and Development Committee member 3000

Initial stock option grant1 25000 shares

Annual stock option grant 15000 shares

Each stock option grant vests over three years in equal annual installments Any unvested portion vests

automatically on the last day of the term of director who does not stand for reelection at the end of his or

her term

Agenus also reimburses non-employee directors for reasonable travel and out-of-pocket expenses in

connection with their service as directors
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Our Directors Deferred Coinperisation Plan as amended the DDCP permits each non-employee

director to defer all or portion of his or her cash compensation until his or her service ends or until specified

date director may credit his or her deferred cash into an interest bearing account an equity account or

combination of both As matter of policy directors are encouraged to elect to defer twenty-five percent of their

cash compensation in the form of equity under the DDCP

The Board has adopted policy guideline that encourages
directors to hold 37500 shares of equity within

reasonable period of time following their election or appointment to the Board In addition to purchasing shares

in the open market directors may utilize the DDCP or the Agenus Board Compensation Policy which allows

directors to receive their compensation in stock to acquire these shares In accordance with the requirements of

the DDCP elections to defer compensation thereunder must be made prior to the end of the third quarter of the

prior calendar year In some cases director due to securities law restrictions may be unable to purchase such

shares until such election takes effect

14
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OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Ownership By Management

On April 18 2011 Agenus had 113337624 shares of common stock issued and outstanding This table

shows certain information about the beneficial ownership of Agenus common stock as of that date by

each of our cun ent directors

each nominee for director

our Chief Executive Officer

oui Financial Officer

our Principal Accounting Officer

our other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers as of

December 31 2010 and are named in the Summary Compensation Table and

all of our current directors and executive officers as group

According to SEC rules we have included in the column Number of Issued Shares all shares of common

stock over which the person has sole or shared voting or investment power as of April 18 2011 and we have

included in the column Number of Shares Issuable all shares of common stock that the person has the right to

acquire within 60 days after April 18 2011 through the exercise of any stock options the vesting of restricted

shares or in the case of directors any shares to be distributed under the DDCP All shares that person has

right to acquire within 60 days of April 18 2011 are deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the

percentage beneficially owned by the person but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the

percentage beneficially owned by any other person

Unless otherwise indicated each person has the sole power or shares the power with spouse to invest and

vote the shares listed opposite the persons name Where applicable ownership is subject to community property

laws Our inclusion of shares in this table as beneficially owned is not an admission of beneficial ownership of

those hares by the person listed in the table Except as noted the address of each stockholder is do Agenus Inc

162 Fifth Avenue Suite 900 New York NY 10010

Number of Issued Number of Shares Percent

Name of beneficial owner Shares Issuable Total of Class

Garo Armen Ph.D 80640262 4100615s 12164641 10.4%

Tom Dechaene 159905a 159905

John Hatsopoulos 125000 189530s 314530

Wadih Jordan 2946056 294605

Hyam Levitsky M.D 15376 80643y 96019

Timothy Rothwell 19428 26666 46094

Timothy Wright 10000 923248 102324

Brian Corvese 75000 75000

Shalini Sharp 293579 183747 477326

Karen Valentine 87568 98926 186494

KerryA.Wentworth 195383 206430 401813

ChristineM Klaskin 96856 101287 198143

All current directors and executive officers as group

12 persons8 8907216 5609678 14516894 12.2%

Less than one percent

Shares that can be acquired upon the exercise of stock options or restricted shares vested as of 60 days

following April 18 2011 and in the case of directors shares to be distributed under the DDCP
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Includes 1501667 shares of our stock held by Annen Partners LP liniitedpartnership in which

Dr Armen is the general partner 1271102 and 2336246 shares held by the Garo Armen 2009 Year

GRAT and the Garo Annen year GRAT respectively

Includes 1708717 shares issuable upon exercise of warrants

Includes 54905 deferred shares to be distributed in accordance with the terms of our DDCP
Includes 129530 deferred shares to be distributed in accordance with the terms of our DDCP
Includes 174605 deferred shares to be distributed in accordance with the terms of oUr DDCP
Includes 5643 deferred shares to be distributed in accordance with the terms of our bDCP
Includes 17324 deferred shares to be distributed in accordance with the terms of our DDCP

Ownership By Certain Beneficial Owners

This table shows certain information based on filings with the SEC about the beneficial ownership of our

capital stock as of April 18 2011 by each person known to us owning beneficially more than 5% of any class of

our capital stock

Percent

Name and Address of beneficial Owner TItle of Class Number of Shares of Class

Brad Kelly 1. Common 5546240 4.9%

1410

Moran Road Series 16201 100%

Franidin TN 37069-6300 Preferred

Fletcher Asset Management Inc Series 31o5 100%

48 Wall Street Preferred

5th Floor

New York NY 10005

Ingalls Snyder LLC Common 674660l 6.0%

61 Broadway

New York NY 10006

Mr Kelley owns 31620 shares of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock our only shares of outstanding

Series preferred stock These shares have an initial conversion price of $15.81 and are currently

convertible into 2000000 shares of our common stock If Mr Kelley had converted all 31620 shares of

Series Convertible Preferred Stock into shares of common stock as of April 18 2011 he would have held

7546240 shares of our common stock or 6.5% of the shares outstanding

Fletcher Asset Management Inc owns 3105 shares of our Series Convertible Preferred stock our only

shares of outstanding Series preferred stock

Includes 6746601 shares of common stock held by Ingalls Snyder LLC and related entities as reported

in the Schedule 13G/A as filed by Ingalls Snyder Value Partners LP on February 24 2011

SECTION 16a BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Our executive officers directors and 10% stockholders are required under Section 16a of the 1934 Act to

file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of our securities with the SEC

Based solely on review of the copies of reports furnished to us we believe that during our 2010 fiscal

year our directors executive officers and 10% stockholders complied with all applicable Section 16a filing

requirements

CERTAIN RELATIONSIIIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Transactions

No such transactions or currently proposed transactions since January 2010 exist
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Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures

The Audit and Finance Committee of the Bbard is responsible for reviewing and approving all material

transactions with any related party on continuing basis Related parties can include any of our directors or

executive officers certain of our stockholders an4 their immediate family members This obligation is set forth

in writing in our Audit and Finance Committee Charter copy of the Audit and Finance Committee Charter is

posted on the corporate governance section of our website at http//www.agenusbio.com/investors/corporate No

material on our website is part of this proxy statement In evaluating related party transactions our Audit and

Finance Committee members apply the same standards of good faith and fiduciary duty they apply to theft

general responsibilities as commitiee of the Board and as individual directors The Audit and Finance

Conmiittee will approve related party transaction when in its good faith judgment the transaction is in the best

interest of Agenus

To identify related party transactions eachyear we submit and require our directors and executive officers

to complete Director and Officer Questionnaires identifying any transactions with us in which the officer or

director or their family members have an interest We also review related party transactions due to the potential

for conflict of interest conflict of interest occurs when an individuals private interest interferes or appears

to interfere in any way with our interests Our Code of Ethics requires all directors officers and employees who

.1 -1 may have pdtential or apparent conflict of interest to immediately notify our Chief Compliance Officer for

review and approval by management and our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee copy of our

Cqde of Ethics is posted on the corporate governance section of our website at http//www.agenusbio.com/

investors/corporate No material on our website is part of this proxy statement
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EQUITY PLANS

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity

compensation plans as of December 31 2010

Number of Securities

Remaining Available for

Number

of Securities in be Weighted Average Futare suance under
--

Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan

Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights1 Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column a2

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 8120142 $2.11 11604603

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders

Total 8120142 11604603

Includes 333843 shares issuable under our DDCP at weighted average price of $1.41

Includes 410275 shares that may be issued under our 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 23211

shares available under our DDCP
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PROPOSAL 2TO APPROVE AN AMENDMENT TO OUR AMENDED AND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO EFFECT REVERSE STOCK SPLIT OF COMPANY
COMMON STOCK AT THE DISCRETION OF THE.BOARJ OF DIRECTORS

Summary

We are seeking stockholder approval to grant our Board of Directors discretionary authority to amend our

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as amended to effect reverse stock split of the shares of

common stock at an exchange ratio of not less than 1-for-2 and not more than 1-for 10 at any time prior to our

.- 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders The Board of Directors believes that providing the flexibility for the

Board to choose an exact split ratio based on then current market conditions and to effect such reverse stock split

at any time prior to the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will better enable us to act in the best interests of

the Company and its stockholders

The form of proposed amendment to our restated certificate of incorporation to effect reverse stock split is

attached to this proxy statement as Appendix the Reverse Stock Split Amendment We are seeking your

approval of the Reverse Stock Split Amendment

If this proposal is approved the Board will have the authority but not the obligation in its sole discretion

and without any further action rim the part of the stockholders to effect the reverse stock plit at any time it

believes to be mbst advantageous to the Company and its stockholders This proposal would give the Board the

authority to implement one but not more than one reverse stock split reverse stock split would be effeØted by

the filing of the Reverse Stock Split Amendment with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware The Board

will retain the authority not to effect the Reverse Stock Split Amendment even if we receive stockholder

approval Thus subject to stockholder approval the Board may at its discretion file the amendment to effect

reverse stock split or abandon it and effect no reverse stock split if it determines that such action is not in the best

interests of the Company and its stockholders If the Reverse Stock Split Amendment is not filed with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware prior to the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the

Reverse Stock Split Amendment will be deemed abandoned without any further effect

The Boards decision as to whether and when to effect the reverse stock split will be based in part on

prevailing market conditions existing and expected trading prices for our common stock and the Companys

compliance with the minimum bid price continued listing requirements of The NASDAQ Capital Market

Reasons for the Reverse Stock Split

Our Board of Directors believes that the goal of increasing the per-share price of our common stock through

reverse stock split may be in the best interests of the Company for number of reasons as discussed below In

2009 and 2010 the Company sought and received stockholder approval to initiate reverse stock split however

the Board of Directors has not chosen to exercise its discretion to date

Implementing the reverse stock split could help maintain the Companys listing on The NASDAQ Capital

Market In April 2009 we moved from the NASDAQ Global Market to the NASDAQ Capital Market as part of

our plan to regain compliance with minimum market value requirements On March 2011 we were notified by

the Listing Qualification Staff of NASDAQ the Staff that we were out of compliance with NASDAQ
Marketplace Rule 5550a2 the Bid Price Requirement because the bid price for our common stock closed

below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for thirty consecutive business days To date we have been

unable to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement and on April 18 2011 our common stock closed at

$.89 per share This is the third time we have been in non-compliance with the Bid Price Requirement since our

move to the NASDAQ Capital Market The Board of Directors approved the reverse stock split proposal in part

as potential means of increasing the share price of our common stock to price above the $1.00 per share

requirement If the Board decides to effect the reverse stock split it will seek to set the applicable ratio to
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increase our stock price sufficiently above the $1.00 minimum required for the continued listing on The

NASDAQ Capital Market so that we would not be faced in the future with delisting for failure to meet this

requirement absent significant percentage decrease in our common stock

If our common stock were delisted the stock would then be eligible for quotation onthe Over-The-Counter

OTC Bulletin Board maintained by NASDAQ on another over-the-counter quotation system or on the pink

sheets If that occurs the liquidity and marketability of shares of our cormnon stock would decrease As result

an investor might find it more difficult to dispose of or to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of

our common stock In addition if our common stock were to be delisted and the trading price of the common

stock were to continue to be less than $1.00 per share trading in our common stock would be subject to certain

rules under the 1934 Act which require additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trades

involving stock defined as penny stock involving persons other than established customers and accredited

investors The additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers might discourage broker-dealers from effecting

transactions in our common stock which might further affect the liquidity of our common stock For the above

reasons we believe that current and prospective investors will view an investment in our common stock more

favorably if the shares remain listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market than if our common stock trades on the

OTC Bulletin Board or similar trading systems

If our common stocks closing bid price satisfies the minimuni closing bid price rule prior to approval of

this proposal we may still effect the reverse stock split if stockholders approve this proposal and if our Board of

Directors determines that effecting the reverse stock split would be in the best interests of our Company and our

stockholders for the following reasons

It could heighten the interest of the financial community in the Company and potentially broaden the

pool of investors that may consider investing or be able to invest in the Company by increasing the

trading price of our common stock and decreasing the number of outstanding shares of our common

stock

It could help to attract institutional investors who have intemal policies that either prohibit them from

purchasing stocks below certain minimum price or tend to discourage individual brokers from

recommending such stocks to their customers

It may also encourage investors who had previously been dissuaded froth purchasing our Companys

common stock because commissions on lower-priced stocks generally represent higher percentage of

the stock price than commissions on higher-priced stocks

For the foregoing reasons we are asking our stockholders to approve the Reverse Stock Split Amendment

authorizing reverse stock split and to grant the Board the discretion to determine the exchange ratio and effect

the reverse stock split at any time prior to the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Possible Effects of the Reverse Stock Split

Below are number of possible effects of the reverse stock split among others that our Board of Directors

has considered in adopting the resolution approving the Reverse Stock Split Amendment There may be other

effects of the reverse stock split in addition to those described below

Immediately after the reverse stock split is implemented Company common stockholders will own

fewer shares than they currently own By reducing the number of shares outstanding without

corresponding reduction in the number of shares authorized but unissued common stock the reverse

stock split will have the effect of increasing the number of authorized but unissued shares The

Company does not currently have any plans to issue any of the authorized but unissued shares of

common stock that would become available for issuance if the reverse stock split of our outstanding

shares of common stock is approved by our stockholders and subsequently effected by the Board Any
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outstanding options or warrants would also be adjusted by the same split ratio The following table

shows the number of shares that would be issued and outstanding authorized and reserved for

issuance upon the exercise of outstanding capital stock options and warrants vesting of nonvested

shares issuance of shares under the Directors Deferred Compensation Plan and conversion of

convertible notes and preferred stock and authorized and unreserved for issuance in each case

upon the implementation of the reverse stock split at each ratio from 1-for-2 to 1-for-b based on our

capitalization at December 31 2010

Shares

Authorized

and Shares

Shares Reserved Authorized

Issued and for and Total

As of December 31 2010 OutManding Issuance1 Unreserved Authorized

Pre-split 111885759 42182745 95931496 250000000
If 1-for -2 stock split enacted 55942880 21091373 172965747 250000000
If I-for -3 stock split enacted 37295253 14060915 198643832 250000000
If 1-for -4 stock split enacted 27971440 10545686 211482874 250000000
If 1-for -5 stock split enacted 22377152 8436549 219186299 250000000
If 1-for -6 stock split enacted 18647627 7030458 224321915 250000000
If 1-for -7 stock split enacted 15983680 6026106 227990214 250000000
If 1-for -8 stock split enacted 13985720 5272843 230741437 250000000
If 1-for -9 stock split enacted 12431751 4686972 232881277 250000000
If 1-for -10 stock split enacted 11188576 4218275 234593149 250000000

Shares which are authorized and reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options and

warrants vesting of nonvested shares jssuance of shares under the Directors Deferred Compensation Plan

and conversion of convertible notes and preferred stock

Although the Board expects that the reduction in outsanding shares of common stock will result in an

increase in the per share price of the Companys common stock there is no assurance that such result will

occur Similarly there is no assurance that if the.per share price of the Companys common stock increases as

result of the reverse stock split such increase in the per share price will be permanent which will be dependent

on several factors

Should the per share price of our common stock decline after implementation of the reverse stock split

the percentage decline may be greater than would occur in the absence of the reverse stock split

The anticipated resulting increase in per share price of the Companys common stock due to the reverse

stock split is expected to encourage interest in the Companys common stock and possibly promote

greater liquidity for our stockholders However such liquidity could also be adversely affected by the

reduced number of shares that would be outstanding after the reverse stock split

The reverse stock split could be viewed negatively by the market and consequently could lead to

decrease in our overall market capitalization It is often the case that the reverse-split adjusted stock

price and market capitalization of companies that effect reverse stock split decline

One of the
purposes

for the proposed reverse stock split is to comply with the continued listing

standards for The NASDAQ Capital Market However there can be no assurance that the reverse stock

split alone will guarantee or even help our continued listing on The NASDAQ Capital Market If we

are unable to continue to list our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital Market our liquidity and

stock price may be negatively affected

The number of shares held by each individual stockholder will be reduced if the reverse stock split is

implemented This will increase the number of stockholders who hold less than round lot or

100 shares Typically the transaction costs to stockholders selling odd lots are higher on per share

basis Consequently the reverse stock split could increase the transaction costs to existing stockholders

in the event they wish to sell all or portion of their shares
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Procedures for Effecting the Reversed Stock Split and tiling the Reverse Stock Split Amendment

If the stockholders approve the Reverse Stuck Split Amendment and the Board subsequently determines that

it is in the Companys and the stockhorders best interests to effect reverse stock split our Board will then

determine the ratio of the reverse stock split to be implemented Any sih split will become effective upon the

filing of the Reverse Stock Split Amendment with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware The actual

timing of any such filing will be made by the Board at such time as the Bpard believes to be most advantageous

to the Company and its stockholders

Fractional Shares

No fractional shares of conThon stock would be issued as result of the reverse stock split if any Each

holder of common stock at the effective time of the reverse stock split if any who would otherwise be entitled to

fractional share shall in lieu thereof receive cash payment equal to the fractional shafe amount multiplied

by the prodUct of the average bf the high and low trading prices of the common stock as reported on The

NASDAQ Capital Market or other principal mafket of the coinmon stock as applicableduring each of the ten

10 trading days immediately preceding the date of the reverŁe stock split and ii the reverse stock split ratio as

determined by our Board Except for the right to receive the cash payment in lieu of fractioiial shares

.1 stockholders will not hae any voting dividend or other rights with respect to the fractional shares they would

otherwise be entitled to receive

Exchange of Pre-Reverse Stock Split Shares with Post-Reverse Stock Split Shares

If we implement reverse stock split bur fransfer agent will act as our exchange agent to act for holders of

common stock in implementing the exchange of their
pre-reverse

stock split shares for post-reverse stock split

shares

Registered Book Entry Stockholder Holders of common stock holding all of their shares electronically in

book-entry form with the Companys transfer agent do not need to take any action the exchange will be

automatic to receive post-reverse stock split shares

Registered CenWcated Stockholder Some of our stockholders hold their shares in certificate form or

combination of certificate and book-entry form If any of your shares are held in certificate form you will receive

transmittal letter from the Companys transfer agent as soon as practicable after the effective date of the reverse

stock split The letter of transmittal will contain instructions on how to surrender your certificates representing

your pre-reverse
stock split shares to the transfer agent Upon receipt of your pre-reverse stock split certificates

you will be issued the appropriate number of shares electronically in book-entry form under the Direct

Registration Sytem DRS No new shares in book-entiy form will be teflected until you surrender your

outstanding pta-reverse stock split certificates together with th properly completed and executed letter of

transmittal to the transfer agent At any time after receipt of your DRS statement you may request stock

certificate representing your ownership interest

STOCKHOLDERS SHOULD NOT DESTROY ANY STOCK CERTIFICATES AND SHOULD NOT
SUBMIT ANY CERTIFICATES UNTIL REQUESTED TO DO SO

Accounting Matters

The reverse stock split is not expected to affect total stockholders deficit on our consolidated balance sheet

However because the par value of our common stock will remain unchanged on the effective date of the reverse

stock split the components that make up total stockholders deficit will change by offsetting amounts The stated

common stock component will be reduced and the additional paid-in capital component will be increased by the
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amount by which the stated common stock component is reduced The per share net loss and net book value of

our common stock will be increased because there will be fewer shares of our common stock outstanding Net

loss per share amounts in prior periods will be restated torefleçt the reverse stock split The Company does not

anticipate that any other accounting consequences would arjse -as result of the reverse stock split

Documents Incorporated By Reference

The financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 are

incorporated herein by reference for purposes of stockholder consideration of this Proposal

Potential Anti-Takeover Effect PossiblDilutión

The increase in the npmberof unissued authorized shares available to be issued could under certain

circumstances have an anti-takeover effect For example shares could be issued that would dilute the stock

ownership of person seeking to effect change in the composition of our Board of Directors- or contemplating

tender offer or other transaction for the combination of the Company with another company The rçverse stock

split proposal is not being proposed in response to any effort of whicki we are aware to accumulate hares of our

-- -- common stock or obtain control of nor is it part of plan by manazement to recommend series of similar

amendments to our Board of Directors and stockholders

The holders of our common stock do not have preemptive rights to subscribe for additional securities that

may be issued by the Company which meänithat cUrrent stockholders do nothavØ prior right to purchase aiiy

additional shares from time to time issued by the Company Accordingly if our Board of Directçrs elects to issue

additional shares of common stock such issuance could have dilutive effect pn the earnings per share voting

power and equity ownership of current stockholders

No Appraisal Rights

Under Delaware law our stockholders are not entitled to appraisal rights with repect to the reverse stock

split and we will not independently provide stockholders with any such right

Board Discretion to Implement the Reverse Stock Split

If the proposed reverse stock split is approved at the 2011 Annual Meeting our Board of Directors my in

its sole discretion at any time prior to the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders determine the ratio for the split

based on the parameters in this proposal and authorize the filing of the Reverse Stock Split-Amendment with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware Notwithstanding the approval of the form of the Reverse Stock Split

Amendment at the 2011 Annual Meeting our Board of Directors may in its sole discretion determine not to

implement the reverse stock split

Vote Required

To approve Proposal stockholders holding majority of the outstanding shares of Agenus common stock

must vote FOR Proposal Abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as vote AGAINST

Proposal

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR Proposal
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PROPOSAL 3TO AMEND OUR DIRECTORS DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
AS AMENDED TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE

UNDER SUCH PLAN

The Board has adopted subject to stockholder approval an amendment to our DDCP to increase the

number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the DDCP from 450000 shares to 750000

shares The current amount of shares available for issuance under the DDCP is insufficient to enable the

Company to continue operation of the DDCP We believe the DDCP is beneficial to the Company and

stockholders in enabling us to preserve our cash flow

The following summary of the DDCP is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the DDCP

and the proposed amendment to the DDCP The DDCP as amended is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current

Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on June 11 2007 The Third Amendment to the DDCP is filed as

Appendix to our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed onApril 27 2009 The Fourth Amendment

to the DDCP is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-29089 filed on December 14

2010 The proposed amendment to our DDCP is included as Appendix to this proxy statement

The DDCP allows each member of the Board who is not also an officer or employee of the Company to

defer receipt of all or portion of the cash compensation payable to him or her for service on our Board

Compensation may be deferred until termination of service as director or subject to certain restrictions such

other date as may be specified by the director All of our current directors except Dr Garo Armen Ph.D are

eligible to participate in the DDCP The DDCP is currently administered by the Companys Chief Financial

Officer who has sole responsibility for interpreting the plan

director may elect to participate in the DDCP no later than September 30 of the year before the calendar

year in which the deferral of compensation will begin and will designate to defer 25 50 75 or 100 percent of his

or her total cash compensation deferral account is established for each participating director which consists of

subaccount for amounts earning interest denominated on dollar basis the cash account and subaccount

for amounts invested in hypothetical shares of our common stock which is denominated on share basis the

stock account Pursuant to the deferral agreement each participant indicates the percentage of future deferrals

to be invested in the cash account and the stock account which investments occur on quarterly basis Amounts

deferred to the cash account bear interest at the rate paid on one-year Treasury bills Amounts deferred to the

stock account are converted on quarterly basis into number of units representing shares of our common stock

equal to the amount of compensation which the participant has elected to defer to the stock account divided by

the applicable stock price for our common stock the average closing price of our common stock for all trading

days during the applicable calendar quarter as reported by The NASDAQ Capital Market or as reported by

another system or organization selected by the administrator of the DDCP participant with amounts held in

the stock account will be eligible for cash and stock dividends in the form of stock units on the date we pay any

such dividends on shares of our common stock Upon stock dividend recapitalization merger consolidation or

other change affecting common stock an appropriate adjustment shall be made to each participants stock

account The stock account is maintained for bookkeeping purposes only Prior to receiving distribution of the

stock account units representing shares distributed to participants stock account are not considered actual

shares of our common stock for any purpose and participant will have no right as stockholder with respect to

such units

Distributions from the deferral account will be paid in lump sum or in annual installments for period of

up to five
years

and commence in the calendar
year following participants termination of service as director

or subject to certain restrictions such other calendar
year as may be specified by the participant Distributions

consist of cash in the amount credited to the participants account prorated if paid in installments and

the number of shares of our common stock equal to the number of units credited to his or her stock account

prorated if paid in installments Prior to distribution units representing shares credited to participants stock

account are only considered outstanding in calculating our earnings per
share and participant has no rights as

stockholder with respect to such shares
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The DDCP is unfunded and the Company has no obligation to set aside segregate or deposit any funds or

assets of any kind to meet its obligations under the plan The rights of any participant beneficiary or other

person
under the DDCP will be solely those of general unsecured creditor of our Company If participant

would receive payment from his or her stock account in excess of the number of shares remaining under the

DDCP the participant hall receive cash The Company may without the consent of any participant beneficiary

or other
person

amend the DDCP at any time but no amendment may reduce the amount previously credited to

participants deferral account The Company may terminate the DDCP at any time and the Company may in its

discretion distribute amountsaccording to the participants deferral election or in lump sum as soon as

practicable after the plans termination date

Vote Required

To approve Proposal stockholders holding majority of Agenus common stock present or represented by

proxy at the 2011 Annual Meeting and voting on the matter must vote FOR Proposal Abstentions and broker

non-votes will not be cOunted as votes cast or shares voting on Proposal and will have no effect on the vote

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR Proposal
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PROPOSAL 4TO RATIFY THE APPOINTMENT OF KPMG LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT

REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING

DECEMBER 31 2011

Our Audit and Finance Committee has selected KPMG ILP as our independent registered public accounting

finn for the fiscal year ending December 31 2011 Although stockholder approval of the selection of KPMG
LLP is not required by law our Board of Directors believes that it is advisable to give stockholders an

opportunity to ratify this selection

If stockholders do not approve this proposal at the 2011 Annual Meeting our Audit and Finance Committee

will reconsider their selection of KPMG LLP If stockholders do ratify this appointment the Audit and Finance

Committee which has direct authority to engage our independent registered public accounting firm may appoint

different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit and Finance

Committee determines that the change would be in the best interests of Agenus and our stockholders

The Audit and Finance Committee has approved all services provided to Agenus by KPMG LLP during

2010 Representatives of KPMG LLP are expected to be present at the 2011 Annual Meeting They will have the

opportunity to make statement if they desire to do so and will also be avallable to respond to appropriate

-- questions from stockholders

Audit Fees

Fees incurred by us for professional services rendered by KPMG LLP for the audit of the annual

consolidated financial statements and of the effective operation of internal control over financial reporting

included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the reviews of the consolidated financial statements included in

our Forms 10-Q and for comfort letters consents and review of registration statements were $342100 for 2010

and $445300 for 2009

Audit-Related Fees

Fees paid to KPMG LLP for the audit of our 401k Retirement Plan were $25800 in 2010 and $25800 in

2009

Tax Fees

Fees paid to KPMG LLP associated with tax compliance and tax consultation services for Antigenics

Therapeutics Ltd were 1000 Euros in 2010 and $0 in 2009

All Other Fees

We paid no other fees to KPMG LLP for 2010 or 2009

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

All of the KPMG LLP fees for 2009 and 2010 shown above were pre-approved by the Audit and Finance

Committee The Audit and Finance Committee pre-approves all audit and other permitted non-audit services

provided by our independent registered public accounting firm Pre-approval is generally provided for up to one

year is detailed as to the particular category of services and is subject to monetary limit Our independent

registered public accounting firm and senior management periodically report to the Audit and Finance

Committee the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance

with the pre-approval and the fees for the services performed to date The Audit and Finance Committee may
also pre-approve particular services on case-by-case basis
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Vote Required

To approve Proposal majority of the cotes cast by tockholders present in person or by proxy and voting

on the matter must vote FOR Proposal If youi shares are held by your broker in street name and you do not

vote your shares your brokerage firm has authority to vote your unvoted shares on Proposal If the broker does

not vote your unvoted shares there will be no effect on the vote because these broker non-votes are not

considered to be voting on the matter Abstentions and bidker non-votes will not be counted as votes cast or

shares voting on Proposal and will have no effect on the vote

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR Proposal
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PROPOSAL 5TO HOLD AN ADVISORY VOTE ON THE COMPENSATION OF THE COMPANYS
NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Company is providing stockholders with the opportunity at the 2011 Annual Meeting to vote on the

following advisory resolution commonly known as Spy-on-Pay

.1

RESQLVED that the stockholders of the Company approve in non-binding advisory vote the

compensation of the Companys named executive officers as disclose4 in the Companys proxy statement

under the headings Compensation Discussion and Analysis and ExecuPve Compensation Tables

As described above in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement the

Compensation Conmrittee has structured our executive compensation program to provide an overall

compensation package that enables us to attract and retain talented employees provide incentives for

performance and create long-term value for our stockholders The Companys executive compensation programs

have number of features designed to promote these objectives

The Board urges stockholders to raad the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 17 of

this proxy staternent which describes in more detail how the Companys executive compensation policies and

procedures operate and are designed to achieve our compensation objectives as well as the Summary

Compensation Table and other related compensation tables and narrative appearing on pages 30 through 40 of

this proxy statement which provide detailed information on the compensation of our named executive officers

The Compensation Ccinimittee and the Board believe that the policies and procedures articulated in the

Compensation Discussion and Analysi are effective in achieving our goals and that the compensation of our

named executive officers reported in this proxy statement reflects and supports these compensation policies and

procedures

While the vote is adyisory the Board and the Compensation Committee will consider the outcome of the

vote when considering future executive compensation arrangements

Vote Required

To approve Proposal stockholders holding majority of Agçnus common stock present or represented by

proxy at the 2011 Annual Meeting and voting on the matter must vote FOR Proposal Abstentions and broker

non-votes will not be counted as votes cast or shares voting on Proposal and will have no effect on the vote

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR Proposal
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PROPOSAL 6TO HOLD AN ADVISORY VOTE oN THE FREQUENCY 01 FUTURE ADVISORY
VOTES ON THE COMPENSATION OF THE COMPANYS NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Company is providing stockholders with the opportunity at the 2011 Annual Meeting tovotØ On the

following advisory resolution commonly known as Say-on-Frequency

RESOLVED that the stockholders of the Company approve in non-binding advisoiy vote that the

frequency with which the stockhtilders of the Company shall have an advisory vote on the compensation of

the Companys named executive officers set forth in the COmpanys ptoxy statement is

Choice Every ye1ar

Choice Every wo years

Choice Every three years or

Choice 4Abstain

The Board believes that voting every three years on say-on-pay would be the choice best suited for the

Company The reasons for the Boards recommendation include the following

triennial vote will give the Conipany stockholders the opportunity to more
frilly assess the succeni

or failure of the Companys long-term compensation strategies and the related busines outcomes with

the hindsight of three years of corporate performante

three-year vote cycle allows sufficient time for our Board to review and resppnd to stoçkholers

views on exçcutive compensation and to implernent changes if necessary to our executive

compensation program

As practical matter any changes to our executive compensation program that were responsive to

stockholder concerns would not be fully disclosed and reflected in the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis and Executive Compensation sectiOns of the Proxy Statement until the second year following

an unfavorable Say-on-Pay vote

triennial vote is consistent with the three year vesting schedule of the Companys equity awards and

triennial vote while less frequent than Choices or would still provide regular consistent means

for the Companys stockholders to provide feedback to the Board regarding thŁtCompanys executive

compensation programs

While the vote is advisory the Board and the Compensation Conmtittee will consider the outcome of the

vote when considering how frequently to hold say-on-pay advisory otes in the future

Vote Required

For Proposal the option of one year two years or three years that receives the highest number of votes

cast by stockholders will be considered by the Board of Directors when determining the frequency of future

advisory votes on executive compensation Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as votes cast

or shares voting on Proposal and will have no effect on the vote

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR holding an advisory vote on executive compensation every

THREE years
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit and Finance Committee of the Board consists entirely of independent directors who are not

officers or employees of Agenus The Board has adopted written charter for the Audit and Finance Committee

the current version of which is available on our website at http//www.agenusbio.com/investors/corporate No

material on our website is part of this prOxy statement

In the course of its oversight of the Companys reporting process the Audit and Finance Committee of the

Board has reviewed and discussed with management the Companys audited consolidated financial

statements and managements assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for the

fiscal year ended December 31 2010 discussed with KPMG LLP our independent registered public

accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No 61
Communication with Audit Committees and received the written disclosures from the auditors required by

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board independence and ethics rule Rule 3526 Communication with

Audit Committees Concerning Independence discussed with the auditors their independence and considered

whether the provision of permissible non-audit services by the auditors is compatible with maintaining their

independence

Based on the foregoing review and discussions the Audit and Finance Committee recommended to the

Board that the audited consdlidated financial statements be includ in the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 for filing with the SEC

By the Audit and Finance Committee

Brian Corvese Chair

Tom Dechaene

John Hatsopoulos
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Stockholder Proposals for 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Proposals to be included in the proxy statement Under SEC mies if stockholder wants us to include

proposal in pur proxy statement and form of proxy for presentation at our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

the proposal must be received by attention Corporate Secretary at our principal offices by December 31

2011

Other proposals not to be included in the proxy statement Under our by-laws stockholder must follow

certain procedures to nominate persons for election as directors or to introduce an item of business at an annual

meeting of stockholders Among other requirements these procedures require any nomination or proposed item

of business to be submitted in writing to our Chairman of the Board or Corporate Secretary our principal

executive offjces Assuming our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is not more than 30 days before or 30

days after June 15 2012 if you wish to bring business before the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders ypu

must give us written notice by 4pril 2012

However if at least 60 days notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the 2012 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders is given or made and the date of the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is not within 30 days

before or after June 15 2012 notice by the stockholder must be reciyed 45 days prior to the date of the 2012

Annual Meeting of Stockholders If less than 60 days notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the 2012

Annual Meeting of Stockholders is given or made and the date of the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is

not within 30 days before or after June 15 2012 notice by the stockholder must be received no later than 15 days

after the date Agenus sends notice of the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders If stockholder fails to provide

timely notice of proposal to be presented at the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the proxies designated

by the Board will have discretionary authority to vote on the proposal

Householding of Meeting Materials

Some banks brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of

householding proxy statements and annual reports This means that only one copy of our proxy statement or

annual report may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household We will promptly provide

separate copy of either document to you if you contact Investor Relations at Agenus Inc Forbes Road

Lexington MA 02421 or telephone or e-mail Investor Relations at 800-962-2436 or IR@agenusbio.com If you

want to receive separate copies of the annual report and proxy statement in the future or if you are receiving

multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy for your household you should contact your bank

broker or other nominee record holders or you may contact us

Documents Incorporated by Reference

The financial statements from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 are

herein incorporated by reference for the limited purpose of fumishing such financial statements in connection

with the consideration by the stockholders of Proposal
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APPENDIX

REVERSE STOCK SPLIT AMENTMENT

CERTIFICATE OF SECOND AMENDMENT
TO THE

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

AGENUS INC corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware hereby

certifies as follows

The name of the corporation is Agenus Inc the Corporation The Corporations original Certificate of

Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 10 1999 the

Certificate of Incorporation The Certificate of Incorporation was amended and restated on June 2002 the

Restated Certificate which was further amended on June 15 2007 by Certificate of Amendment the First

Amendment and on January 2011 by Certificate of Ownership and Merger the Name Change

Amendment and the Restated Certificate as amended by the First Amendment and the Name Change

Amendment the Amended Certificate This Certificate of Second Amendment the Second Amendment

amends certain provisions of the Amended Certificate and has been duly adopted in accordance with the

provisions of Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

The Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly adopted resolution pursuant to Section 242 of the

General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware setting forth the following amendments to the Amended

Certificate and declaring the Second Amendment to be advisable

This Second Amendment was duly adopted by the vote of the stockholders holding the requisite number

of shares of outstanding stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon in accordance with the provisions of

Sections 216 and 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

The Amended Certificate is hereby amended by adding the following provision to the end of

Article Fourth

REVERSE STOCK SPLIT

As of 1201 A.M Eastem Time on the Effective Time each issued and outstanding share of

the Corporations Common Stock including each share of treasury stock collectively the Pre-Split Stock

shall automatically and without any action on the part of the holder thereof be reclassified as and reduced to

of share of Common Stock such reduction of shares designated as the Reverse Stock Split The

par value of the Corporations Common Stock following the Reverse Stock Split shall remain $0.01 per share

Each holder of certificate or certificates of Pre-Split Stock shall be entitled to receive upon surrender of such

certificates to the Corporations transfer agent for cancellation new certificate or certificates for number of

shares equal to such holders Pre-Split Stock divided by with any fraction resulting from such

division rounded down to the nearest whole number in each case such fraction if any being Fractional

Share No Fractional Shares will be issued for Pre-Split Stock in connection with the Reverse Stock Split Each

holder of Pre-Split Stock at the Effective Time who would otherwise be entitled to Fractional Share shall in

lieu thereof receive cash payment equal to the Fractional Share multiplied by the product of the

average of the high and low trading prices of the Common Stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market or

other principal market of the Common Stock as applicable during each of the ten 10 trading days immediately

preceding the date of the Effective Time and ii 11

This Second Amendment shall be effective as of 1201 A.M Eastern Time on in accordance

with the provisions of section 103d of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

The ratio for the reverse stock split will be selected by our Board within the range approved by our

stockholders
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Except as set forth in this Second Amendment the Restated Certificate remains in full force and effect

IN WITNESS WFIEREOF the undersigned has duly executed this Second Amendment in the name of and

on behalf of the Corporation on this
______ day of 20

Garo Armen
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APPENDIX

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO DIRECTORS DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

Pursuant to Section 4.1 of the Agenus Inc Directors Deferred Compensation Plan as amended the

Plan Agenus Inc the Corporation hereby amends the Plan as follows effective June 15 2011

The first sentence of Section 2.6 shall be deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following The

aggregate
number of shares of common stock which have been reserved for issuance under this plan is 750000

WITNESS WIREOF the Corporation has caused this Fifth Amendment to be executed in its

name and behalf by its officer hereunto duly authorized

Dated 2011

AGENUS INC

By

Name ____________________________________

Title _______________________________________
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